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Chairman Weisz:   Opened Hearing on HB1426. 
 
Representative Devlin: New member of a dental team is a dental therapist. Has to have 
completed at least 500 hours under a licensed dentist. (Testimony #1)  
  
Representative Westlind:  On page 3 it says a federally qualified health center or federally 
qualified health center look alike, not for profit governmental dental practice or ordination 
that serves primary low income and underserved individuals.  Can you give me examples 
of those types of institutions?  
    
Representative Devlin:  The people behind me will present all that information. 
 
Representative Tveit:  You indicated that the dental therapist would be under the 
supervision of the dentist.  At what distance, is the dentist on location or is he removed 
from the physical location? 
 
Representative Devlin:  That would be entirely up to the dentist and the dental therapist. 
If the dentist does not want to use a dental therapist in the state of North Dakota, he 
doesn’t have to. Nothing in this bill would force them to do that.  We think that it is  
time that option exists. 
 

     Nathan Davis, a council representative for the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa     
     Indians: Supports HB1426. (Testimony #2) 
          

Representative Dobervich:  What options do people have on the Chippewa Reservation? 
What options do you have for dental care?  How far do they have to travel? 
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Nathan Davis:  Right now we have primarily are our local IHF facility.  We have 
3 dentists on staff and in our direct area of service, we have over 15,000 members 
receiving active treatment.  
  
Scott Davis, Executive Director of North Dakota Indian Affairs Commission: 
I am in total support of HB1426.( Testimony # 3) 
 
Chairman Weisz:  Why does it seem that the dentists have a revolving door? 
Is there a federal program where they get their education paid so they put the 
time in and leave? 
 
Scott Davis:  Good question.  They put their time in and off they go – private 
practice?  
 
Dr. Joanne Luger, DDS: (Testimony #4) This bill will expand quality care to more patients.  
People in poverty will get quality care. In 2017 68% of children on Medicaid did not 

 receive care. This bill doesn’t require a dentist to hire one.  It doesn’t cost the  
 state any money and the dental therapist will work in limited practice settings 
 in clinic, not in private practice. 
 
Chairman Weisz: What is a federally qualified center look alike look like? 
 
Dr. Joanne Luger, DDS:  I am not sure what that is. All I know is that it is a public  
health facility. 
 
Dr. Karl Self: (Testimony #5)   

  
Representative Westlind: How many students are enrolled in the program? 
 
Dr. Karl Self:  We have a target currently of eight students a year.  
 
Representative Westlind:  And you graduate eight students a year? 
 
Dr. Karl Self:  Yes. 
 
Vice Chairman Rohr: Have you changed the curriculum?  Have you added or  
deleted based on quality data? 
 
Dr. Karl Self:  We have made multiple modifications to our program.  We are the 
first state in the nation to create an educational program for dental therapy. 
We have a dual degree in dental hygiene and dental therapy program.  A dental 
therapist is not able to do a teeth cleaning in Minnesota. 
 
Chairman Weisz:  Any further questions from the committee? 
  
Dr. Karl Self:  I can respond to that question of F2HD.  These clinics are federally 
designated clinics and they get federal dollars to support care to the uninsured 
as well as an increased difference reimbursement rate for those under care of a  
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government program. A look alike has the benefits and the advantages of  
getting the same enhanced reimbursement, but they don’t get a separate grant 
to support the care of the uninsured.  They have to follow the same rules and  
regulations. 
 
Representative Porter: In the dual training, how many are working in a dual capacity? 
  
Dr. Karl Self: There aren’t recent statistics that break all of that down. We do know  
where people work and how much they are working in dental therapy component,  
so that the vast majority are focusing on the dental therapy skill set.   
 
Chairman Weisz:  Further testimony in support. 
  

 Jim Nelson, Legislative Director of the North Dakota Veterans Legislative council: 
 (Testimony # 6) (32:54-35:25) The VA does not provide oral health care for everyone. 
 There are a limited few that are eligible for oral health care. 
 
Sheri Solseng Trif: I am currently an advanced dental therapist practicing in MN. 
 (Testimony # 7) 

 
Emily Mallory, President of North Dakota Dental Hygienists’ Association:  
(Testimony # 8) (38:54 – 41:21) We believe that bringing dental therapy to  
North Dakota would achieve the goal of providing the public’s overall dental 
health.  
  
Dr. Monica Meyer:  My Testimony is in terms of need.  On the reservation we have 

 only one dentist. We do have our oil resource. The federal budget for Fort Berthold is 
 $700,000.00.  It is not enough. We need basic care for our children and our elders. 
  
Dr. Todd Thierer: (Testimony # 9) Dental therapists are a great help to a dentist. 

 Medicare does not cover dental care. It is the dentists license that the therapist works 
 under.  The dentist decides what the dental therapist can and cannot do within the 
 statutory scope of practice of dental therapists. 
 
Vice Chairman Rohr:  They do this under the general supervision of a dentist versus 
direct?  Can you expound on this? 
 
Todd Thierer:  Indirect supervision, the dentist is right there.  General supervision is  
the dentist is not there but accessible by phone or online. The don’t have to be right 
there.   
 
Josh Askvig, AARP in North Dakota: (Testimony #10)We support the  
bill for a couple of basic reasons.  Once you reach Medicare, not all your medical 
expenses are taken care of, secondly Medicare generally does not cover dental 
care unless it is medically related.          
   
Dr. Donald Warne, Director of the Master of Public Health Program at the University 
of North Dakota School of Medicine and Health Sciences: (Testimony #11)(54:28-57:57) 
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 Chairman Weisz:  Opposition to HB1426?    
 

      Dr.  William Sherwin, Executive Director of the North Dakota Dental Association: 
      (59:04 –1:29:56) (Testimony # 12) Several North Dakota dentists are opposed to  
     dental therapists.  We are here to advocate for our clinics. We are here to  
     advocate for access to our dentists.  
       
      Dr. William Sherwin also submitted testimony for the Spirit Lake Reservation in 
      Fort Totten. No voice testimony. (Included in Testimony #12) 
 

Representative Westlind: How many patients do you see on the reservations?  
 
Dr. William Sherwin: 1 to 2 per day up to 50 per day. 
  

 Dr. Steven Deisz: (Testimony #13 (1:30:44-1:42:43) 
 
 Dr. Sarah Mertz: (Testimony #14 (1:42:56-1:53:09) 
 

     Dr. Bradley King: (Testimony # 15) (1:53:35-2:04:14) 
 

Representative Schneider: Would you favor a MN bill? 
 
Dr. Bradley King: They need more training. 
 
Representative Skroch:  If this is written correctly, do you see in this profession 
being a way hiring a professional at a lower salary and then being able to cover 
patients with less funds being taken out of Medicare?  
 
Dr. Bradley King: We feel that we have a responsibility to take care of Medicaid 
patients.  We do it because it is the right thing to do.  We all work together because 
we see the problems out there and understand them.  I have been doing this for 
37 years, some of my first patients were Medicaid patients. 
   
Representative Damschen:  How many dentists would allow this? 
 
Dr. Bradley King:  Aspen Dental charges less, they don’t support Medicaid. 
  

 Senator Brad Bekkedahl: (Testimony # 16) (2:10:12-2:14:08) 
 
John Olsen, Representing the North Dakota Dental Association:  I Have a testimony 
from a dentist in MN (Testimony # 17). 
 
Chairman Weisz: Closed the hearing on HB1426. 
 
Testimony in opposition without voice from Rita Sommers, Executive director of the  
Board of Dental Examiners. (Testimony # 18). 
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Chairman Weisz:  Opened meeting on HB 1426.  Handed out the proposed amendments.  
 
Representative M. Ruby:   Explained the amendment.  I will not move it.(See Attachment 1). 
 
Chairman Weisz:  The amendment states a dentist would have to be on site now by 
eliminating the subsection on page 5.  Line 5 says it has to be under indirect supervision if 
authorized by rules.  Any discussion or questions?  
Representative Porter:  One of the arguments to pass the bill is to increase access and by 
doing your amendment it really doesn’t do anything for access across rural North Dakota.  It 
actually changes it and makes it worse for the possibility of access.  
 
Representative M. Ruby:  I can’t argue that, I just have issues with sending a lower level 
technician out into the rural areas without having a dentist on site.  This just addresses one 
of my issues.   
 
Representative Devlin:  I will move the amendment to HB 1426. 
 
Representative D. Anderson:  Seconded. 
 
Chairman Weisz:  Any further discussion?  Seeing none.  
 
Voice Vote taken:  Motion carries to amend HB 1426. 
 
Chairman Weisz:  Any further discussion?  Seeing none.  What is the committees wishes? 
 
Representative D. Anderson:  I move a Do Pass as amended on HB 1426. 
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Representative Devlin:  Seconded.  
 
Chairman Weisz:  Any further discussion?    Obviously this was a contentious hearing.  
 
Representative Devlin:  I started down this journey a number of years ago based on a trip 
to Alaska when I saw what dental therapists could do for Native Americans and other people.  
When I got back I saw where people from the tribes had their first trip for dental issues was 
an emergency room at 7 or 8 years old.  These children are not being served.   The only 
ones opposing us in testimony is from the dentists.  To me it more of a matter of competition 
than it is anything else.  We need to reach the Medicaid population. They are not being 
reached now.  We need to have this.  It has worked well in other states.  I would urge a do 
pass.  
 
Representative Westlind: I talked to a dentist in Devils Lake that goes to Fort Totten every 
Friday and there are 3-4 dentists and two hygienists on staff there.  They see only 3-4 patients 
a day.  The dental hygienists have a 60% rate of no show of scheduled appointments.  They 
are providing a great service there.   They are contracted by the tribe so at Fort Totten there 
is plenty of coverage down there.  At the Chippewa nation in Belcourt, they have 4 dentists 
on staff and several assistants on staff.  With that many dentists on staff the problem is not 
to have another hygienist on staff.  The problem is getting people educated on dental hygiene 
care.    All of these dentist that I talked takes Medicaid patients.   The dentist that goes down 
to Fort Totten if they have an extraction it is usually one that is not a simple procedure.  
Generally, the patient is in pain with massive decay and it basically will be a surgical 
procedure.  It is not something a dental therapist could do.  Even if the therapists were there 
it would be out of their scope of practice.  The health department should be at these 
reservations and in the schools handing out toothbrushes and toothpaste.  If we want to do 
something we need to pass bills that educate our young people on proper dental hygiene.    
I really don’t think this bill will do what it is supposed to do and I will vote no on HB 1426.  
 
Representative Devlin:   If you look at the population of those two reservations, 4-5 dentists 
couldn’t begin to cover it.  The other thing that is an absolute fact is both of those reservations 
and tribal governments, every Native American Tribe in North Dakota came in to support this 
because they see the need.  I don’t think I would want to speak for the tribes, they spoke for 
themselves.  They said they need dental therapy in North Dakota and I think we have an 
obligation to support what the sovereign   tribes of North Dakota said they needed and asked 
us to do.  I will vote for this bill.  
 
 
Chairman Weisz:  Any further discussion?  Seeing none.   The clerk will call the roll for a Do 
Pass as amended on HB 1426.  
 
Roll call vote:   Yes   8    No   5   Absent 1.   Motion passes.  
 
Representative Devlin:  Will carry the bill. 
 
Hearing closed.  
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1426 

Page 5, line 2, remove ".1." 

Page 5, line 4, after "under" insert "indirect supervision, or under" 

Page 5, line 5, after "supervision" insert "if authorized by rules adopted by the board," 

Page 5, line 9, replace "a." with ".1." 

Page 5, line 13, replace "b." with "2." 

Page 5, line 16, replace "c." with "3." 

Page 5, line 18, replace "d." with "4." 

Page 5, remove lines 19 through 24 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 19.0603.03001 



Date: 2-5-2019 
Roll Call Vote tt_J_ 

House Human Services 

2019 HOUSE STANDING COMMITTEE 
ROLL CALL VOTES 

BILL/RESOLUTION NO. HB 1426 

D Subcommittee 

Amendment LC# or Description: 19.06 03.03 001 

Committee 

-----------------------
Recommendation: IZI Adopt Amendment 

D Do Pass D Do Not Pass D Without Committee Recommendation 

Other Actions: 

D As Amended 
D Place on Consent Calendar 
D Reconsider 

D Rerefer to Appropriations 

D 

Motion Made By _R�ep�._D_e_v _ li _n ______ Seconded By Rep. D. Anderson 

Representatives 
Robin Weisz - Chairman 
Karen M. Rohr - Vice Chairman 

Dick Anderson 
Chuck Damschen 
Bill Devlin 
Clayton FeQley 

DwiQht Kiefert 
Todd Porter 
Matthew Ruby 
Bill Tveit 
GreQ Westlind 
Kathy Skroch 

Total 

Absent 

(Yes) 

Floor Assignment 

Yes No 

No 

If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent: 

Representatives 
Gretchen Dobervich 
Mary Schneider 

Voice Vote: Motion carries. 

Yes No 
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D Subcommittee 
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Date: 2-5-2019 
Roll Call Vote #: 2 

Committee 

-----------------------
Recommendation: D Adopt Amendment 

� Do Pass D Do Not Pass D Without Committee Recommendation 

Other Actions: 

� As Amended 
D Place on Consent Calendar 
D Reconsider 

D Rerefer to Appropriations 

D 

Motion Made By Rep. D. Anderson Seconded By _R _e.._p._D_ e_ v_li _n _____ _ 

Representatives Yes No Representatives Yes No 
Robin Weisz - Chairman X Gretchen Dobervich X 
Karen M. Rohr - Vice Chairman X Mary Schneider X 

Dick Anderson X 
Chuck Damschen X 
Bill Devlin X 
Clayton Feqley X 

Dwiqht Kiefert A 
Todd Porter X 
Matthew Ruby X 
Bill Tveit X 
Greq Westlind X 
Kathy Skroch X 

Total (Yes) 8 No 5 ----------- ---------------
Absent 1 _ _;___ ___________________________ _ 
Floor Assignment __.:__:R:..=.ei:..P.:....:.· D=-e-=-v.:....:.l.:....:.in_;___ ____________________ _ 

If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent: 

Motion carries. 



Com Standing Committee Report 
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Module ID: h_stcomrep_23_018 
Carrier: Devlin 

Insert LC: 19.0603.03001 Title: 04000 

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
HB 1426: Human Services Committee (Rep. Weisz, Chairman) recommends 

AMENDMENTS AS FOLLOWS and when so amended, recommends DO PASS 
(8 YEAS, 5 NAYS, 1 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). HB 1426 was placed on the 
Sixth order on the calendar. 

Page 5, line 2, remove ".1." 
Page 5, line 4, after "under" insert "indirect supervision, or under" 

Page 5, line 5, after "supervision" insert "if authorized by rules adopted by the board," 

Page 5, line 9, replace ".§__,_" with ".1." 

Page 5, line 13, replace "Q.,," with "£." 

Page 5, line 16, replace "g_,_" with "1." 

Page 5, line 18, replace "!t" with "4." 

Page 5, remove lines 19 through 24 

Renumber accordingly 

(1) DESK (3) COMMITTEE Page 1 h_stcomrep_23_018 
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Rep. Bill Devlin Testimony- House Human Services Committee - HB1426 

Good afternoon, Chairman Weisz and esteemed members of the House Human 

Services Committee. For the record, I am Rep. Bill Devlin District 23. Our district is 

a rural legislative district in eastern North Dakota. 

I am proud to introduce HB 1426 for your consideration. 

North Dakota currently suffers from a significant shortage of dentists. Even 

though the number of dentists practicing in North Dakota has gradually increased 

during recent years, thousands of North Dakotans are unable to receive 

affordable, routine dental care every year. 

House Bill 1426 would look to authorize a new dental provider called a dental 

therapist, like physician assistants, dental therapists are midlevel providers who 

are trained to offer routine and commonly needed preventive and restorative 

care, such as filling cavities. 

Let me please run though what this bill would do - it would allow a new 

member of the dental team, called a dental therapist, to limited practice settings 

such as: 

Federally Qualified Health Centers {FQHCs) and FQHC Look-Alike clinics, Tribal 

facilities, programs run through the Indian Health Service. Non-profit or 

government-run dental clinics, programs that provide dental care to the low 

income and underserved, including those that work in community settings like 

schools or nursing homes. 

The Dental Therapist must: 

• graduate from a board of dental examiners-approved dental therapy 

program or one that is accredited by the Commission on Dental 

Accreditation (CODA); 

Pass board-approved exams in clinical competency and jurisprudence 

• complete 500 hours of clinical practice under a dentist's direct or indirect 

supervision 



The dentist is still the leader of the team. The goal is to use this provider to 
provide more of the routine care to free the dentist to practice at the top of his or 
her scope. It is important to emphasize that a dental therapist may only practice 
under the supervision of a dentist and under the terms of a written collaborative 
management agreement {CMA). 

And within the Collaborative management agreements between the dentist and 
dental therapist they can address together any limitations on services and/or 
supervision of services, treatment settings, practice protocols, recordkeeping, 
managing medical emergencies, quality assurance, administering and dispensing 
medications, and supervision of dental assistants. 

North Dakota is a leader in occupational licensing reform - let's keep that going 
by knocking down rules that prevent more people from getting quality dental care 
- rules that evidence shows are not necessary to guard the public from unsafe 
care. Rules that are keeping dental costs high by preventing practices from 
operating more efficiently with lower-cost providers. Doctors opposed nurse 
practitioners many years ago and now many offices could not operate without a 
mid-level in their office. 

Twenty-four North Dakota groups support this legislation as an effective, 
common-sense solution to increase access to dental care and improve the oral 
health of our residents. Over 50 countries, and several states including Alaska and 
neighbor Minnesota, utilize these highly trained and skilled dental professionals 
to enhance treatment opportunities and provide more access to dental services. 

Committee members, former Rep. Bette Grande, of The Heartland Institute 
couldn't be here today but wanted me to provide copies of her testimony 
supporting HB1426. I have provided them to the committee. Grover Norquist of 
the Americans for Tax Reform has provided written support of this bill to all of 
you through e-mail. If any of you did not receive it, I would be happy to provide 
copies of his testimony. 

As I mentioned earlier in my testimony, the North Dakotans for Dental Access 
which is a statewide coalition of 24 organizations committed to increasing access 
to affordable, routine dental care in North Dakota are supporting this bill. You will 
hear from some of them and other supporters today. 
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Committee members, now is time to make this happen! I urge your support of 
HB 1426. I can certainly try to answer any questions you might have but prefer to 
let you hear from the experts that will follow me to the podium. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the committee. 
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Chairman Weisz and members of the Committee, thank you for taking the time today to discuss 
the issue of dental therapy. The Heartland Institute is a 34-year-old independent, national, 
nonprofit organization whose mission is to discover, develop, and promote free-market solutions 
to social and economic problems. Heartland is headquartered in Illinois and focuses on providing 
national, state, and local elected officials with reliable and timely research and analyses on 
important policy issues. 

I am Bette Grande, a research fellow at the Heartland Institute and coauthor of The Case for 
Licensing Dental Therap;sts in North Dakota. 

HB 1426 is before you to allow dental therapists into the labor market. At a time when North 
Dakota is facing workforce issues in so many areas the State should be open to expanding 
opportunities for all types of employment to better serve the new and incoming population. 

Authorizing dental therapy in North Dakota would expand oral care access for underserved 
patients. A growing number of states and tribal communities are allowing dentists to employ 
dental therapists to help meet the growing need for routine dental care. These midlevel 
providers function similarly to physician assistants with doctors, dentists use dental therapists 
to extend quality care to more patients, deliver treatment to underserved populations and 
increase their practices. 

Dental therapists are trained to perform up to 94 services and procedures, compared to fewer 
than 40 services by dental hygienists and about 30 by dental assistants. Dental therapists would 
practice exclusively under the supervising dentists who employ them and deliver high-quality 
care. Dental therapists provide preventive and routine care, such as filling cavities, placing 
temporary crowns on teeth, and extracting severely diseased or loose teeth. 

The question really facing North Dakota lawmakers is simple: "Does licensing dental therapists 
in North Dakota pose a risk to public health great enough to justify depriving (1) dentists of 
their right to employ and supervise dental therapists if they choose and (2) patients of their right 
to access providers of their choice?" The answer is clearly "No." Licensing dental therapists 
would only help. 

Thank you for your consideration. 

Bette Grande 



Research Fellow 
The Heartland Institute 

This Policy Brief keeps the liberty question front-and-center in the dental therapy 
debate.https://www.heartland.org/publications-resources/publications/the-state-lawmakers
case-for-legal izing-dental-therapy 

A nonprofit foundation has launched a website designed to provide information about dental 
therapy for consumers, health care professionals, and policymakers. The website includes an 
extensive library of articles, infographics, and videos explaining how dental therapy, which 
involves the provision of general dental procedures by qualified professionals, improves access 
to quality dental care and lowers the cost of dental procedures.https://<www.hemiland.org/news
opinion/news/online-dental-therapv-resource-launched 

The Kellogg Foundation's 460-page review of the benefits of dental therapy as demonstrated in 
more than 50 countries. https://www.heartland.org/publications-resources/publications/a
review-of-the-global-literature-on-dental-therapists 
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House Human Service Committee 

State Capitol 

600 East Boulevard 

Bismarck ND, 58505-0360 

RE: House Bill 1426 

66th Assembly (2019) 

Dear Chairman and Committee members, 

I 

The Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians support House Bill 1426 and have drafted this letter for 
future reference of our support. My name is Nathan Davis and I'm a Councilman for the Turtle 
Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians. I will speak plainly, our overall access to dental care, on and off our 
Reservation is abysmal in North Dakota. Allowing a mid-level professional to perform restorative work as 
well as routine preventative work, will be a huge step towards solving this problem. House Bill 1426 
would allow a dental therapist to work underneath the supervision of a dentist in the safety net areas . 
Like federally qualified healthcare centers, non-profit organizations, tribal entities, and IHS facilities. This 
bill mimics the legislation recently signed into law in Arizona and Michigan. This bill would greatly impact 
the people of North Dakota, by improving their access to oral healthcare. Our current oral healthcare 
system has proven inadequate to meet the demands our state is facing. I ask that you support this 
legislation, thank you for your consideration. 

Sincerely, 

Nathan A. Davis 

Council Representative 

Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians 
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Testimony of Scott Davis, Executive Director of North Dakota Indian Affairs 
House Human Services Committee 

In Support of HB1426 - to authorize dental therapists in specific settings in the state 
Monday, January 21, 2019 

Chairman Weisz and fellow members of the committee thank you for the opportunity to testify today. 

My name is Scott Davis and I am Executive Director of North Dakota Indian Affairs. In this role, I serve as 

a go between for North Dakota's state and tribal governments, to address issues ranging from 

education, economic development, social services, transportation and healthcare issues. 

For this reason, I implore you to pass HB1426 - it is legislation that would allow for the creation of an 

additional member of the dental team - called a dental therapist. Sadly, dental decay in North Dakota 

among our children on and off the Reservation is atrocious. 

Dental therapists would dramatically alleviate a growing dentist shortage that plague communities 

across the United States. According to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 56.7 million 

Americans, roughly 17 percent of the population, live in areas designated as dental care health 

professional shortage areas. 

Native Americans suffer from poor oral health in part because of a lack of available dentists: In 2014, 

more than 2.4 million Native Americans lived in counties with dental care shortage areas, and half 

of all Native American children lived in a shortage area. 1 And what is most alarming, half of Native 
American 3rd graders in North Dakota have had untreated tooth decay.2 

Dental therapists can practice under the supervision of a dentist and can treat patients in remote 

settings where dentists are not available to treat them. This could include - nursing homes, federally 

qualified healthcare centers, Veterans' nursing homes, sliding-fee-clinics and tribal clinics. This new 

member of the dental team could provide a variety of preventive care and basic services - and that is 

the goal of HB1426. 

If private practice dental settings won't take Medicaid patients and those families that fall in between 

the cracks, then let's allow a new provider to do so. 

It is worth noting that while North Dakota has one of the highest dental Medicaid reimbursements rates 

in the United States at 63% ... as of 2015, North Dakota ranked third from the lowest at preventive visits 

billed by dentists for children enrolled in North Dakota Medicaid. 

1 Center for Native American Youth at the Aspen Institute, "Oral Health and Native American Youth" (September 2014), http://www. 
aspeninstitute.org/sites/default/files/content/docs/cnay/Oral-Health-and-Native-American-Youth.pdf 
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In closing, I would submit, 24 different groups across the state support this bill including -
The United Tribes of North Dakota; 
Spirit Lake Tribe; 
Standing Rock Sioux Tribe; 
Three Affiliated Tribes of Mandan, Hidatsa, and Arikara Nation and the 
Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians 

I urge you to pass this common-sense solution - as this bill mirrors the dental therapy legislation 
recently signed into law in Arizona and Michigan. Thank you for your consideration . 
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Chairman Weisz and Members of the committee, thank you for allowing me the opportunity to testify in 
favor of HB 1426 today. 

My name is Dr. Joanne Luger, I'm a practicing dentist at Bridging the Dental Gap, a sliding fee clinic, 
located here in Bismarck. 

I come before you today to urge your support of dental therapy. Similar to physician assistants, dental 
therapists are mid level providers who are trained to offer routine and commonly needed preventive and 
restorative services, such as filling cavities. Dentists hire and supervise dental therapists to expand 
quality care to more patients, and provide treatment to underserved at-risk populations in community 
settings, such as schools or nursing homes. Eight states have authorized dental therapists in some 
capacity: Arizona, Maine, Michigan, Minnesota, Vermont, and tribal communities in Alaska, Oregon, 
and Washington. 

• This bill HB1426 would authorize the use of DTs in limited practice settings. Federally Qualified 
Health Centers (FQHCs) and FQHC Look-Alike clinics 

• Tribal facilities, programs or organizations including Urban Indian Health Centers, Tribal 
operated {638) health facilities, and those operated through the Indian Health Service 

• Non-profit or government-run dental clinics, programs, or organizations that provide dental care 
to low income and underserved individuals, including those that provide services in community 
settings like schools or nursing homes. 

I'm among the small number of dentists in this country who grew up in poverty. I am a member of the 
First Nation's tribe and lived with my family in Canada's Yukon Territory in a home with no running 
water. I know what it's like to grow up with no dental care - to live for days with a toothache and no 
way to relieve it. I imagine that many of the 97,000 people in our state who live in dentist shortage 
areas may have experienced what I did as a child. It doesn't have to be this way. 

I can also tell you firsthand the gratitude that people from isolated communities experience when dental 
care comes to them. I know this because I started my career as a dental therapist in Canada, travelling 
by plane to remote towns in Northern Canada and caring for people using mobile equipment. I can tell 
you from experience what you may have read from the research - that dental therapists provide the 
same quality of care as dentists for the procedures they have in common. I know this as a former dental 
therapist and I know this from my experience as a dentist. 

Our state has too many people living in areas with no or few dentists. Dental decay is a serious 
condition - left untreated it can cause abscesses and infections that in extreme cases can lead to death. 
Yet dentists are the only provider in North Dakota who can treat cavities. We need more providers who 
can treat decay and provide other basic dental care. Dental therapists can do this at a lower cost than 
dentists, so practices can afford to send them to underserved areas, to schools, to nursing homes, and 



to other locations where people are in need. 
accessible to so many more North Dakotans. 
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This is not second-tier care - it's quality care that can bl 

North Dakota also has the notorious reputation of being worst in the nation in getting dental care to 
children on Medicaid. In 2017, 68% of Medicaid children in our state went without care. We have this 
ranking with one of the most generous Medicaid reimbursement rates in the country. Dental 
therapists can make it more financially feasible for dentists to treat Medicaid patients, and they can help 
our safety net clinics stretch their dollars by using savings in labor costs to serve more Medicaid and 
uninsured patients. This is happening in Minnesota and it can happen here. 

There is no ONE strategy for solving our state's dental care access problem. But it's clear that allowing 
practices to expand their teams with dental therapists can help. They can do this at a lower cost, at no 
risk to patient safety. I've seen it work firsthand and I can see no reason why North Dakotan' dentists 
shouldn't have the option to use this type of provider. This bill doesn't require a dentist to hire one, it 
doesn't cost the state any money and the dental therapist would work in limited practice settings like 
my clinic, NOT in private practice. 

I ask for your support of HB1426. Thank you. I will take any questions. 

Sincerely, Dr. Joanne Luger, DDS - Bridging the Dental Gap, Bismarck, ND 

• 

• 

• 
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Karl Self, DDS, MBA 
Test imony befo re t he  North Da kota House Human  Services Comm ittee ( HB  1426) 
J a n u a ry 2 1, 2019 
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Tha n k  you, M r . Cha i rman  and  members of the  com m ittee .  My name  is Dr .  Kar l  Se lf a nd  I have 

been a dent i st for 35 years .  Wh i l e  I have had  the  opportun ity to work i n  a va r iety of p ractice 

sett i ngs, I h ave spent most of my p ract ic ing career in a com mun ity c l i n i c  sett ing .  I h ave been on 

facu lty at the  U n iversity of M i nnesota Schoo l  of Dent ist ry s i nce 2006, a nd  I was appo i nted the 

D i rector of  t he  D iv i s ion  of  Denta l Therapy at the  Schoo l  i n  2010 .  I a lso h ave an  M BA wh ich  I 

fou n d  to be  very he l pfu l when I was the  Executive D i rector of a FQHC c l i n ic i n  M i n neapo l i s .  

I a pp rec iate t he  opportun ity to spea k with you today a bout M i n nesota's experience ut i l i z i ng  

denta l  t he ra p i sts and ou r  School of  Dent istry's educat iona l  p rogram .  I n  M i n nesota, everyone 

agrees that many d iffe rent factors cause and affect the  access to ca re i ssue and  that workforce 

facto rs a re an i m po rtant component of th i s  issue .  

• I n  2015,  est imates made  by the Hea lth  Resou rces a nd  Services Adm i n i st rat ion (H RSA) 1 showed 

that the M i n n esota dent ist workforce was i nadequate and  though there were 3,455 p ract ic ing 

dent i sts i n  the state, it wou ld  have requ i red the  add it ion of 88 dent ists to e l im i n ate a l l  of  our  

state's Denta l  Hea lth  P rofess iona l  Shortage Areas i n  2012 .  That need was p rojected to grow to 

252 add it iona l  d ent ists by 2025 .  Th is prob l em i s  not un i que  to M i n nesota .  I 've been to ld that 

i n  No rth Da kota ,  nea r ly ha lf of the count ies  have e it he r  no  dent ists o r  j u st one .  I n  fact, that 

same H RSA a n a lys is p rojected that by 2025, North Da kota wou l d  need an  add it iona l  34 dent ists 

to e l im i n ate a l l  of you r  state's Denta l Hea lt h  P rofess iona l  Shortage Areas .  That i s  rough ly 10% 

more dent i sts t h an  were pract ic i ng here in 2012 .  

• 

Th u s, wh i l e  t he re i s  no  s ing le so lut ion to correct th i s  p rob lem, i n  M i n nesota we a re fi nd ing  that 

the add it ion  of d enta l therap ists to the ora l  hea lth ca re team i s  one  workforce so lut ion that i s  

m a ki ng  a d ifference .  As of November 2018, the re were 89 denta l  therap ists l i censed to p ract ice 

1 U .S .  Department  of Hea l th and  Human Servi ces, Hea l th  Resou rces and  Services Adm i n istrat ion, 
Nat iona l  Center for Hea lth  Workforce Ana lysi s .  N at iona l  and State-Level Project ions of Dentists 
a nd  Denta l Hygien ists in the U .S . ,  2012-2025. Rockvi l l e, Ma ry land ,  2015 .  
https ://bhw . h rsa .gov/sites/defau lt/fi l es/bhw/nchwa/project ions/nat iona lstatelevelproject ionsdent ists .pdf 
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i n  M i n nesota . At that t ime, 94% of a l l  l i censed denta l  therap ists were emp loyed a nd  they 
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worked i n  a va r iety of sett ings, i n c l ud i ng  p r ivate pract ices, nonp rofit c l i n i cs, FQHCs, a nd  l a rge 
• 

group  p ract ices .  About 60% worked i n  unde rse rved a reas i n  and  a round  the  Twi n  C it ies, and  

the  othe r  40% worked i n  ru ra l  a nd  remote corners o f  ou r  state .  A map  and  emp loyment fact 

sheet a re attached to my test imony. 

Although the concept of denta l  the ra py i n  M i nn esota is  sti l l  evo lvi ng, d enta l the rap i sts have 

esta b l i shed themse lves as permanent mem bers of the ora l  hea lth  care tea m .  Some  denta l 

the rap i st a re not i n  the  workforce by cho ice, but for those i nterested i n  emp loyment, there a re 

more emp loyers look ing to h i re a denta l  t he rap ist than there a re ava i l a b l e  denta l  the rap i sts to 

h i re .  A 2016 M i nnesota Department of Hea lth Denta l Therapy Workforce report2 noted that 

87% of denta l  therap i sts were worki ng  fu l l  t ime .  Yet, desp ite the cha l l e nges of i n it i a t ing a new 

p rofess ion ,  that same report found  that job sati sfact ion among d enta l  the rap i sts was h igh with 

90% of denta l therap i sts report i ng  that they were either "sat i sfied" or  "ve ry sat i sfi ed," with 

the i r  career .  These l eve ls  a re s im i l a r  to those of other  M i nnesota hea lth  ca re p rofess iona l s  fo r 

wh ich data exists . Although, there may be some dent ist who have exp lo red add i ng  a denta l 

therap i st to the i r  denta l tea m and  found  that the concept d id  not fit i nto the i r  p ract ice, I 

cont i n ue  to hea r  from dent i sts a bout the i r  h igh level of sat i sfact ion with the i r  denta l  therap i sts .  

Th i s  anecdota l  evidence is  supported by the  fact that rough ly 40% of d ent ists and c l i n ics which 

cu rrent ly emp loy a denta l therap i st have chosen to emp loy add it iona l  denta l  t he rap i sts i n  the i r  

p ract ice or  c l i n ic .  

N at ion a l ly, peop le  want to know about the i mpact of denta l therapy i n  M i n n esota .  Some have 

stated that denta l therapy i s  not worki ng in M i n nesota beca use the percentage of k ids  covered 

by med ica l  ass istance statewide, who have seen a dent ist, has not gone  up .  The rea l ity is , with 

denta l therap i sts comp ri s i ng less than  one-ha l f  of one percent of ou r  o ra l  hea lth workforce that 

is  not a n  app ropr iate measu re of success .  The va l ue  of add ing a denta l therap i st to a c l i n i c  

shou ld  be looked a t  i n  the  context of  how i t  i mpacts tha t  specific c l i n i c  a nd  the  com m u n ity it 

serves .  In 2014, the  M i n nesota Depa rtment of Hea lth in conjunct ion with the  M i n n esota Board 

2 Minnesota Department of  Hea l th .  M i nnesota's Denta l Therapist Workforce 2016 .  M i n nesota Department of 
Hea lth . 2016 
http://www.hea lth .state .mn . us/d ivs/orhpc/workforce/oral/2016dtb.pdf 

• 
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of Dent i st ry s u bm itted to the state leg is lat u re a report t it led Ear ly I m pact of Denta l Therapy i n f> l8 < 3 
Minnesota3 

Th i s  repo rt noted that :  

• On  average, 84 percent of the new pat ients seen by a denta l  therap i st were en ro l led in  

p u b l i c  p rograms .  

• Nea r ly one-t h i rd of a l l  pat ients su rveyed exper ienced a reduct ion i n  wait t imes for a n  

a ppo i ntment s i nce t he  denta l therap i st wa s  emp loyed .  

• Some pat ients saw a red uct ion i n  t ravel t ime for the i r  appo i ntment with the  denta l 

the rap i st compa red to the i r  l ast appo intment, th i s  was most nota b l e  i n  ru ra l  a reas .  

• Othe r  reported impacts i nc l uded pe rson ne l  cost savi ngs, i ncreased denta l team 

p roduct iv ity, and  imp roved pat ient sat isfact ion . 

It i s  i n st ruct ive to note that the cost savings to c l i n ics a l lowed the c l i n i cs to expand  capacity i n  

orde r  to serve more unde rserved and pub l i c p rogram pat ients .  

• 
S ince 2014, t he re h ave been s ix case stud i es pub l i shed docu ment i ng  the exper iences of va r ious 

c l i n ics emp loying  denta l  therap i sts i n  M i nnesota .4•5 •6•7 •8•9 Fou r of those c l i n ics a re located i n  a 

ru ra l  a rea  of the  state, add it iona l ly, th ree were non-p rofit c l i n ics with one be ing  a n  FQHC. 

Wh i l e  each case study  p rovides a un ique look i nto the impacts of i n corporat i ng  denta l 

t he rap i sts i nto a n  ex ist i ng c l i n ic, I 'd  l i ke to h igh l ight t h ree fi nd i ngs that a re seen across the 

board and b u i ld on  the  resu lts from the Ea r ly Im pact Report .  

• 

1 )  C l i n ics t hat h i re a denta l  therap ist s ee  i ncrease num bers o f  u n i nsu red and  p ub l ic 

i n s u ra n ce pat ients .  I n  one rura l  c l i n i c  Med ica i d  pat ient v is its i ncreased by 50% in  the 

denta l therap i sts fi rst yea r. A second ru ra l  c l i n i c  i n creased Med ica id  pat ient v is its from 

3% to 20% i n  the fi rst 3 months of h i r i ng  a denta l  therap i st .  

3 Minnesota Department  o f  Hea l th .  Ea rly Impacts o f  Denta l Therap ists i n  M i n nesota . M i nnesota Depa rtment of 
Hea l th .  2014 
http://www.hea l th .state .mn . us/d ivs/orhpc/workforce/ora l/dt legisrpt .pdf 
4 PEW Cha rita b le  Trust . "Expand i ng the Dental Team :  Stud ies of two private pract ices" ( Februa ry 2014) 
5 PEW Chari tab le  Trust . "Expand i ng the Dental Team :  I ncreas ing Access to Care i n  Pub l i c  Sett ings " (J une  2014) 
6 Wi lder  Resea rch . "M idwest Denta l :  Dental Therapist Case Study" (May 2017 ) 
7 Wi lder  Resea rch . "Grand Mara is  Fam i ly Dentistry: Denta l Therap ist Case Study" Grand  Mara is, M N  (May 2017) 
8 App le Tree Denta l .  "An Adva nced Dental Therap ist i n  Ru ra l  M i nnesota" ( February 2018) 
9 App le Tree Denta l .  "An Adva nced Dental Therap ist i n  Long-Term Ca re" ( Februa ry 2018) 
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2 )  Al l c l i n ics noted cost savi ngs by h i r i ng  a denta l  therap i st with many  of the  case stud ies  �f '/ 

docu ment ing the  i ncreased c l i n i c  net revenue .  I n  the case of the  FQHC c l i n i c, they chose • 
to use those fu nds  to h i re a second denta l therap ist to add ress fu rthe r  u nmet needs .  

3 ) A l l  c l i n ics documented a cha nge i n  the i r  provider's p ract ice patte rns .  With the  support 

of a denta l therap i st focu s ing on fi l l i n gs, the dent ist cou ld focus  on  p rovi d i ng  care that 

on ly  the dent i st can p rovide .  I n  one rura l  c l i n ic, the dent i st was ab l e  to i nc rease the  

amount of  extract ions they performed by 75%.  I n  a d ifferent c l i n i c, the  dent i st was ab le  

to i ncrease the  amount of  orthodont ic ca re and ca re to  treat gum d i sease by 86%. 

These a re rea l  examp le  of how denta l therap i st a re imp rovi ng access to ora l  hea lth  care for 

M i n nesota res idents .  

F i n a l ly, there a re othe rs who have expressed concern about the q u a l ity of ca re p rovided by the 

denta l  therap i sts .  To date, there has  been no d isc i p l i n a ry act ions ta ken by the M i n nesota 

Boa rd of Dent ist ry aga i nst a denta l  therap i st .  On the top ic  of qua l ity, it i s  i m po rta nt to 

unde rstand  that a lthough one case study fou n d  that the denta l the ra p i st cou l d  p rovide 7 1-79% 

of the care that was performed by the denta l team i n  a long-term ca re fac i l ity, denta l  therap i sts • 
are actua l ly ed ucated i n  a sma l l  su bset of procedu res that a dent i st can  perfo rm .  The 

Comm iss ion of  Denta l Accred itat ion ,  or  CODA, is  the ed ucat iona l  accred it i ng  body for the 

denta l  p rofess ion .  They set the educat iona l  standards for denta l ,  denta l hygiene, denta l  

ass i st i ng  and  now denta l  thera py educat iona l  programs.  As  a l l  denta l  t he rapy p rograms i n  the  

cou ntry a re i n  the p rocess of  p u rsu i ng  app rova l through CODA, I have the  p riv i l ege of sitt i ng  on 

the  review comm ittee that created and  ma inta ins  the denta l  therapy sta nda rds .  I can  attest to 

the fact that the r igor  of denta l  therapy educat iona l  program reviews wi l l  be  the  same as the  

r igor of  denta l student educat iona l  p rogram reviews . 

At the  U n ive rsity of M i n nesota, we have been ed ucati ng denta l therap i sts s i nce ou r  state 

authorized these p roviders in 2009 . Denta l  therap i sts in M innesota a re t ra i n ed in a defined 

scope of  p ract ice that i nc l udes both p revent ive and rout i ne  restorative p roced u res .  At the  

Un ive rsity of  M i n nesota, we have a dua l  degree Bache lor  of  Sc ience i n  Denta l Hygiene/M aster  

of  Denta l Therapy ed ucat iona l  p rogram .  Our  d enta l therapy students a re educated a longs ide  

ou r  denta l a nd  ou r  denta l  hyg iene students .  As  an examp le, where the  scope of p ract ice of  a 

4 
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denta l  therapy student over laps with that of a denta l  student, l i ke d r i l l i n g  and  fi l l i n g  a cavitY,/JU/ 4S-

• 
both stu dent groups  t ake the sa me cou rses, have the sa me c l i n i ca l  req u i rements, and  must 

pass the  same exam i n at ions .  Upon graduat ion from ou r  ed ucat iona l  p rogram, and  pr ior  to 

l i censu re, denta l t he ra py graduates a re req u i red to pass a pat ient-based c l i n ica l exam i n at ion 

that i s  the sa me  as  a port ion of the exam inat ion that denta l  graduates have to pass .  Both 

groups  ta ke the  exa m at the same t ime and exam eva l u ators a re u n awa re as to wh ich  

i n d ivi d u a l s a re test i ng  to become a l i censed dent i st and  wh ich wi l l  become a l i censed denta l  

therap i st .  Th i s  b l i n d  eva l uat ion ensu res that denta l therap i sts h ave the  same sk i l l s  and ab i l it ies 

as d ent i sts for the p roced u res both p rovid e rs a re l i censed to perfo rm .  Thus, from a qua l ity of 

care stan dpo i nt, our denta l  therapy gradu ates a re educated to the  same sta nda rds  as  dent ists 

fo r t he  l im ited scope  of p ract ice they a re l i censed to perform . 

• 

• 

As you can see, the re i s  evidence that denta l  therapy i s  an  effect ive tool for c los i ng gaps i n  

access to care .  I a m  p roud to  be a part of  th i s  effort and  the Un ivers ity of M i n nesota denta l 

the rapy p rogram sta nds  ready to educate North  Da kota res idents to become denta l therap ists 

in o rde r  to he l p  a dd ress North Da kota's a ccess to care i ssues .  Tha n k  you for the opportu n ity to 

speak  he re today .  I a m  happy to answer any  q uest ions  you may have . 

5 



-

• 

-

Denta l Therap ists 
Good for North Dakotans' Health 

and Good for North Dakota 

North Dakotans need dental therapists. 

Denta l therap ists wi l l  he lp g ive access to denta l care to elderly people, ch i ldren, 
those i n  poverty, Native Americans, and those without insurance. 
Nearly 97,000 North Dakotans l ive in areas with a shortage of dentists.i 
Thousands of North Dakotans do not receive regular, routine dental care.ii 

• More than 1 i n  4 North Dakota 3rd graders have untreated tooth decay.i i i 
• North Dakota is the worst in the nation for provid ing denta l care to 

Medicaid-enro l led ch i ldren. 68% did not see a dentist in 201 7.iv 
• More than 1 i n  5 adults have untreated decay.V 
• Half of Native American 3rd graders have had untreated tooth decay.vi 
• Among nu rs ing home residents with teeth, 1 /3 need early or urgent ca re.vi i 

What is a dental therapist? 

S imi la r  to physician assistants, dental therapists are mid level providers who are 
tra ined to offer routi ne and commonly needed preventive and restorative services, 
such as fi l l i ng  cavities. 
Dentists h i re and supervise dental therap ists to expand qua l ity care to more patients, 
and provide treatment to underserved at-r isk populations in commun ity sett ings, 
such as schoo l s  or nursing homes. 
Eight states have authorized dental therap i sts in  some capacity: Arizona, Maine, 
Mich igan, M innesota, Vermont, and tribal commun ities in Alaska, Oregon, and 
Wash ington.  

North Dakota does not have enough dentists to provide 
routine care for the state's growing population. 

Nearly half of North Dakota counties have no dentists or just one ( 1 7 have none, 8 
have one)_vi i i 

• Accord ing to the American Denta l Association, North Dakota dentists are the bus iest 
in the nation.ix 
A l lowing dentists to h i re denta l therapists wou ld i ncrease access to care for North 
Dakotans i n  rura l and u rban communities.' 

Dental therapists provide quality care under the supervision 
of a dentist. 

1 , 1 00 studies and assessments show denta l therap ists provide h igh qua l ity care.xi 
A dentist w i l l  supervise each l icensed dental therapist, affirm the ir ab i l it ies, and set 
their scope of practice through a written management agreement. 
To become l icensed, denta l therapists wi l l  need to go through the North Dakota 
Board of Dental Examiners process s imi lar to dentists and other dental providers. 

• The nationa l  accred iting commission for schools educating dentists and other dental 
providers has approved standards for denta l therapy.Xi i  
The Journal of the American Denta l Association pub l i shed a study in  20 1 1 stat ing 
that dental therapists provided h igh qua l ity care comparable to dentists for 
procedures both can do.Xi i i 
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show dental therapists 
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AARP \orth Dakota 
All 1 arce fo r Health Ca re Access (G rand Fo rks) 
Commun ity Action Pa rtners h i p  of N D  
�amily Vo ices o f  N D  
Fa rgo-Moorhead Coal i t ion for Homeless Persons 
North Dakota Chapter of the Amer ican Academy of Ped iatr ics 
No rth Dakota Dental Hyg i en i sts' Associat ion 
North Dakota N u rses Associat ion 
N orth Dakota N u rse Pract it ioners Associat ion 
North Dakota Protection and Advocacy Project 
North Da kota Publ i c  Health Associat ion 
North Dakota Rural H ealth Association 
North Dakota State Assoc iat ion of C ity and County Health Officers 
North Dakota Women's Network 
Northland Health Centers 
Th i rd Street Cl i n ic (G rand Forks) 
Americans for Prosper ity 
Amer icans fo r Tax Reform 
The Pew Char itable  Trusts 
United Tri bes of No rth 
Sp i r it Lake Tribe  
Stand ing Rock  S ioux  Tri be 
Three Affil iated Tri bes of Mandan, H idatsa, and Ar i ka ra Nat ion 
Tu rtl e  Mountain Band of Ch i ppewa Ind ians 

i Hea l th Resou rces and  Serv ices Adm in i strat ion, "Des ignated Hea l th Profess iona l  Shortage Areas," Sept .  20 1 8 . i i  
Centers for D i sease Control a n d  Prevent ion, ND  Ora l  Hea l th Data, Ad u lts (20 1 6) ,  Ch i l d ren (20 1 4), accessed J a n .  20 1 9 .  i i i  

N ij au  G .  and  Y i neman  K . ,  " F i nd i ng s  and Lessons from the  20 1 4-20 1 5 North  Da kota O ra l  Hea l t h  Th i rd Grade Bas ic  

Screen i ng  S u rvey;' ND Depa rtment of Hea l th (Presented at the Dakota Conference on Rura l  and Pub l i c  Hea l th ,  20 1 6) .  
iv The Pew Char i tab l e  Tru sts, ana l ys i s  us ing Centers for Med icare and Medica id Services, Annua l  Ear ly and Per iod ic  

Screen i ng ,  D i agnost ic a nd  Treatment Part i c i pat ion Report, Form CMS-4 1 6, 20 1 7 . v North Dakota Department of 
Hea l th ,  Bas i c  Sc reen i ng  Su rvey for Ad u lts (20 1 2 ) .  v i  N ija u and Y ineman (20 1 6 ) .  v i i  Schroeder, S., U N O  Center fo r Ru ra l  

Hea l th ,  "Ora l  Hea l th  among North Dakota E lder ly;' Oct. 20 1 6 . v i i i  Sch roder, S . ,  U N O  CRH,  "Denta l  Workforce i n  Ru ra l  and  

U rban North Dakota;' J u n e  20 1 6. ix Vuj i c ic, M . ,  "Reth i n k i ng  dent i st shortages;' Jou rna l  o f  the Amer ican Denta l 

Assoc iat ion 1 46(5) ,  May 20 1 5 . x S. Schroder et a l . , UNO  CRH,  "North Dakota Ora l  Hea l th Report: Needs and Proposed 

Mode l s, 20 1 4;' 20 1 4 .  x i  D. Na sh  et a l . , "A Review of G loba l  L iteratu re on Dental Therap i sts;' W.K .  Ke l logg Fou ndat ion,  
Apr i l 20 1 2 . x i i  Amer ican Denta l Assoc iat ion, Commi ss ion on Denta l Accred itat ion, Accred itat ion Sta ndards for Denta l  

Therapy Prog rams, Feb. 20 1 5 . x i i i  J .  Bader et a l ., "Cl i n ica l  techn ica l  performance of denta l therap i sts i n  A laska;' Journa l  
of the Amer ican Denta l  Assoc iat ion 1 42(3) ,  March 20 1 1 . 

North Dakotans for Dental Access www.nddentalaccess.com 
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Sco pe Com pa r i so n of N D  P rov i d e rs 

• Co l o rs rep resent the  p rovide r  type, a nd s i ze of each  co l o red  

box rep rese nts the  n u m be r  of codes p ra ct i ced by that p rovi d e r  

Prov i d er  

P rovi de r  # Codes 

Dent ist 398 

N D  Denta l The ra p ist 94 

N D  Denta l Hygie n i st 46 
� " 

Registe red Denta l Ass ista nt 30 J\, 1t 
...... V: 

Data sou rces :  2016 American Denta l  Assoc iat ion Codes on  Denta l Procedu res and  Nomenc lature, ADA Com m iss ion on  Denta l  Accred itat ion 2015 Accred itat io� \ Q.,; 
Standa rds for Denta l  Therapy Programs, and  North  Da kota Adm i n .  Code 20-01 t h rough 20-05 (via the  N D  Board of Denta l Exa m iners) cu rrent as of Apri l 1, 2015 .  \' 
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L I CENS I NG DENTAL TH ERAP ISTS 

i n  NORTH DAKOTA - HB  1 426 

I 

FOR IT: AG I N  T T. 

AARP North Dakota 
A l l i ance for Hea lth Care Access (Grand Forks) 
Commun ity Act ion Partnersh ip of ND  
Fam i ly Voices o f  N D  
Fargo-Moorhead Coal it ion for Homeless Persons 
North Dakota Chapter of the American Academy of Ped iatrics 
North Dakota Dental Hyg ien ists' Association 
North Dakota Nu rses Associat ion 
North Dakota Nu rse Pract i t ioners Assoc iat ion 
North Dakota Protection and Advocacy Project 
North Dakota Pub l i c  Health Associat ion 
North Dakota Rura l  Health Associat ion 
North Dakota State Association of City and County Health Officers 
North Dakota Women 's  Network 
North land Hea lth Centers 
Th i rd Street C l i n i c  (Grand Forks) 
Americans for Prosperity 
Americans for Tax Reform 
The Pew Char itab le Trusts 
U n ited Tr ibes of North Dakota 
Sp i ri t Lake Tr ibe 
Stand i ng Rock S ioux Tr ibe 
Three Affil iated Tribes of Mandan, Hidatsa, and Ankara Nation 
Turt le Mounta in Band of Ch ippewa I nd ians 

North Dakota Dental Assistants Associat ion 

North Dakota Dental Associat ion * 

1 in 4 rural dentists, and 1 in 6 dentists 

statewide, are interested in hiring dental 

therapists - according to the Bismarck 

Tribune article on Jan. 1 9, 20 1 7  and 

preliminary survey results from UNO Center 

for Rural Health . 

N o r t h  D a kota n s  fo r  D e n t a l A c c e s s  www. n d d e n ta l a c ce s s . c o m  

9 
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Under H B  1 4 26 as amended,  supervision of dental therapists by 
dentists would be l imited to d irect and indirect supervision ...  

Direct Supervision 
As currently defined by the ND Board of Dental 
Examiners ,  d i rect supervision "means the dentist is in the 

dental office or treatment facil ity, personally diagnoses 
the condition to be treated, personally authorizes the 
procedures and remains in the dental office or treatment 
faci l ity whi le the procedures are being performed by the 
dental hygien ist or denta l  assistant, and before dismissal 
of the patient, evaluates the performance of the dental 

hygien ist or dental assistant." 

Indirect Supervision 
As currently defined by the Board , ind irect supervision 
"means that a dentist is in the dental office or treatment 
faci l i ty, has personal ly d iagnosed the condition to be 
treated, authorizes the procedures, and remains in the 

dental office or treatment faci l ity while the procedures are 
being performed by the dental hygienist or dental 
assistant." 

.•• un less the Board were to develop rules to al low for the use of "general supervision," 

simi lar to rul es already in  place for supervising dental hygienists in North Dakota. 

According to the Board, general supervision "means the dentist has authorized the 

procedures and they are carried out in accordance with the dentist's treatment plan and 

with the dentist's diagnosis, if necessary. The dentist is not required to be in the 

treatment faci l ity." 

Source: North Dakota Administrative Code § 20-01-02-01. -------
N o rth  Dakotans  fo r Denta l  Access www. n d d e n t a l a cces s . co m  

lo 
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C DA Accred itat ion 

NATIONAL ADA/CO DA ACCREDITED PROGRAMS 

I n  August 20 1 5 , the Comm iss ion on Denta l  Accred itation (CODA) , the ACCREDIT ING BODY housed with i n  the 
AMER ICAN DENTAL ASSOCIAT ION for DENTAL EDUCATION PROGRAMS ,  implemented standards for denta l 
therapy educat ion p rograms .  CODA accred itat ion means a program has achieved a NATIONALLY ACCEPTED 
LEVEL OF SAFETY AND QUALITY. HB  1 426 requ i res students to g raduate from a CODA accred ited program or one 
of the exist i ng master 's leve l  prog rams cu rrently accred ited by the M i nnesota dental board which a re cu rrently 
work ing toward CODA accred itat ion (Un ivers ity of M i nnesota School of Dent istry and Metropol i tan  State 
U n iversity/Normanda le Commun ity Col lege) . 

U S I N G  BEST P RACTICES 

Dental therapy students a re he l d  to  t he  SAME STANDARDS as those studying to  become dentists . They take the 
same classes as dental students and must DEMONSTRATE THE SAM E COMPETENC IES on the procedu res they 
a re tra ined to p rov ide .  

H B  1 426 requ i res that dental therapists pass an exam approved by  t he  NORTH DAKOTA BOARD OF DENTAL 
EXAM I NERS in orde r  to be l i censed . 

Q Can mid level providers "dri l l  and fi l l" d irectly out of h igh school? A. N 0. 

The sk i l l s  needed to be a denta l therap ist i n  North Dakota wou ld REQU IRE GRADUATION from a CODA 
ACCREDITED col lege or u n ive rs ity-three academic years m i n imum-or one of the exist ing master 's level M i nnesota 
programs which a re accred ited through the M i nnesota dental board , PLUS pass ing a ND-state l icens ing exam .  Under 
H B  1 426 dental therap ists wou ld be requ i red to complete 500 cl i n ical practice hours u nder the d i rect or i nd i rect 

-
superv is ion of a dent ist .  

N o rt h  D a k o t a n s  for D e n t a l  A c c e s s  www. n d d e n ta l a c ce s s . co m  

I/ 

I/ 
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Denta l Hea lth Profess iona l  Shortage Area (HPSA) 

des ignations, 2018 

Denta l H PSA 

designat ions 

Fu l l  County 

C7 Partial county 

D Not des ignated 

State of Minnesota 
Total Dental HPSAs = 124 

This map provided by the University of MN School of 
Dentistry 

• 

Dental Therapy 
Employment Sites* 

by County 

Metro Area 

Greater MN 

60% 

- 40% 

* Fixed clinic sites only . � 
Does not included mobile, school based or otheif '- it � community-based locations . · ,l? ').; 

\' I � 
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Denta l Therapy Emp loyment I n format ion 
2018 

Cu rrent ly the re a re 89 l icensed denta l  the r ap ists (DTs) l i censed to p ract ice i n  M i nnesota, 59 of  which 
a re cert ifi ed  adva nced denta l  therap ists (ADTs ) .  Th i s  i n format ion i s  a snapshot of the employment 
envi ro nment a s  it cont i n u es to evolve .  

• 84 a re emp loyed 
• 3 not seek i ng  emp loyment 

Locat ion 

• 62 p ra ct ice i n  t he  7-cou nty metro a rea 

• 4 1  p ract ice i n  G reater M i nnesota 

Cl i n i c  Type 

• 57  i n  P r ivate P ract ices 

• 19 i n  Non-P rofit C l i n ics 

• 9 i n  FQHCs 

• 8 i n  La rge G roup  C l i n ics 

• 3 i n  Educat iona l  I n st itut ions 

• 7 i n  Hosp ita l s  

Employment 
2% 3% 

94% 

Employed 

Unemp loyed * 

Not Seek ing 

Practice Location Distribution 

40% Greater 

Metro 

Practice Type Distribution 

3% 7% 

9%� 

18% 

8% 

Private Practice 

• La rge Group 

Non-P rofit 

FQHC 

• Education 

Hospita l  
_J 

• *All DTs regardless of cli n ic type are providing care to underserved patients. The number of cli n ic locations and types differ for the number of employed 
DTs due to the fact that many graduates work in multiple settings and some clin ics employ more than one dental therapist. 

/J 
,_) 1 - rs i  ... / c ;  1 1 1 ! \ 1 1 n e so ,. =. S chco .  o ,- ) :: :H i.:;.r" 

D i \ 1 i s ! cn  o i  De 1ta l Th ·?. r2 ,JV 



• HB1426-a l low for denta l therapists 
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The Veterans who are enrol led with VA Hea lth system, especia l ly here in North 
Dakota, rece ive re lative ly good health care. The VA gives us hearing a ids, glasses 
and access to speci a l ists such as dermatologists, heart and l ung, etc. However, 
the VA does not provide ora l Hea lth care for everyone. The VA by l aw is 
a uthorized to provide extensive dental care, to a we l l  define group of Veterans 
and in some cases, treatment may be l imited. In order to rece ive denta l care, you 
must meet the qua l ifications in 1 of 4 categories. Ful l denta l coverage is only 
offered to Veterans who have service re lated compensab le  denta l cond itions, 
were prisoners of war, or are considered 100% d isa b led accord ing to VA criteria. 
Veterans who do not fa l l  into these categories are e l igi b le  for l imited services I 
have provided a fact sheet discussing who fits where. The TRICARE Retiree Denta l 
Program is a voluntary plan for members of the Uniformed Services and Nationa l 
Guard/Reserve who are rece iving retired pay. 

There is a wel l-estab l ished access prob lem for service members in the United 

• States. Historica l ly, denta l readiness was the most prob lematic Department of 
Defense ind ivi dua l  med ica l read iness requ irement according to the Chief of 
TRICARE denta l section. He states "Over the decade the M i l itary Hea lth System 
has enacted new services and programs that red uced the proportion of unfit DoD 
Se lected Reserve troops due to denta l prob lems from 40% to 10%. 

• 

Good ora l hea lth is important for overa l l  and we l l being. One study fol lowed ma le 
veterans, aged 28-70, for 32 years, and found that tooth loss and gum d isease 
were re l ated to cognitive decl ine . Another study showed that chronic gum 
d isease is associated with coronary heart d isease among men under 60 in the 
Veteran community. 

In 2017, North Da kota has approximate ly 51,000 Veterans. Of those a bout 27500 
of them are enrol led in the VA hea lth system, with only a bout 19000 rece iving any 
med ica l services. Veterans comprised around 9% of the adu lt popu lation in ND 
compare to 6.6% nationa l ly. 40% of Veterans in North Dakota are at least 65 
years of age. Research shows that 1 in 3 ND seniors report having denta l  
prob lems and they are far more l i ke ly that any other groups to d o  so . 
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The North Dakota Veterans Legislative Council supports th is bill and we fefi�!� d\ 

allow dentists to extend much needed care to those North Dakotans currently 
underserved along with many of the States Veterans. We can see the possibilities 
of a dental therapist in the Veteran Home in Lisbon along with perhaps with the 
the many Veterans clinics though-out the state . 
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Dental Benefits for Veterans 

1 8  1 0-442 
February 20 1 4  
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Denta l  benefits a re provided by the Department of Veterans  Affa i rs (VA) accord ing to l aw. I n  some 
instances, VA is  authorized to provide extensive denta l care, whi le i n  other cases treatment may be 
l im ited. Thi s  Fact Sheet describes dental el ig i b i l ity criteria and conta ins  i nformation to ass ist Veterans  
i n  u nderstand ing the i r  e l ig ib i l ity for VA denta l care. 

The e l ig ib i l ity for outpatient denta l care i s  not the same as for most other VA medical benefits and 

If you: You are eligible for: Through 
Have a service-connected Any needed dental care Class I 
compensable dental d isabi l ity or 
condit ion. 
Are a former prisoner of war. Any needed dental care. Class I IC 
Have service-con nected Any needed denta l care. (Please Class IV 
d isab i l ities rated 1 00% disabl ing, note: Veterans paid at the 1 00% rate 
or are unemployable and paid based on a temporary rating, such as 
at the 1 000/4 rate due to service- extended hospita l ization for a service-
connected cond it ions. connected disabi l ity, conva lescence 

or pre-stabi l ization a re not el igible for 
comprehensive outpatient denta l  services 
based on this temporary rating]. 

Apply for dental care within One-time dental care if your 002 14  Class I I  
1 80 days of d ischarge o r  release certificate of d ischarge does not indicate 
( under conditions other than that a complete dental examination and ' 

dishonorable) from a period of a l l  appropriate denta l  treatment had been 
active duty of 90 days or more rendered prior to discharge.* 
during the Persian Gulf War era . 

j ,  ' 
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If you: 
Have a service-connected 
noncompensable denta l  
condition or d isabi l ity resu lting 
from combat wounds or service 
trauma. 

Have a denta l condition 
cl in ical ly determined by VA to be 
associated with and aggravating 
a service-connected medica l  
condition. 
Are actively engaged in a 38 
USC Chapter 3 1  vocational 
rehabi l itation program. 

Are receiving VA care or are 
scheduled for inpatient care 
and requ i re dental care for a 
condition complicating a medical 
condition currently under 
treatment. 
Are an enrol led Veteran who may 
be homeless and receiving care 
underVHA Directive 2007-039. 

You are eligible for: Through 
Any dental care necessary to provide Class I IA 
and maintain  a functioning dentition. A 
Dental Trauma Rating (VA Form 
1 0-564-D) or VA Regional Office Rating 
Decision letter (VA Form 1 0-71 3 1 )  
identifies the tooth/teeth/condition(s) 
that are trauma rated. 
Denta l care to treat the ora l  conditions Class Il l 
that are determined by a VA dental  
professional to have a direct and material 
detrimenta l effect to your service 
connected medical condition. 
Dental care to the extent necessary as Class V 
determined by a VA dental professiona l  to: . Make possible your entrance into a 

rehabi l itation program . Achieve the goals of your vocational 
rehabi l itation program . Prevent interruption of your  
rehabil itation program . Hasten the return to a rehabi l itation 
program if you are in interrupted or 
leave status . Hasten the return to a rehabi l itation 
program of a Veteran placed in  
d iscontinued status because of i l lness, 
injury or a dental condition, or . Secure and adjust to employment 
during the period of employment 
assistance, or enable you to achieve 
maximum independence in  dai ly 
l iving. 

Dental care to treat the oral conditions Class VI 
that are determined by a VA denta l 
professional to compl icate your  medical 
condition currently under treatment. 

A one-time course of dental care that is Class 1 18 
determined medica l ly necessary to rel ieve 

' 

pain, assist you to gain employment, or 
treat moderate, severe, or complicated 
and severe gingival and periodontal 
conditions. 

* Note: Public Law 83 enacted June 16, 1 955, amended Veterans' eligibility for outpatient dental services. 
As a result, any Veteran who received a dental award letter from VBA dated before 1 955 in which VBA 
determined the dental conditions to be noncompensable are no longer eligible for Class II outpatient 
dental treatment. 

iR 1 0-4 P 
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y;;.1/19 
f)qle_ i 



• 

• 

• 

House Human Services Committee 
Monday, January 21 , 2019 

Sheri Solseng Trif, Advanced Dental Therapist 
P lease support HB 1426 - authorize denta l therapy in North Dakota 
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Mr. Chairman and Members of the committee, thank you for allowing me the opportunity to 
testify in favor of HB1426 today. 

My name is Sheri Solseng Trif , and I 'm originally from Larimore,  North Dakota. I 'm currently an 
advance dental therapist practicing in Minnesota. 

I'm proud to be a native of the Peace Garden State and yet I wish I could provide care to 
dental patients in North Dakota in the same way as I do in Minnesota. 

As an advanced dental therapist (ADT) - I 'm kind of like a nurse practitioner, but on the dental 
team. I can not only provide preventive care,  like cleanings, but I can also provide routine 
restorative care like filling cavities. North Dakota ranks at the bottom in terms of access to oral 
healthcare ,  I read from the ND Dept. of Human Services screening survey - more than 1 in 4 
North Dakota 3rd graders have untreated tooth decay. That's awfu l. 

As an ADT,  I can provide dental care to kids , adults and seniors - in different settings - I can go 
to the patients in a community healthcare clinic , a senior living center, a veterans nursing home, 
or a school-based clinic . 

As an advanced dental therapist , I can practice in Minnesota , but not in North Dakota because 
the state practice act doesn't include licensing of dental therapists. Adding another clinician to 
the dental team extends the reach of helping folks who need it the most ! It 's working in 
Minnesota and I am proof. Please support this leg islation. North Dakota needs it! 

I 'm happy to answer any questions you may have. Thank you for your consideration and time. 
Sheri Solseng Trif 
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21 January 2019 

North Dakota Dental Hygienists' Association 

Emily Mallory, RDH, President 
3 865 13th A venue South 
Grand Forks, ND 58201 

RE : NDDHA supports dental therapy and HB 1426 

Members of the Legislative Assembly of North Dakota 
Human Services Committee 

Chairman Weisz and Members of the Committee: 

Hello, my name is Emily Mallory. I am a dental hygienist practicing in a community health 
center and the current president of the North Dakota Dental Hygienists ' Association. The 
Hygienists' Association strongly supports HB 1426 to authorize dental therapy in North Dakota. 
Dental hygienists, who are the prevention experts, are committed to improving the public' s  oral 
and overall health, and we believe bringing dental therapy to,North Dakota would help achieve 
this goal. 

As has been stated repeatedly today, thousands of North Dakotans do not have access to 
affordable, routine dental career. In my own career, I have regularly seen patients drive 
hundreds of miles for care. Furthermore, many patients have extensive dental needs that cannot 
be completed in a timely manner due to provider shortages. Evidence has shown that dental 
therapists improve access to care for underserved patients ; decrease wait times for patients ; and 
increase the volume of patient seen in clinical settings. Too many of our residents suffer from 
dental diseases that are preventable with routine care, but the dental system has shut them out. 
This serious problem cannot be addressed by the number of dentists currently practicing in North 
Dakota. More high-priced providers for routine care won't make that care more affordable. 

Dental Therapists are highly skilled individuals, who earn bachelor or masters level degrees 
alongside fellow dental hygiene and dental students. Academic and clinical standards have been 
approved by the American Dental Association' s  (ADA) Commission of Dental Accreditation 
(CODA) in 2015. If dental therapists were unsafe, unqualified, or experimental in any way, the 
Commission would never have approved these standards. The scope of practice for DT, outlined 
in HB 1426, insures that all dental therapists in North Dakota would be in a written collaboration 
management agreement with a supervising dentist. HB 1426 would help meet the demand for 
affordable, routine dental care by authorizing dental therapists to be licensed by the North 
Dakota Board of Dental Examiners to perform routine procedures under the supervision of a 
dentist. This, in tum, would allow the dentists who hire them to focus on more complex dental 
cases. 

Dental therapist would serve as members of the dental care team. The DT would work alongside 

• 
dentists, dental hygienists, and dental assistants in federally qualified health care centers 
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(FQHCs), FQHC "look alike" clinics, non-profit or governmental dental practices, and Indf::. I
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health services clinics. Dental therapists currently practice as part of the dental team in more • than 50 other countries and other states, and over 1 , 1 00 studies have shown they provide quality 
care. 

If North Dakota is going to bring forth change in access to oral health care, we must consider the 
best opportunities for doing so. Dental therapy is not only an opportunity for dental hygienists to 
expand their knowledge, skills and careers; but also, a realistic addition to the dental team to 
improve access to care in North Dakota. It is going to be up to every member of the dental team 
to work collaboratively in order to make real improvements in access to care. Dental hygienists 
want to work together, with the dentists and the dental assistants, as dental therapists in order to 
accomplish this goal. Again, the North Dakota Hygienists' Association strongly supports this 
bill as this is one instrumental way to improve access to dental care for those most in need in 
North Dakota. 

Sincerely, 

E=�ll�::: �y 
President, NDDHA 

Dental Therapy in Minnesota (2018). 
http://www.dentisty.umn.edu/sites/dentisty.umn.edu/files/dental therapy in-minnesota.pdf 

• 

• 
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Testimony - HB 1426 
Dr. Todd Thierer, DDS, MPH, HealthPartners 

House Human Services Committee 
Monday, January 21, 2019 

Chairman Weisz and members of the committee, thank you for the opportunity to testify today in 
support of House Bill 1426 bipartisan legislation that would authorize mid level dental providers known 
as dental therapists to practice in specific settings. 

My name is Todd Thierer and I am currently the Associate Dental Director for Primary and Pediatric 
Dental Care at Health Partners. Prior to my joining Health Partners I was the Associate Dean for Clinical 
Affairs at the University of Minnesota School of Dentistry for seven years. 

During my time at the School of Dentistry, I was responsible for the clinical functioning of the school, 
which included dental, dental therapy and dental hygiene students. I worked closely with all of these 
students and have a good appreciation for the training that dental therapists receive as well as how 
their clinical competence is assessed. In my time at HealthPartners, I have worked with dental 
therapists in a non-educational setting. I have been able to see, first hand, the quality of the work that 
dental therapists do, as well as the appreciation that patients have for the care they are receiving. In 
Minnesota, dental therapists have been a force multiplier in terms of the numbers of underserved 
patients that can be seen in a dental practice. As is the case with midlevel providers in medicine, dental 
therapists are well trained and can provide high quality care to people at a lower cost per patient and 
per procedure. Public funds that are utilized for providing oral health care to underserved populations 
can go further while providing the same level of care . 

Dental therapists work under what is called a collaborative management agreement with the dentist. It 
is the dentist's license that the therapist is working under. The dentist decides what the dental therapist 
can and cannot do within the statutorily defined scope of practice for a dental therapist . In Minnesota, 
dental therapist primarily does fillings, although they can provide a limited number of additional 
emergency services, for example, a denture repair, recementing crowns, extracting baby teeth, and 
providing palliative treatment for dental pain . They do this under the general supervision of a dentist . 

Many patients who have only had intermittent access to care have significant oral health needs. 
Frequently they have extensive decay with some teeth that need to be extracted and many teeth that 
need fillings. The dental therapists that I work with are extremely skilled and efficient in restoring the 
teeth that can be restored. That allows me to do the extractions and provide other treatment, like 
making dentures, that I am trained to do. 

As I previously mentioned, I have extensive experience with the education of dental therapists . At the 
University of Minnesota, they are trained in exactly the same way, in exactly the same clinical 
environments as dental students are, for their scope of practice. They are also assessed in the same way 
for the same procedures that the dental students do. Additionally, for licensure, they take the same 
clinical dental boards that dental students do (except for the Periodontal portion which is out their 
scope of practice) . In fact, their identity as a dental therapist is hidden from the board examiners. The 
500 hours of supervised clinical practice that HB 1426 requires, is an additional safeguard to ensure 
quality of care provided by dental therapists . 
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I don't presume to understand the landscape of oral health needs of the citizens of North Dakota. I am 
aware, however, that there is a significant access to oral care issue in this state . Allowing Dental • 
Therapists to join the oral health care team has been a powerful tool in providing high quality, lower 
cost care for underserved populations in Minnesota and I'm confident that it can also be utilized 
successfully in North Dakota . 

This concludes my testimony. I would be happy to answer any questions you may have. Thank you. 

• 

• 
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Rea l Poss ibi l i t ies i n  

N o rth Da kota 
H B  1 426 - SU PPORT 

January 2 1 , 20 1 9  

House H u man Services Committee 

AARP North Dakota 

jaskvig@aarp.org or  70 1 -989-01 29 

mchaussee@aarp .org o r  701 -390-0 1 6 1  

Cha i rman Weisz , members of the  House H u man Services Committee ,  
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AARP is a non-profit, membersh ip organ izat ion with more than 88 , 000 members i n  North 

Dakota . Today, we a re here in support of House B i l l  1 426 and i ncreas ing access to denta l  

care for more North Dakotans .  

Denta l  access is a cha l lenge for o lder North Dakotans ,  especia l ly those l iv ing i n  ru ra l a reas .  

As resea rch beg ins  to emerge from other states that have accepted the p ractice of denta l 

the rapy we can 't he lp  but be excited about  some of the find i ngs .  A study from the M innesota 

Department of Hea lth and Board of Dent istry 

http://www. h ea lth . state . m n . us/d ivs/orhpc/workforce/o ra l/dt legisrpt .pdf shows patients trave l 

less d istance ,  wa it less t ime and go to the E R  less often now that they have p rovided 

access to denta l  the rap ists . 

Accord ing  to a study fu nded by the Otto Bremer Foundation , o lder  North Dakotans , 

part icu la rly those l iv ing i n  n u rs ing  homes ,  a re at r isk fo r not rece iv ing o ra l  hea lth care 

because of the i r  decreased mob i l ity or decl i n i ng  menta l  status ,  a lack of financia l resou rces 

to pay for ca re ,  and  the lack of portable denta l serv ice p rog rams in the state . 

Rece nt d emog raph ic statistics provided by North Dakota Compass shows e ig ht counties in  

North Dakota h ave an average age of 50 or  o lde r. Anothe r  20  have an average age of 40-

p lus ,  most of  those rang i ng in the h igh 40s .  That's a re levant statistic because these a re 

ru ra l cou nties where hea lth care access can be a cha l lenge , i nc lud ing access to denta l 

ca re .  Add ing anothe r  leve l of denta l  providers who can p rov ide m uch needed rout ine care to 

o lder  North Dakotans  . 
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Another issue tied to denta l  ca re for o lder  North Dakotans is cost. That's l a rge ly because 
there is a lack of access to afford ab le ,  rout ine denta l ca re for those on  Med ica re ,  because 
basic Med ica re does not cover rout ine denta l  ca re l i ke clean ings ,  fi l l i ngs ,  extract ions o r  
dentu res https ://med ica re . com/coverage/med icare-dental-coveraqe-for-sen io rs/ . P rovid ing 
services that cou ld come at a reduced cost wou ld benefit financia l ly vu lnerab le o lder  
peop le .  

P lease accept ou r  support for House B i l l  1 426 . 

Josh Askvig 
AARP North Dakota 

M ike Chaussee 
AARP North Dakota 
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Testimony of Dr. Donald Warne, Director of the Master of Public Health Program at the University of 
North Dakota School of Medicine & Health Sciences (SMHS) North Dakota House Human Services 

Committee, Monday, January 21, 2019 

Chairman Weisz and members of the committee, thank you for the opportunity to testify today 
regarding House Bill 1426 - that would author ize dental therapists to practice in specific settings. 

My name is Dr .  Donald Warne and I'm Director of the Master of Public Health P rogram at the University 
of North Dakota School of Medicine & Health Sciences. I also spent several years serving patients as a 
family p ractice physician. 

Two years ago, I offered s imilar testimony to the Senate Human Services Committee and spoke of the 
struggles our residents face. We did not then, and still do not today, have enough access to affordable, 
routine dental care. Dental disease is preventable and without enough practitioners our high volume of 
dental decay will persist. 

Our urban residents, rural residents and especially those North Dakotans l iving on reservations are no 
closer and no better off than before. According to our Board of Dental Examiners in 2016, 405 dentists 
practiced in the state -- along with 644 dental hygienists and 590 dental assistants. And of these 
professiona ls, 61 percent of dentists and 68 percent of dental assistants practiced in just four counties; 
Cass, Bu rleigh, G rand Forks, and Ward. Even in those counties, many kids on Medicaid a ren't getting the 
care they need. We are leaving too many North Dakota residents behind. North Dakota has one of the 
higher Medicaid reimbursement rates in the country and we are still have nearly 70% of these children 
not seeing a dentist. 

We need to address this healthcare crisis that exists in our state. This bill would allow dental therapists 
to practice in sliding-fee healthcare centers, federally qualified healthcare centers, t ribal clinics and a 
school-based health care setting. This position would practice under the supervision of a dentist, and it 
would allow dentists to practice at the top of their scope, and allow the dental therapist to drill and f ill 
cavities .  

R ight now, i t  also takes up to six months to see a dentist for those l iv ing on reservations, affecting 
children, adults, and seniors .  Half of American Indian thi rd graders today in North Dakota have 
untreated tooth decay, and 90% have experienced decay at some point in their short l ives. I cannot 
stress enough; lack of preventive oral health care is di rectly related to overall health. 

Additionally, here a re some key data: 

• BRFSS Data 2016: 43% of American Indian/ Alaska Natives reported a dental clinic visits (for any 
reason} compared to 69% of white non-H ispanic residents (66% of the overall state population; 
66% is the national average as well} - more concerning is this is the dental clinic v isit rate - not 
the rate of p reventive visits. It could be that these "visits" are t reatment based or emergent . 
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Cost of care is a s ignificant concern: Income is correlated with percentage of population witlf all 
teeth extracted. Example, 30% of adults ages 65+ with a household income of less than $15,000 
have had all their natural teeth extracted compared to only 6% of those with a household 
income of $50,000 + (BRFSS data, 2016) 

• 64% of those who did not visit a dentist in 2015 in North Dakota reported they did not visit the 
dentist more often because of "cost" - 28% indicated the primary reason for forgoing a dental 
visit in the last 12 months was because of " Inconvenient location or time" [ADA Health Pol icy 
Institute survey data, 2015 : 
[https ://www .ada.org/� /media/ ADA/Science%20a nd%20Resea rch/HP I/Ora I HealthWell-Being-
StateFacts/North-Dakota-Oral-Health-Well-Being.pdf] 

• The Recent data from the state's  Basic Screening Survey of third grade students isn't yet 
publ ically available, so drawing on data from the last cycle (2015 data) we know that: In 2015, 
roughly 73% of all third grade students in North Dakota had experienced decay, though only 
28% had untreated decay. The rate of untreated decay was s ignificantly* h igher for American 
Indian (51%), and other minority children (41%) than for their Caucas ian peers (24%) .  Compared 
to non-H ispanic White children, American Indian, and other minority third graders have: 

o Significantly lower rates of dental sealants . 
o Significantly higher prevalence of rampant decay. 
o Significantly higher need for early or urgent care. 

• Likewise, children attending lower income schools (>50% of children el igible for National School 
Lunch Program ( NSLP) have significantly higher rates of untreated decay, prevalence of rampant 
decay, and need for early or urgent dental care than students attending h igher income schools .  
[Figures are available here: https://ruralhealth.und.edu/assets/2507-9202/north-dakota-
ped iatric-o ra 1-hea lth-d ispa rities . pdf] 

• In 2015, the North Dakota Department of Health's screening survey identified roughly 93% of all 
third grade students in North Dakota had a toothbrush at home. While 96% of all non Hispanic 
White third grade students have a toothbrush, the same is true for only 49% of their American 
Indian peers. As a result, only 32% of American Indian youth had brushed their teeth on the day 
of assessment compared to 66% of non-H ispanic White adolescents .  

• The State has 23 Dental H PSAs and an additional 18 designated facil ity dental H PSAs 

In Alaska, the Dental therapist program is working. A new study was released by the Univers ity of 
Washington. Led by Donald Chi, D .D.S. , Ph. D., and funded by The Pew Charitable Trusts, the Rasmuson 
Foundation, and the W.K .  Kellogg Foundation, the study presents an analysis of patients in the Yukon
Kuskokwim Health Corporation (YKHC) from 2006 to 2015 . The YKHC, which is a part of the Alaska Tribal 
Health System, serves 25,000 Alaska Natives representing 58 federally recognized tribes. 

Dental therapists, akin to physician assistants in medicine, work under the supervis ion of a dentist and 
offer routine restorative and preventive services, including preparing and placing f i ll ings and performing 
simple tooth extractions. While U.S .  studies to date of dental therapists have exam ined care qual ity and 
patient access, this is the f irst known study to look at long-term outcomes of communities served by 
these practit ioners . 
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The study uses patient electronic health records and Medicaid claims data to uncover the key fi ndings . 
Researchers counted the total number of dental therapist treatment days provided in each community. 
They then compared communities with no dental therapist treatment days to those with the highest 
number of treatment days and found the fol lowing: 

For chi ldren under age 3, high exposure to dental therapists was associated with fewer extractions of 
the front four teeth. 

For chi ldren under age 18, high exposure to dental therapists was associated with receiving more 
preventive care (defined as an exam, cleaning, f luoride treatment, or a combined cleaning and fl uoride 
treatment) . 

Adults in communities with the highest denta l therapist visit days a lso had fewer extractions and more 
preventive care visits . 

Dental therapists were first employed in Alaska in 2004 to serve native communities. They have been 
authorized in Maine, Minnesota, and Vermont, and are a lso being used to care for Native American 
tribes in Wash ington and Oregon. In June 2017, the Alaska Native Tribal Health Consortium, which trains 
dental therapists, graduated its first student to begin practicing under pi lot authority on Native 
American tribal lands in Oregon. Several other states-including Arizona, Kansas, Maryland, 
Massachusetts, Michigan, New Mexico, North Dakota, and Ohio-are exploring the potential for 
authorizing dental therapy to expand access for the underserved . 

In summary, there is clearly a need for increased access to services among our American Indian 
population, Medicaid recipients, and rural and underserved communities. There are great programs l ike 
the M ission of Mercy - but I always exp la in that every person who l ines up for care at Mission of Mercy 
- people who stand in l ine for hours to receive dental treatment are a perfect example of where we 
have fai led in p roviding accessible dental care. 

Thank you . 
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Introduction 

Abstract 
Objectives: Dental Health Aide Therapists (DHATs) have been part of the dental 

workforce in Alaska's Yukon-Kuskokwim (YK) Delta since 2006. They are trained 

to provide preventive and restorative care such as filling and extractions. In this 

study, we evaluated community-level dental outcomes associated with DHATs. 

Methods: This was a secondary data analysis of Alaska Medicaid and electronic 

health record data for individuals in Alaska's YK Delta (2006-20 15 ) .  The 

independent variable was the number of DHAT treatment days in each community. 

Child outcomes were preventive care, extractions, and general anesthesia. Adult 

outcomes were preventive care and extractions. We estimated Spearman partial 

correlation coefficients to test our hypotheses that increased DHAT treatment days 

would be associated with larger proportions utilizing preventive care and smaller 

proportions receiving extractions at the community-level. 

Results: DHAT treatment days were positively associated with preventive care 

utilization and negatively associated with extractions for children and adults 

(P < 0.000 1 ) .  DHAT treatment days were not associated with increased dental 

treatment under general anesthesia for children. 

Conclusions: Dental therapists are associated with more preventive care and fewer 

extractions. State-level policies should consider dental therapists as part of a 

comprehensive solution to meet the dental care needs of individuals m 

underserved communities and help achieve health equity and social justice. 

Poor oral health is common in Alaska Native communities 

( 1 -3 ) .  Untreated tooth decay leads to pain, difficulties eating 

and sleeping, systemic diseases, hospitalization, and, in rare 

cases, death (4,5 ) .  Other consequences include school absen

ces, poor grades, low self-esteem, and employment problems 

(6-8) . There are persisting oral health inequalities in Alaska 

Native communities (9, 1 0 ) .  

acceptance i s  the only documented death linked to  water 

fluoridation in Hooper Bay, Alaska ( 1 5 ) .  Finally, Alaska 

Native communities are remote, making it difficult to pro

vide a regular, local source of dental care. Seeking care 

involves traveling long distances, usually by airplane. As a 

result, most individuals are unable to receive preventive care 

or needed restorative treatment. 

Tooth decay is a multifactorial disease l inked to a high 

sugar diet, inadequate fluoride, and poor access to dental 

care ( 1 1 ) . Sugar-sweetened beverages comprise a large por

tion of modern Alaska Native diets and have fueled the tooth 

decay epidemic ( 1 2, 1 3 ) .  In addition, piped-in water is not 

universal in Alaska Native communities, making water fluo

ridation costly ( 14 ) .  Further complicating local fluoride 

© 20 1 8  American Associat ion of Public Health Dentistry 

To begin addressing dentist shortages, the Alaska Native 

Tribal Health Consortium trained Dental Health Aide Thera

pists (DHATs) for deployment in areas like Alaska's Yukon

Kuskokwim (YK) Delta. The DHAT program is based on a 

model in place for decades in New Zealand and more than 50 

other countries ( 1 6, 1 7 ) .  The first DHATs began providing 

dental care in the YK Delta in 2006. DHATs are recruited 
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from local communities and are trained to provide preventive 

care as well as restorative care for primary teeth ( e.g. , fillings, 

crowns, pulp therapy, extractions) and permanent teeth (e.g. , 

simple fillings and extractions) under general supervision in 

local communities by dentists located in the hub city of 

Bethel ( 1 8 ) .  Dental therapists currently provide care in 

Alaska, Minnesota, and parts of Washington state and Ore

gon ( 1 9 ) .  Vermont and Maine have authorized the practice of 

dental therapy, and other states are considering similar legis

lation ( 1 9 ) .  

Studies have documented initial outcomes associated 

with the DHAT program in the YK Delta. DHATs provide 

care that is similar to care provided by dentists in terms of 

clinical quality (20,2 1 ) . Residents of YK Delta communities 

served by DHATs have reported shorter wait times for den

tal appointments and satisfaction with the care provided by 

DHATs (22 ) .  No studies to date have documented longer

term outcomes associated with this innovative workforce 

program. 

Persisting oral health inequalities in underserved com

munities underscore the importance of research aimed at 

advancing social justice ( 23 ) .  Dental therapists are part of 

an upstream approach that could help to address oral 

health inequalities by diversifying the dental workforce, 

removing barriers to care, and closing the health gap 

between individuals in resource-rich and resource-poor 

communities. 

The goal of this study was to evaluate YK Delta's DHAT 

program. The main research question was whether DHATs 

are associated with improved oral health outcomes since 

2006. We hypothesized that a larger number of DHAT treat

ment days would be associated with dental utilization 

patterns consistent with improved oral health over time (e.g. ,  

more preventive care, fewer extractions, less general anesthe

sia) .  This is based on two premises: I )  indigenous communi

ties have low rates of preventive care utilization and high 

rates of extractions and treatment under general anesthesia; 

and 2) dental therapists have the potential to influence these 

trends. The long-term goals of this research are to provide 

policymakers with information on existing dental therapy 

programs and to develop strategies to optimize the DHAT 

program. 

Methods 

Study location 

This study focused on communities served by the Yukon

Kuskokwim Health Corporation (YKHC).  Prior to 2006, 

patients traveled from remote communities to Bethel to 

obtain dental care. Dentists traveled to communities on an 

annual basis. DHATs work in decentralized Sub-Regional 

Clinics and travel to remote communities to provide care. 

Study design and data sources 
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This was a retrospective observational study (calendar years 

2006-20 15 ) ,  corresponding to the I O-year period in which 

DHATs started providing care under general supervision in 

the YK Delta to when the most recent data were available. 

The study was approved by the YKHC Human Studies Com

mittee and the University of Washington Institutional Review 

Board. 

There were two data sources. The first was Medicaid data 

provided by the Alaska Department of Health and Human 

Services. These consisted of data on I )  monthly enrollment 

(e.g., name, age, sex, address) and 2 )  dental claims, indicating 

all procedures for which a claim was submitted by a dental 

provider and corresponding dates of services. The second was 

electronic health record (EHR) data provided by the YKHC 

dental clinic. These data consist of diagnosis and treatment 

data for all YKHC patients who received any dental care dur

ing the study period. 

Classifying individuals into communities 

We classified individuals into a mutually exclusive YK Delta 

community for each study month. Of the 322,578 individuals 

in the Medicaid dataset, 22,645 lived in the YK Delta at some 

point during the I O-year study period. We used monthly 

address data to geocode these individuals using the Google 

Maps Geocoding APL There were 22,353 individuals with a 

geocodable address. Our geocoding algorithm accounted for 

individuals who moved within the YK Delta and YK Delta 

residents who lived outside of the YK Delta for at least I 

month during the study period. We reconciled address data 

for 1 ,034 individuals with overlapping dates of residence 

(e.g. , an individual listed as living in a community May I ,  

2007 to September 9 ,  2009 and July I ,  2008 to October 3 1 ,  

20 10 ) .  Twenty-seven individuals were excluded because of 

missing or invalid dates of residence. 

The resulting Medicaid dataset contained 22,326 unique 

individuals who lived in the YK Delta for at least 1 month 

during the study period. The resulting EHR dataset contained 

28,82 1 unique individuals who utilized dental care through a 

YKHC dental clinic at least once during the study period, all 

of whom were geocoded into a YK Delta community. 

Predictor variable 

The main community-level predictor variable was the total 

number of days in which a community had � l DHATs pro

viding care (DHAT treatment days ) .  This continuous variable 

was created from the EHR data. We identified all dental 

claims in the EHR dataset with a valid Current Dental Termi

nology (CDT) code submitted by a DHAT during the study 

period. For each day on which a DHAT provided dental care, 

the location of service ( as indicated in the EHR) was noted 

and counted as one DHAT treatment day. 

© 20 1 8  American Associat ion of Publ ic  Hea lth Dentistry 
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Outcome variables 

There were three child and two adult outcomes, each mea

sured at the community-level using both the Medicaid and 

EHR data. 

Chi ld outcomes 

a) Proportion of children < 18 years utilizing preventive care, 

defined as an exam (D0 120/D0 145/D0 1 50) ,  cleaning (Dl  1 10/ 

D l l 20) ,  fluoride (D l 203/D l 204/D l206/D l 208) ,  or cleaning 

and fluoride ( D l 20 1 /D l 205) .  b) Proportion of children <3  

years who had their four front teeth (D-E-F-G) extracted 

(D7 1 1 1 /D7 1 40 ) .  c) Proportion of children <6 years who 

received 2: 5  stainless steel crowns on a single day, a proxy 

measure of general anesthesia (D2930 ) .  

Adult outcomes 

d) Proportion of adults 2: 18 years utilizing preventive care, 

defined as an exam ( D0 120/D0 1 50) ,  cleaning (D l l lO ) , fluo

ride (D l204/D l 206) , or cleaning and fluoride (D l 205) .  

e )  Proportion o f  adults 2: 1 8  years with any tooth extraction 

(D7 1 1 1 /D7 1 40 ) .  

The two datasets had different denominators. For the 

Medicaid data, the yearly denominators consisted of individ

uals classified into a community and enrolled in Medicaid for 

2: 1 month during the calendar year. For the EHR data, the 

yearly denominators consisted of individuals who were classi

fied into a community and had at least one dental claim in 

the calendar year. 

Confounders 

We identified two potential confounders. The first was dentist 

treatment days, which is the total number of days in which 

communities had one or more dentists providing treatment. 

We identified all EHR dental claims submitted by a dentist 

and estimated the total number of treatment days provided 

by a dentist in each community. The second was baseline 

poverty, which accounted for potential differences in resour

ces and social conditions. Because there was no standardized 

community-level poverty measure, we adopted a proxy mea

sure from the US Census Bureau indicating the proportion of 

all individuals living below poverty in 1 999 in each commu

nity (potential range: 0 to 1 00) .  

Analyses 

The analyses were restricted to dental services provided within 

YK Delta communities. Location of service was unavailable in 

the Medicaid data. Therefore, we used the EHR data to deter

mine the location of service for each Medicaid dental service. 

We matched on name, sex, and date of birth. After excluding 

claims without a match, there were 1 3 ,8 10 unique individuals 

© 20 1 8 American Associat ion of Pub l ic  Health Dentistry 
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in the final analytic population for the Medicaid data. The 

EHR claims data included information on location of service. 

After removing claims associated with locations of service 

outside of the YK Delta, there were 28, 1 9 1  unique individuals 

in the final analytic population for the EHR data. 

We used Spearman partial correlation coefficients for 

the confounder analyses (24 ) .  Spearman partial correlation 

coefficients were used to evaluate our study hypotheses 

(e< = 0.05 ) ,  adjusting for dentist treatment days and base

line poverty. We adjusted for dentist treatment days to con

trol for background differences in dental care due to 

dentists and as a surrogate measure for other potential sec

ular trends in the availability of dental care. The analyses 

were aggregated by year for each community ( 48 communi

ties X 10 years, n = 480 ) ,  and generalized estimating equa

tions were used to account for clustering within village due 

to multiple observation years ( 25 ) .  Observations from dif

ferent villages were assumed to be independent. Three com

munities with small populations were excluded. We used 

SAS version 9.4 for the statistical analyses ( SAS Institute, 

Inc . ,  Cary, NC, USA) .  

Results 

Study communities 

There were 48 study communities. Sixteen communities had 

no dental services provided by a DHAT. The mean propor

tion of individuals at the community-level in 1999 that were 

below poverty was 28 percent ( range: 10.7 to 64.5 percent) . 

Predictor variable 

The predictor variable was the number of DHAT treatment 

days. In 2006, there were two practicing DHATs in the YK 

Delta. The number of DHATs increased to 10 by 20 1 5 . In the 

10-year period, there were a total of 9,0 1 2  DHAT treatment 

days. 

Chi ld outcomes 

Mean preventive utilization for children was 1 5.4 percent in 

the Medicaid data and 3 1 .8 percent in the EHR data (Table 1 ) .  

Over the 1 0  years, the proportion of children who received 

preventive care increased fivefold in the Medicaid data (7 .4 

to 35 .6  percent) and doubled in the EHR data ( 30 .5 to 57 .8 

percent) .  The mean proportion of D-E-F-G extractions for 

children was 3 . 1  percent in the Medicaid data and 1 4  per

cent in the EHR data. The proportion of D-E-F-G extrac

tions increased in Medicaid data ( 1 .9 to 1 6.3  percent) and 

decreased in the EHR data ( 1 9 .2 to 1 2 . 1  percent) .  The mean 

proportion of children utilizing dental care under general 

anesthesia was 5.4 percent in the Medicaid data and 5.7 per

cent in the EHR data. The proportion of children undergoing 
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Table 1 Denta l Ut i l ization for Ind iv idua ls  i n  Alaska 's  Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta by Yea r (2006 to 2 0 1 5 )  

Year (%)  A l l  
2006 2007 2008 2009 20 1 0 20 1 1 2 0 1 2 2 0 1 3 2 0 1 4  20 1 5 years (%)  

C h i ld  preventive denta l care, Medica id data 7 .4 9 . 0  1 0 . 7  8 .7  1 3 .4 1 3 . 3  1 7 . 7  2 1 . 1  30 .4 3 5 .6 1 5 .4 
C h i ld  preventive denta l care ,  EHR  data 30 . 5  24 .2  30 .4 29 . 5  35 .4  27 .4  3 5 .4 42 . 2  52 . 7  57 .8  3 1 . 8 
C h i ld  D-E-G-F extract ion ,  Medica id data * 1 .9 3 . 2  2 .3 2 . 7  2 . 9  3 .4 3 .4 5 .4  8 .0  1 6 .3  3 . 1  
C h i ld D-E-G-F extract ion ,  E H R  data 1 9 .2  20 . 1 20 .6 26.4 1 3 . 1  9 . 7  9 . 1  1 2 . 5  1 4 .4 1 2 . 1  1 4 .0  
Ch i l d  general anesthesia, Medica id data t 1 .6 2 .4 2 . 1  2 . 0  4.0 5 . 5  6 .4 7 .4  1 3 . 7  1 5 .8  5 .4  
C h i ld genera l anesthes ia ,  EHR  data 7 . 3  7 . 8  7 .6  7 . 7  8 . 1 5 . 9  5 . 6  5 . 9  6 . 3  4 .8 5 . 7  
Adult preventive denta l ca re, Medica id data 1 . 1 2 . 6  2 .6 2 . 5  3 .0  4 .3  4 . 3  5 . 6  8 . 5  6 .4  3 . 8  
Adult preventive denta l ca re, EHR  data 24 .0 1 9 . 8  1 5 .7 1 6 .7  24.4 22 .8  20 . 7  28 .9  36 .9  35 . 3  1 8 . 7  
Adult extract ion ,  Medica id data 6 .6  8 .9  7 . 3  6 .6 8 . 1  6 .9  7 .8 7 . 6  1 0 .7  1 0 .3  7 .8  
Adult extract ion ,  EHR  data 34 .5  32 .7  3 3 .2 33 .7  3 1  . 9  29 .2  2 7 . 5  29 . 1 3 1 .0 30 .9  3 2 . 9  

*There were no tooth numbers ava i lab le i n  t h e  Medica id data . Therefore, th is measure was defi ned as four  extract ions on the same day .  
tThere were no tooth numbers ava i l ab le  i n  the Medica id data .  Therefore, th is measure was def ined as  five or more sta i n less stee l  crowns on the 
same day. 

general anesthesia increased in the Medicaid data ( 1 .6 to 1 5.8 

percent) and decreased in the EHR data (7 .3 to 4 .8 percent) .  

Adult outcomes 

Mean preventive dental care utilization for adults was 3 .8 per

cent in the Medicaid data and 18 .7  percent in the EHR data 

(Table 1 ) .  Adult preventive care utilization in the Medicaid 

data started at 1 . 1  percent (2006 ) ,  peaked to 8.5 percent 

( 20 14 ) ,  and decreased to 6.4 percent (20 1 5 ) .  For the EHR 

data, preventive utilization fluctuated during the 1 0-year 

study period, starting at 24 percent (2006) and ending at 35 .3 

percent (20 1 5 ) .  The mean proportion of adults with extrac

tions was 7 .8 percent in the Medicaid data and 32.9 percent 

in the EHR data. Adult extractions fluctuated in both data

sets, increasing from 6.6 to 1 0.3 percent in the Medicaid data 

and decreasing from 34.5 to 30.9 percent in the EHR data. 

Confounder analyses 

Dentist treatment days were positively associated with the 

predictor (p = 0.3 1 ;  P <  0.000 1 )  and significantly associated 

with most outcomes (Table 2 ) .  Baseline poverty was not 

Table 2 Spearman Corre lat ion Coeffic ients for Model Confounders 

Dentist treatment days 
(Medica id data) 

Dentist treatment days 
( EHR  data) 

Base l i ne poverty 
(Medica id data) 

Base l ine poverty 
( EHR  data) 

Spearman corre lat ion coeff ic ients 
P-va lues 

C h i ld preventive Ch i ld D-E-F-G 
dental ca re extract ion 

0 .33  0 . 2 1 
<0 .000 1 <0 .00 1  

0 .25  0 . 1 3  
<0 .00 1  0 .09 
- 0 . 1 2  -0 . 1 6  
<0 .00 1  <0 .0 1 
- 0 . 1 5  -0 . 1 8  
<0 .001  <0 .0 1  

associated with the predictor (p = - 0. 1 2 ; P =  0.53)  but sig

nificantly associated with most outcomes (Table 2 ) .  

Main statistica l analyses 

Across the I O-year study period in both EHR and Medicaid 

datasets, increased DHAT treatment days were positively 

associated with child and adult preventive care, and nega

tively associated with extractions for children and adults 

(Table 3 ) .  From the EHR data, DHAT treatment days were 

negatively associated with treatment under general anesthesia 

for children, but this association was not statistically signifi

cant in the Medicaid data. 

Discussion 
This is first known study to evaluate long-term outcomes 

associated with DHATs. The main finding is that increased 

DHAT treatment days were positively associated with preven

tive care utilization and negatively associated with extrac

tions. These trends suggest that dental outcomes have 

improved in Alaska's YK Delta with the introduction of 

Ch i l d  general Adu lt  p reventive Adu lt  
anesthesia denta l care extract ion 

0. 1 6  0 .3 1 0 .02 
0 .0 1  <0 .00 1 0 . 78  
0. 1 7  0 . 26  -0 . 22  
0 .03 <0 .00 1 <0 .0 1  

-0 . 1 8  - 0 . 1 0  -0 . 00 1  
<0 .0001 0 . 0 1  0 . 5 3  
-0 . 1 6  -0 . 20  0 .00 1 
<0 .0 1  <0 .00 1 0 . 9 1  
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proportions of individuals utilizing preventive care and lower 

proportions utilizing invasive dental treatment (Table 4 ) .  Dif

ferences were similar in the EHR data although the magni

tudes were larger. These findings suggest that clinically 

meaningful improvements in dental use can be achieved by 

incorporating DHATs into the care delivery system. Potential 

challenges to maintaining a cadre of active DHATs include 

difficulties with recruitment, preventing provider burn out, 

and managing provider preferences for communities that 

may not be the areas of greatest need - all of which are similar 

difficulties in retaining dentists in underserved areas (27-29 ) .  

These issues should be explored through research involving 

current and former DHATs so that recruitment and retention 

strategies can be improved. 

DHATs appear to have an impact on the dental care deliv

ery system. Over the 1 0-year period, 1 3  DHATs provided 

9,0 1 2  treatment days in the YK Delta, compared to 23,368 

days of treatment provided by 41 full-time dentists and 1 4  

per diem dentists. The mean number o f  treatment days pro

vided by each DHAT was slightly higher than dentists, but the 

number of patients treated and the complexity of care are 

likely to be different. 

One goal of the DHAT program is to address pent up 

demand for emergency and routine dental care needs, which 

should level off over time. As this happens, one would expect 

DHATs to spend more of their time on prevention efforts 

that go beyond the clinic setting. This could come in the 

form of community- and home-based behavioral and social 

interventions aimed at reducing sugared sweetened beverages 

and improving toothbrushing with fluoridated toothpastes. 

Evidence-based preventive efforts could be incorporated into 

the scope of dental therapy practice, which might be particu

larly effective in indigenous communities because of cultural 

concordance between DHATs and community members. 

Future research should assess how community-level dental 

care needs change as dental therapists are integrated into the 

local delivery care system, and characterize the proper balance 

for DHATs between restorative and preventive activities based 

on changing community needs. The ultimate goal is to ensure 

that dental therapy programs do not simply replicate the 

existing dental care delivery system that focuses primarily on 

clinic-based treatment and that dental therapists and dentist 

are providing care that optimizes health outcomes at the low

est cost possible. 

Policymakers considering dental therapy legislation are 

increasingly interested in outcomes data. One example is cost 

effectiveness. A recent simulation study from the United 

Kingdom found that mid-level dental providers working in a 

public dental care delivery system can be a dominant strategy 

over dentists ( i .e . ,  improved outcomes at a lower cost) ( 30) . 

These findings may be applicable to the YK communities. 

Additional cost-effectiveness analyses would help to provide 

answers applicable to the US context. 

(I f:_!/1?1-� P- // 
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Our study findings support dental therapists as part of an 

upstream approach to help address oral health inequalities 

and achieve social justice (23 ) .  Dental therapists in the YK 

Delta have diversified the dental workforce, created opportu

nities for community members to serve as healers, and 

removed cultural barriers to care - important steps in achiev

ing health equity and social justice within indigenous 

communities. 

The main study strength is that we had two longitudinal 

data sources. However, there are at least six limitations. First, 

this was an observational study. All findings are associations. 

Causal inferences can only be drawn from randomized clinical 

trials, but such trials are unlikely because of cost. In addition, 

there are ethical considerations in withholding care that has 

been shown to be safe and effective. Second, there is the poten

tial for selection bias. We attempted to address this problem by 

adjusting for confounders. However, baseline poverty in 1999 

may not accurately measure differences in resources across 

communities, particularly because the study period began in 

2006. Future work should continue to refine the models by 

identifying and operationalizing additional covariates. 

Third, there were differences between the two datasets. Uti

lization trends were consistent, but Medicaid proportions 

were generally lower than EHR proportions (Table I ) .  One 

reason is that the annual Medicaid denominators included all 

enrollees regardless of utilization. When we restricted the 

Medicaid analyses to those who utilized care, the proportions 

between the two datasets converged. For instance, Medicaid 

preventive care use in 20 1 5  increased to 65.5 percent for chil

dren and 35.6 percent for adults. 

Fourth, there was a relatively low match for location of ser

vice in the Medicaid data, which raises potential concerns 

regarding generalizability. We compared demographic and 

util ization differences between the 1 3 ,8 10  retained and 8,5 1 6  

excluded Medicaid enrollees. There were n o  differences i n  sex 

or age distribution between retained and excluded enrollees. 

Proportions of retained children and adults who utilized pre

ventive care utilization were higher, whereas there were no 

consistent differences in D-E-F-G extractions, dental treat

ment under general anesthesia, or adult extractions. These 

findings make it difficult to draw definitive conclusions 

regarding the degree of systematic bias represented in the 

retained Medicaid enrollees. Future studies should develop 

methods to increase the proportion of matches between indi

viduals in Medicaid and EHR data as well as ways to impute 

location of service for Medicaid enrollees when matching is 

not possible. 

Fifth, our study focused on utilization. We did not assess 

other outcomes like unmet dental care needs, disease pre

vented, or quality-of-life .  Future studies should be conducted 

to evaluate ways dental therapists can help improve patient

centered outcomes. In addition, qualitative work within com

munities of varying degrees of DHAT treatment days could 
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Table 3 Spearman Part i a l  C orre lat ion Coeff ic ients Between DHAT Treatment Days (Conti nuous Va r iab le) and Each Outcome Du ring 1 0-Year 
Study Per iod Based on Medica id and EHR Data 

Spea rman part ia l  correlat ion coeff ic ients* 
P-va l ues 

Ch i ld preventive C h i l d  D-E-F-G 
DHAT treatment days dental care extract ion 

Med ica id  data 0 .23  - 0 . 1 7  
<0 .000 1 0 .03 

EHR data 0 .26  -0 .28  
<0 .000 1 <0 .0001  

* Adjusted for  dent ist treatment days and  base l i ne  poverty . 

dental therapists. These results are consistent with a study 

reporting positive associations between pediatric dentist den

sity and preventive dental care use for children in Medicaid 

(26) .  

There are a number of potential explanations. The most 

plausible mechanism underlying increased preventive care 

utilization is improved local access to providers, which may 

have also increased patient demand for care. This is consistent 

with previous work indicating reduced patient-reported wait 

times for dental appointments in YK communities ( 22 ) .  

Fewer extractions could indicate improvements in  oral health 

behaviors and beliefs, as well as earlier restorative interven

tion before the need for extractions. These mechanisms could 

be assessed in the future by further examining restorative 

claims data and conducting interviews in communities, and 

comparing oral health behaviors and beliefs across communi

ties that vary on DHAT treatment days. Similar interviews 

could be conducted with DHATs and dentists to measure 

provider perceptions of how patient attitudes, beliefs, and 

behaviors regarding oral health have changed over time. 

We had inconsistent findings regarding general anesthesia 

for children. DHAT treatment days were negatively associated 

with general anesthesia in the EHR data but not significant in 

Ch i ld genera l Adu l t  p reventive Adu l t  
anesthes ia denta l  ca re extract ion 

0.05 0 .20  - 0 . 1 6  
0 .45 <0 .00 1 0 .02 

- 0.27  0 . 30  -0 .46 
<0 .000 1 < 0 .0001  <0 .000 1 

the Medicaid data. There are two possible explanations for 

this discrepancy. First, population characteristics differed 

across the two datasets. The EHR data consisted of individu

als who utilized dental care, whereas the Medicaid data 

included all enrollees regardless of utilization of dental care. 

Second, the Medicaid-based outcome could be misspecified 

due to lack of tooth-level data. There was a near doubling in 

the proportion of children in the Medicaid data receiving 

dental care under general anesthesia between 20 1 3  and 20 14, 

which was not observed in the EHR data. A conservative con

clusion is that increased DHAT treatment days were not asso

ciated with increased proportions of children receiving dental 

care under general anesthesia. Future research should con

tinue to examine the associations between DHAT treatment 

days and child general anesthesia. 

Improvements in dental utilization were particularly 

noticeable in communities where DHATs had the greatest 

presence. In post-hoc subgroup analyses, we identified com

munities in which DHATs did not provide any dental treat

ment (N=  16 )  and communities in which the DHAT 

treatment day to population ratio was > 75th percentile 

(N = 7) .  Across both datasets, communities with the highest 

DHAT treatment days exhibited consistently greater 

Table 4 Percentage Point D ifferences i n  Outcomes Between Commun ities with No DHAT Treatment Days a nd  the H i ghest Num ber of D HAT 
Treatment Days 

No DHAT treatment day 
commun it ies 
N = 1 6  (%)  

Med ica id  data 
C h i l d  preventive denta l care 1 5 . 5  
C h i l d  D-E-F-G extract ion 7 .3 
C h i l d  genera l anesthes i a  7 .9  
Adu l t  prevent ive denta l care 3 . 2  
Adu lt  extract ion 9.6 

EHR  data 
C h i l d  preventive denta l care 30 . 5  
C h i ld  D-E-F-G extract ion 22 . 6  
C h i l d  genera l anesthesia 8 . 5  
Adult prevent ive denta l ca re 1 5 .3  
Adu lt extract ion 40 . 5  

© 20 1 8 American Associat ion o f  Publ ic  Health Dentistry 

H ighest DHAT treatment 
day commun it ies 
N = 7  (% )  

24 .8 
1 .9 
5 . 5  
5 . 6  
7 . 1  

46.9 
7 .4 
5 .4 

2 7 . 1  
2 7 . 0  

Percentage point d ifference 
between h ighest and no DHA T 
treatment day commun it ies (% )  

9 . 3  
- 5 .4 
- 2 .4 

2 . 4  
- 2 . 5  

1 6 .4 
- 1 5 . 2  

- 3 . 1  
1 1 . 8 

- 1 3 . 5  
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reveal other important differences associated with care pro

vided by DHATs. 

Sixth, dental care is not a panacea. Preventive care utiliza

tion was generally low even in recent years. This underscores 

the importance of targeting behaviors relevant in oral health 

such as limiting sugar intake and optimizing fluoride expo

sure. Future work should examine how preventive behaviors 

and norms within Alaska Native communities are influenced 

by the presence of DHATs. There is a need for evidence-based 

strategies that can be incorporated into the Alaska Native 

dental care delivery system to help providers like DHATs pro

mote patient-level behavior change. This is especially relevant 

in the YK Delta in which DHATs maintain familial ties, share 

a common history, and understand the strengths and 

challenges as experienced by local populations. The eventual 

goal would be to harness the dental care delivery system as a 

way to improve oral health behaviors among individuals and 

norms within families and communities. 

Conclusions 
Our results provide evidence of  positive benefits associated 

with dental therapists within underserved communities. 

These promising findings are relevant to policymakers in 

states with active or pending dental therapy legislation, which 

is a step toward meeting the dental care needs of vulnerable 

populations and achieving oral health equity and social 

justice. 
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Good Afternoon  Chai rman Weisz and mem bers of the House Human Services Com m ittee, my 

name is Will iam Sherw in  and I am the Executive Di rector  of the North Dakota Dental Associat ion 

(NO DA) . I am here today to present test imony i n  oppos it ion to HB 1426. As the NODA, we represent 

over 400 dent ists across the state of North Dakota, of which, 97% oppose the dental therapy model and 

its i m plementat ion  i n  North Dakota. With your permiss ion Chai rman Weisz, followi ng my test imony, I 

would l ike to i nv ite Dr .  Steven Deisz to present his test imony on  behalf of the NODA from a cl i n ical 

expert perspect ive. 

Dental therap ists, with cons iderably less trai n i ng than a dentist, have been proposed as a 

solut ion  to reduce barriers to care i n  North Dakota. With l im ited experience from only one state, 

Mi n nesota, there is m i n imal evidence that it i m proves qual ity of care, imp roves access to care, or 

reduces costs, particularly i n  a rural state l ike North Dakota. We need to aff i rm that all North Dakotans, 

• 
regardless of socio-economic status, deserve qual ity dental care from the highest-trai ned profess ionals. 

• 

Further, though well- i ntentioned, dental therapy's proposed focus on  low-i ncome and underserved 

pat ients i ncent iv izes discrim i nat ion and puts the neediest, most complex cases, a step further from a 

dentist .  The North Dakota Senate i n  2015 a nd the North Dakota House i n  2017, aga in  aff i rmed our 

pos it ion that the dental therapy model is not the right solut ion for North D�kota for the following 

reasons :  

1. Young Dentists and New Graduates are Choosing North Dakota More Than Any Other State 

North Dakota leads the country i n  the net i n-m igrat ion of dentists. When com pared to our 

neighbor ing states, our dental workforce is growing at two to three t imes the rate of our neighbor's 

dental workfo rce. This leading growth in our dental workforce even accounts fo r our drastic populat ion 

growth over thi s  t ime. Further, this i n-m igrat ion of  dentists is populated by younger dentists who are 

quickly locat ing  and replacing our agi ng dental workforce faster than they are reti ri ng. The dental 

workforce market i n  our state' is robust, adequate and arguably over-saturated. The free market is 

work ing  and l icens ing an additional m id level , provider is not ne�ded, particularly given the lack of 

evidence how this  new provider would benefit North Dakota patients . 

Please see attached demographic and m igrat ion  i nformation .  
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2. North Dakota Collaborative Partners and North Dakota Solutions 
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The NODA continuously partners with organizations, state health officials, and North Dakota's dental 

community to provide education, prevention, collaboration, and outreach in North Dakota. These 

collaborative pa rtnerships drive the real change through a variety of avenues in our state. The 

partnerships and applications vary from outreach and education to prevention and clinical care. 

The NODA advocated for the "Smiles for Life" curriculum to be recognized and implemented in 

North Dakota. This curriculum provides dental education and allows doctors, advanced p ractice RNs, 

physician assistants, RNs and licensed p ractical nurses to apply fluoride varnish. Since its's inception, the 

"Smiles for Life" curriculum has been taught in 54 clinics and to 256 health professionals treating 

patients in Local Public Health Units, Long Term Care Facilities, and medical clinics across the state. 

Another collaborative program showing dramatic results is the Seal ! ND P rogram. This p rogram provides 

low-income students with dental screening, sealant placements and fluoride varnish applications by 

hygienists. There are 112 North Dakota schools currently participating in the program, of which 49 are 

served by private practice dentists . 

North Dakota dentists continuously volunteer to give back in their communities. Through Donated 

• 

Dental Services, 875 North Dakota Patients have received more than $3 million in donated services from • 
126 dentists and 11 dental labs in North Dakota. In 2018 on "Give Kids a Smile" day alone, dental 

hygiene/assistant students and pediatric dentist volunteers at the North Dakota State College of 

Sciences ( NDSCS) donated $17,000 of services to North Dakota children. Even though Medicaid 

reimbursement fees are less than the cost of care, 75 North Dakota dentists pledged to take more 

dental Medicaid patients. Most amazingly, on September 28-29 of 2018, the NODA organized our fi rst 

ND Mission of Mercy in Bismarck. At this free dental care event, 110 dentists, 48 hygienists, 105 dental 

assistants and 4 lab techs provided an estimated $564,964 of dental care for 916 individuals. 

The NODA supports and pa rtners with our five p ublic health safety net clinics to p rovide dental 

homes for the underserved. These clinics also partner with their local hospitals on E R  Diversion 

programs for next-day care. Public loan repayment programs help recruit dentists to these clinics, rural 

and other underserved areas. The Ronald McDonald Care Mobile provided $572,868 worth of dental 

ca re to over 1000 children in western North Dakota with their state-of-the-art mobile dental clinic. 

The North Dakota Dental Foundation ( NDDF) was boosted with a $6.3 million dollar endowment in 

2015. These funds are used to remove barriers to dental care, provide prevention and education in our 

state. Grants have been awarded to provide outreach in North Dakota schools and on North Dakota • 



• 

• 

• 

tribal lands. The NDDF has also worked on education programs and oral health career advocacy to 

ensure a robust dental team workforce in our state. 
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This education, prevention, collaboration, and outreach in North Dakota is the true solution to 

solving North Dakota's oral health problems. We welcome the help and support of the North Dakota 

legislature with these continued programs and partnerships to maintain and accelerate the changes we 

all wish to see in oral health outcomes. Our solutions must be based in just as much evidence as which 

we require in defining our problems. Only through these evidence-based proven solutions will we find 

the measurable results we all desire to produce . 

Please see attached North Dakota Oral Health Programs and Partners. 

3. Oral Health In North Dakota: The North Dakota Barriers and Solutions 

Over the course of many years working toward providing quality care, the NODA has identified 

barriers to care unique to North Dakota. Addressing these barriers while promoting disease prevention 

is an ongoing effort that requ(res a collaborative a pproach among the dental community, state 

government, public health entities and patients . North Dakota-specific solutions should prioritize 

patient outreach and case management . 

One solution to barriers to' care is expanding and supporting our nonprofit clinics and other outreach 

programs. The NODA collaborates with ou·r 5 existing nonprofit ciinics and our state Oral Health Program 

on many of their programs across the state. Community Dental Health Coordinators are currently 

practicing in North Dakota and more are undergoing training to expand our reach into underserved 

areas. 

A second solution is to improve dental Medicaid. In order for the state to expand outreach, we 

should adopt existing teledentistry and case management codes for reimbursement . We need to recruit 

Medicaid dentists through innovative marketing programs and streamline administrative process to 

mair;itain dentist retention. And most impQrtantly, we must work .to close the ga p in dental Medicaid 

reimbursement to encourage- continued dentist participation. , , ·• 

r ' . . . ·  .• • . . \ ' • 

· A third solution is to maxlrtlize our existing dental team workforce .  Dental lo'an repayment 

pro'grams, created in part by the NODA, help recruit new dentisti and encourage them to practice in 

underserved areas of our state. A colla borative effort among the NODA, NDDF, and NDSCS is focused on 

recruiting and training in-demand dental assistants. These assistants and dental hygienists would benefit 
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from an Expanded Restorative Functions Course to expand the functions they could p rovide and 

increase the productivity of their accompanying dentists. 
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Our final solution is to improve access to care for our tribal communities. The NODA led a national 

effort with US Senator John Hoeven to address the IHS credentialing p rocess to standardize its p rotocol. 

We continue to partner with the tribes and provide support to tribes electing to go "638" status. 

Specifically, when the Spirit Lake Clinic lost its IHS dental provider in the summer of 2016, the NODA 

recruited four dentists to assist until a new full-time dentist was hired. Finally, we must continue to 

connect our tribes with local dentists and other dental services to not only augment their dental 

workforce but also improve their efficiency to identify additional dental resources. 

By tackling these barriers through many of the proposed solutions, we as a collaborative team, can 

continue to make the changes we all wish to see for oral health in North Dakota. This is an ongoing 

effort and we must continue to focus our time and resources on solutions that work and not the 

distraction that is dental therapy. Our focus should be on a broader discussion of North Dakota-specific 

solutions which should prioritize patient outreach and case management. 

Please see attached North Dakota Oral Health Barriers and Solutions. 

4. Dental Therapy: A Costly and Unproven Approach in Minnesota and Around the World 

There is minimal evidence that dental therapy improves quality of care, improves access to care, or 

reduces costs, particularly in a rural state like North Dakota. Not only is dental therapy not the solution 

for North Dakota, but it has also turned out to be a costly and failed experiment in both Minnesota and 

around the world. The North Dakota legislators agreed in 2015 and 2017 that dental therapy is not the 

right solution for North Dakota. 

In Minnesota, after 8 years only about 5-15 dental therapists practice in designated rural areas of 

the state with most of them practicing in the Twin Cities Metro. Since Minnesota has enacted its dental 

therapy legislation their Medicaid children have not benefited from any increase in access to dental 

services. In fact, Minnesota is doing so poorly in p roviding dental care to their children that the federal 

government put the state on notice that they are at risk of having federal Medicaid money withheld. 

When looking at the data it is quite clear that while the Pew Foundation and its allies declare 

Minnesota's dental therapist experiment a spectacular success, it really is nothing more than negligible 

evidence not backed by true clinical statistical data. 

• 
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Dental therapy in Canada failed without government subsidies and many of the existing programs in 

• the U.S. rely on support through state subsidies or special inte rests to survive. The Vermont law allowing 

dental the rapists has received hundreds of thousands of dollars from the WK Kellogg Foundation to 

develop a plan in the state ... a plan that is still not functional three years later. Similar to the failed 

Canadian program, Minnesota dental therapists are abandoning underse rved rural communities to seek 

higher wages in urban areas. Simply put, these programs do not work and have shown the need for 

government or  grant subsidies to be viable. In Minnesota, implementation of dental the rapy has cost 

the state ove r  $215,000 in unanticipated costs (Minnesota Board of Dentistry minutes 2010 - 2014) . 

This process would reduce governmental efficiency by regulating a scope of practice that duplicates 

procedures al ready allowed for dentists with no results or cost savings for patients. We cannot afford to 

waste the time and state funds for a midlevel p rovide r model that is unproven and will not increase oral 

health outcomes for North Dakotans. 

Please see attached independent third-party studies of Minnesota and Canadian P rograms. 

5. Dental Therapy Pilot Projects on Oregon Tribes FAIL Site Visits 

SB 738, approved in the 2011 in Oregon, permits the Oregon Health Authority (OHA) to approve 

• pilot projects to explore new roles in Oregon's oral health workforce, allowing individuals to practice 

dentistry or dental hygiene within the restrictions of an approved pilot project without a license or 

outside of the scope of their license. Pilot P roject #100: allows Dental Health Aide Therapists (DHAT), a 

new mid-level p rovide r, to practice in tribal dental clinics. There remain many conce rns about the 

project's ove rall integrity and ability to produce empirical evidence and measurable outcomes. There 

also remain significant patient safety and technical concerns. The project failed a site visit at its Native 

American Rehabilitation Association (NARA) clinic with a range of serious issues from lack of patient 

informed consent to DHATs pe rforming extractions outside of their approved scope of practice. While 

there was acknowledgement from both parties that the site visit documented sufficient reasons to end 

the P roject, a legal stipulated agreement was signed with defined parameters that must be met moving 

forward. 

Please see attached public OHA failed site visit documents. 

6. Dental Therapy Level of Training Not Comparable or Adequate for Irreversible Procedures 

Dental the rapists with three years of training are not prepared at the level of their dental pee rs and 

• should not be providing irreversible procedu res with an unprecedented reduction in supe rvision. In 



depth discussion and differentiation to show the clearly inadequate level of t raining for the procedures 

to be provided by dental therapists will be discussed by our clinical representative Dr. Steven Deisz who 

will be following my testimony. He will cover the distinctions of dental therapy and dental curriculum. 

Further, he will also clarify the differences between midlevel providers within the medical and dental 

worlds. Finally, he will explain the dire ramifications of placing the neediest patients with the most 

complex medical, behavioral and dental needs in front of the least trained p rofessional for dental care. 

Through his testimony it will be readily evident that dental therapists should not be p roviding care to 

any North Dakotans, especially the underserved. 

rf t3 / l/r)../p 
# 1a 

1/'J- 1 / 1 °1  
P"'-/ � (p 

Please hold questions for Dr. Steven Deisz as our clinical representative. 

7. Cost of Care is NOT Reduced for Patients or the State 

Dental therapists are frequently cited as making dental care more affordable for patients. This is 

false. Insurers, patients and the state pay set fees for dental procedures, regardless of who performs 

them. There is zero cost savings under the dental therapy model to either the patient or the state. 

Patients and public assistance programs will be paying the same price for p rocedures that will be 

performed by lesser trained professionals. Is this something that we as a state want to incentivize for 

• 

treatment to our underserved and tribal communities? We at the NODA believe that all patients deserve • 
and need to be treated by a dentist. Especially our underserved and tribal communities who are dealing 

with complex medical , behavioral and dental issues. 

8. Dental Therapy Legislation is Inconsistent in Definitions, Scope, Education and Oversight 

The definition of a dental therapist varies wildly depending on where you are. The inconsistencies in 

definition, scope, education and oversight make it difficult to make accurate predictions of the potential 

success or failure of a new state program. HB 1426 defines a "Federally qualified health center look

alike." What are these facilities and what does this mean? Is this really something we want to define 

within North Dakota Century Code? The bill requires the NDBODE to recognize CODA (Council on Dental 

Accreditation) accredited programs when in fact, the only two training programs that exist national are 

in Minnesota and NEITHER are accredited. The fall back clause requires the board to recognize 

education programs "approved by a regulatory board of another jurisdiction." What does that mean? 

What dental therapists are we talking about? Are we comfortable approving any "midlevel p rovider" 

that has drastically different training from any jurisdiction? 

• 
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The scope of p ractice accounts for a list of procedures plus "other related services and functions /Ja.;� 1 

that are authorized by the supervising dentist within the dental therapist's scope of practice and for 

which the dental therapist is trained." What does this mean? Are we to include any and all "services and 

functions" f rom any educational program recognized by the regulatory body of another j u risdiction? Do 

we know the extent of potential programs and procedu res taught in  these wildly varying programs? Are 

we now forced in North Dakota to recognize these procedures? 

F u rther, u nder HB 1426 these recognized providers from any j u risdiction would only be required to 

practice 500 hou rs (3 months) under clinical supervision of a dentist before practicing u nder general 

supervision .  What does this mean? As the bill states on page five, "a dental therapist may . . .  perform 

dental services in a practice setting at which the supervising dentist is not onsite and has not previously 

examined or diagnosed the patient. The supervising dentist m ust be available for consultation by 

telephone or other means of e iectronic comm unication . "  So, we are now al lowing dental therapists to 

provide any procedure they have been trained for, through drastical ly different educational programs, 

in any foreign jurisdiction, and after 500 hours we deem them capable of practicing remotely 

anywhere within our state, while the dentist could be anywhere in the world so long as they are 

accessible by electronic means? We are confident this is not the solution for North Dakota and it 

definitely is not one that the NDDA or North Dakota patients will support for the delivery of dental care 

in our  state. The answer from the NDDA and our over 400 member dentists is a resounding NO. 

Please see attached highlighted HB 1426. 

9 .  Oppose HB 1426 and give it a Do Not Pass Recommendation 

Dental therapy is an unproven one-size-fits-all model that is failing i n  other states. There is 

minimal evidence that dental therapy reduces costs or improves quality or  access to care, particularly in 

a ru ra l  state like North Dakota. North Dakodns, regardless of socio-economic status, deserve quality 

denbl care from the highest ,tfained professionals . HB 1426 with its focufon low-income and 
,., ' • ,. • � • ' I 

u nderserved patients incentivizes discrimination and puts the neediest, most complex cases, a step 

fu rther f rom a dentist . We m·Jst continue'to partner and focu� on education, prevention, collaboration, 

a�d outreach specific to our ;tate which a re strategies that are d.irrently 'showing positive results . For 

these reasons, I would ask the committee to please oppose HB 1426 and reaffirm the decisions made 

by the 2015 North Dakota Senate and the 2017 North Dakota House of Representatives . 
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Over the  past two years, we have had the opportu n ity to p rov ide denta l services at Sp i rit Lake p:l f e V' 
Reservat ion i n  Fort Totten, North Dakota . Th i s  has  been a reward ing  exper ience work ing with 

great peop le, both co-workers and  patients. To say that there i s  a need for oral h ea lth  care 

wou l d  be an u nde rstatement .  Denta l care and ora l hygiene  i n struct ion (educat ion )  i s  much 

needed . Un fo rtunate ly, it i s  very com mon to have ram pant d ecay i n  p re-school  aged ch i l d ren 

a n d  a lso h avi ng  to extract permanent teeth i n  s ix yea r-o lds .  

At Sp i r it La ke, we a re fortunate to have a more than adequate n u m ber  of d ent ists to provide  

denta l  ca re .  There a re currently two fu l l -t ime dent ists and  s ix part-t ime  dent ists. Access to  care 

is  N OT an i ssue .  The lack of educat ion and ut i l i zat ion of denta l  services ava i l ab l e  i s  p reva lent 

a nd  u nfort unate ly w ide-spread .  Lack of t ra nsportat ion services i s  a lso a n  i ssue .  

H av ing  no  registered and  cert ified denta l ass istants i s  a l a rge bar r ie r  to effic iency and  qua l ity 

a nd  q u ant ity of denta l care provided .  Frequent ly, d ent ists a re e i ther  p rovi d i ng  denta l  ca re 

without an ass istant or a dent ist is  assist i ng  another  d ent ist who is p rovid i ng  care .  Shortage of 

denta l  ass istants, i n  our  op in ion, i s  the greatest barr ier in p rovid i ng  denta l ca re other  than the 

popu lat ion not ut i l i z i ng  the services provided .  Ora l  hea lthcare in  th i s  sett ing i s  react iona ry 

rather  than  p reventat ive i n  natu re .  Ca re i s  obta i ned  on ly when pa i n  and  i nfect ion i s  present .  A 

l ack  of denta l  hyg ien i sts is a l so a ba rr ier . The importance of wh ich is lack i ng  i n  th i s  sett ing as 

we l l ,  as i t  ha s  been p roven ora l  hea lth ca re i s  paramount in the over-a l l  hea l th  of an i nd ivi dua l .  

O u r  experi ence at Sp i rit Lake has  been very reward ing .  The popu l at ion i s  be i ng  we l l  served with 

the ca re a nd  expert ise provided . Our fru strat ions a re the unde r  ut i l i zat ion of the denta l services 

be ing  p rovided ,  the credent ia l i ng process, and  the l ess than  effic ient de l ivery of care . 
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Respectfu l l y  s ubm itted;  f¥'&e-7 . 
Robert C .  Lauf, J r, DDS Krist i n  Kenner, DDS 

Raymond Evan s, DDS Amy Ho l tan E l l i ngson ,  DDS 

Da le  Brewster, DDS Ch r is Schma ltz, DDS 

Wi l l i am  Johnson ,  DDS 

Dr .  Lauf i s  a pr ivate p ract ice dent i st i n  Mayvi l l e, ND .  He  i s  past-pres ident  of  the  No rth  Dakota 

Denta l Associat ion a nd  the  North Dakota Board of Denta l Exam ine rs .  He is p res i dent-e lect of 

the Western Regiona l  Exam i n i ng  Boa rd (WREB) .  He is a denta l  board exam i ne r  for two test i ng  

agenc ies i n  the  Un ited States .  

Dr .  Kenner  i s  a private pract ice dent i st i n  Devi l s  Lake, ND. She i s  past-pres ident of the North 

Dakota Denta l Assoc iat ion .  

Dr .  Evan s  i s  the Ch ief of  Denta l  Service at Sp i r it La ke Hea lth Center .  H e  p ract ices fu l l  t ime at 

Spi rit Lake Denta l  Center .  

Dr. E l l i ngson i s  a pr ivate pract ice dent i st in N ew Rockford, ND .  

Dr. Brewster i s  ret i red from private pract ice i n  Stan ley, ND .  He  i s  past-pres i dent o f  t he  North 

Dakota Boa rd of Denta l Exam ine rs .  Dr Brewster is a denta l  board exam i ne r  for a l l  f ive test i ng  

agenc ies  i n  the Un ited States. 

Dr. Schma ltz i s  a private pract ice dent i st in Fa rgo, N D . 

Dr .  Johnson  i s  a private pract ice dent ist i n  Moorhead, M N .  

• 
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Dental therapists, with considerably less training than a dentist, have been proposed as a 
solution to reduce barriers to care in North Dakota . With limited experience from only one 
state, Minnesota, there is minimal evidence that it improves quality of care, improves access to 
care, or reduces costs, particularly in a rural state like North Dakota . We need to affirm that all 
North Dakotans, regardless of socio-economic status, deserve quality dental care from the 
highest-trained professionals. Further, though well-intentioned, dental therapy's proposed 
focus on low-income and underserved patients incentivizes discrimination and puts the 
neediest, most complex cases, a step further from a dentist . The North Dakota Senate in 2015 
and the North Dakota House in 2017, again affirmed our position that the dental therapy model 
is not the right solution for North Dakota . We must continue to partner and focus on education, 
prevention, collaboration, and outreach specific to our state which are strategies that are 
currently showing positive results . 



• 
Denta l Therapy Model i n  ND Survey - FQHC/Commun ity C l i n ics (Dec 201 8 )  

• 

Q1. There is currently a proposal in North Dakota that would create a new type of licensed dental 

provider called a Dental Therapist (Mid-level provider) who would provide dental care to people who 

are going without care. A licensed Dental Therapist would be allowed to provide the following 

services - preventive services, local anesthesia administration, preparing teeth, removing caries, 

placing restorations, and extractions. Based on this description, how would you feel about this 

proposal: 

Strong ly  Favor: 1 

Favor: 0 

Oppose: 1 

Strong ly  Oppose : 8 

Comments: 

• The m i n ima l  tra i n i ng that the therapists rece ive is not u p  to the qua l ity standard that their patient's 

need/deserve 

• Th is has been tried i n  Man itoba and then cance l led a few years later. Cou ld they have the ab i l ity to 

write prescriptions without a thorough pharmacology cou,rse of study?_ 

• I don 't fee l  that someone without denta l  school experience shou ld be do ing i rrevers ib le treatment to 

teeth . People with the g reatest need for denta l  care a lso have the most comp lex cases wh ich wou ld 

need a d ent ist to treat. 

• Not necessary ;  if i nd iv_ iduals want to provide dental servi�es to the genera l  pub l ic they need to go to 

dental school and get l icensed . No reason to have a dental therapist i n  N D ;  bes ides supporting 

U M N .  

• Bottom l i ne  a denta l  therapist is under-tra ined and unable to provide SAFE care even if they are 

see ing  patients that wou ld not be a ble to be seen otherwise . 

. . ''/ • \  

, ! · · · 

A survey of North Dakota Dental Association Members conducted in October, 201 8 reports 97% of the membership 
oppose Dental Therapy in  ND; only 3% are i n  favor. This affi rms our continued stance as reported through surveys in 
201 4 and 20 1 6  which opposed this unproven model that is not backed by evidence or data . 



Denta l  Therapy Model i n  ND  Survey - I HS C l i n ics (Dec 201 8 )  

Q1. There is currently a proposal in North Dakota that would create a new type of licensed dental 

provider called a Dental Therapist (Mid-level provider) who would provide dental care to people who 

are going without care. A licensed Dental Therapist would be allowed to provide the following 

services - preventive services, local anesthesia administration, preparing teeth, removing caries, 

placing restorations, and extractions. Based on this description, how would you feel about this 

proposal: 

Strong ly Favor: 

Favor: 

Oppose: 

Strong ly Oppose: 

Comments :  

0 

0 

1 

5 

• The services l i sted here are the bread and butter of a typ ica l denta l  p ractice , and  dent ists spend 8 

years i n  tra in i ng  to them . How long do dental therapists tra in? 

• Dentists need a l l  the education they can get. 

A survey of North Dakota Dental Association Members conducted in October, 201 8 reports 97% of the membersh ip 
oppose Dental Therapy in  ND;  only 3% are in  favor. Th is affirms our continued stance as reported through  surveys in 
20 1 4  and 20 1 6  which opposed this unproven model  that is not backed by evidence or data . 

• 

• 



He; /L/iA/p 
# Ii). 

'1.J IJ1 C/  

IIJ Health Pol icy Institute 
• ADA American Dental Association• 

D . M .  . A S L .  fh-r 13 ent 1st 1 g rat 1 on  cross tate 1 nes 

• 

• 

ABOUT 1 IN 1 8  DENTISTS (5 . 5%) m oved to a d ifferent state between 2 0 1 1 and  2 0 1 6 .  Dent i sts  4 0  years o r  younger  

were much  more l i ke ly to move, w i th  about  1 i n  8 (1 2 . 6%) m ig rat i ng  across  state l i nes .  

DE NTISTS OF AL L  AG ES 

Vl 
z < 
\.'.) 
I-
LU 
z 

Vl 
LU 
Vl 
Vl 
0 

I-
LU 
z 

0% 

N orth Dakota 
Wyoming  

N orth Caro l ina 
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Utah 
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Idaho 
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N ebraska 
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0% 
- 0 1 %  
- 0. 2 %  
- 0 3% 
- 0 3% 
- 0 5% 
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DE NTISTS 40 AND U N DER  
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N ew Hampsh i re  
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Note: Percentages i n  the • 1gures refer to n et m 1 g rat 1on of pract i c i ng dent , sts between Janua ry 2 0 1 1 and  
January 2 0 1 6 ( 1 e , the number of dent  s t s  who en te red  t he  sta te m inus nurnbe1 of dent , t s  who l eft t h e  
state) d 1 v 1 ded  by  t he  numbe r  o f  pract 1c 1 n g  dent ,sts 1 n  the  state : n  J anua ry 20 1 1 .  Age 1 s  ca lcu lated a s  o f  
January 2 0 1 1 S amp l e  i n c l u de s  a l l  dent , sts , n  the Un ited States who we re  pract 1 c 1 ng  1 n  bo t h  J anua ry 2 0 1 1 
and  January 2 0 1 6 .  Based on HP I  ana lys ,s of the ADA masterf i le 

-7 0% 
-7 5% 

- 1 0 5% 
- 1 0 .9% 

0% 

- 0 . 3 %  
- 0 3% 

0 . 9%  
0 . 3%  
0 . 2%  

1 2 . 5% 
1 1 . 9% 
1 1 8% 
1 1 . 2 %  

8 8 %  
8 2% 
7. 8% 

Down load the detailed data o n  the n u m ber 

of  dent i sts  m ig rat i ng  from each state to a l l  

49 other  states .  
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Supply of Dentists i n  the US :  200 1 -20 1 7 
ADA Hea lth Pol icy I nstitute , Jan 20 1 8 

20 10-2017  
0/o Increase in % Increase in 

Population Dentists 

Minnesota 5% 3% 

South Dakota 7% 1 1% 

Montana 6% 8% 

North Dakota 12% 23% 

USA 5% 8% 
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.ADA American Dental Association• 
U . S .  Dent i st Workfo rce by Age G roup 
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. AGE< 3 5  • AGE 35-49  
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2 0  9% 3 6  9% 
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1 5 .1 % 
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Source:  ADA H ea lth Po l i cy I n st itute ana lys ,s  of ADA masterf i le ,  end- of-year 2 0 1 5 
'Munson  B .. VuJ I C I C  M N umber of pract ic i ng  dent i sts  per capita in the  Un ited States w i l l  g row stead ly. Health Policy Institute 
Research Bnef American Dental Assac 1at •on . June 2 0 1 6 (Rev15ed) .  

THE FIVE STATES with 

the h i ghest shares of 

dent ists you nger than 

5 0  a re on  o r  west  of  the 

Rock ies  ( Idaho, Nevada, 

Utah ,  Ar izona,  Montana) 

I 

201 5 

DENTISTS' 
AVERAGE  
RETIREMENT 
AGE WAS 

69 1 N  

201 5*  

2035 

WE PROJECT THE 
SUPPLY OF DENTISTS 
per 1 00, 0 0 0  populat ion 

to i ncrease from 60 .9  

( 20 1 5)  to 65 .7  (2035)*  

1 6  
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North Dakota Dental Association Member Dentists Age as of December, 2018  

Age o f  DDS i n  N D  

25 -29  

30 -34  

35 -39  

40-44 

45-49 

50-54 

55-59 

60-64 

65-69 

70-74 

75-79 

80-84 

85-89 

90-94 

95-99 

100+ 

Non-reporting 

Number of Member Licensed Dentists 

Number of Licensed Dentists in ND 

22 

42 

73 

35 

17 

14 

27 

44 

43 

29 

22  

16 

15  

1 

2 

2 

20  

NODA Board of Directors Average Age : 42 

NODA District Leadership Average Age : 34 

Combined Leadership Average Age : 38 

404 

476 
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Dental Education, Prevention,  Col laboration 
and Outreach in North Dakota 
The No rth Dakota Dental Assoc iation  fi rmly be l i eves that al l North Dakotans - regard l ess of  the i r  
soc ioeconom i c  status - deserve qual ity dental care from the h ighest-trai ned  p rofess ionals .  W ith 
that d r i v i ng  d eterm i nat ion ,  N O DA conti nuous ly  partners with o rgan izati ons ,  state health offi c ia ls 
and No rth Dakota's d ental commun ity to p rovi d e  education ,  p reventive care and dental treatment 
to reach as many in need  as poss i b l e .  

Programs and partnerships currently in  place include: 

25& r.i 
N D  H EA LT H  � ) 
P R O V I D E R S  -
PART I C I PAT E D  

cy1 7K ) 
I N  D O N ATED S E RV I C ES 

Smiles for Life - 256 No rth Dakota health p roviders and 54 c l i n ics have 
partic ipated s ince 2 0 1 4. Sm i les  for Life p rovides dental educati on  and a l lows 
doctors, advanced p ractice R N s, p hys ic ian assistants, RNs  and  l i censed practi cal 
nu rses who com p l ete North Dakota dental board-approved cu rr icu l u m  to app ly  
f luor ide varn ish .  

Seal !ND - 1 1 2  North Dakota schoo ls cu rrently parti c i pate - 49 served by 
p rivate dental off ices.  Imp lemented by the N o rth Dakota Dept. of H ealth Oral 
Health Program, Seal ! N D  provides l ow- income students with d ental screen i ng, 
sealant p lacements and fluor ide varn ish app l i cations i n  their schools .  The program 
was establ ished in part due  to H B  1 1 76 in 2009, wh ich  a l l ows dental hygien ists 
to perform procedures in outreach setti ngs authorized in advance by a dentist. 

Donated Dental Services (DDS) - 875 patients have received more than 
$3  m i l l i on  i n  donated services from 1 26 dentists and 1 1  dental labs i n  North 
Dakota s ince 201 1 .  N ear ly 40% of N o rth Dakota d entists vo lu nteer. DDS provides 
free, comprehens ive treatment to peop le  with d i sab i l it ies, the e l de rly  or  the 
med ical l y  frag i le  as part of the nationa l  Dental Life l i ne  N etwork.  

G ive Kids a Smile - D ental hygiene/ass istant students and ped iatr ic dentist 
vo lu nteers prov ided more than $ 1 7 ,000 worth of services to N o rth Dakota 
ch i l d ren in 201 8. No rth Dakota State Co l lege of Sc ience ( N DSCS) ,  th rough its 
A l l i ed  Dental Education  p rogram, parti c ipates each year in th is  nationa l  program 
that p rovides screen i n gs,  c lean i ngs,  sealants and other  denta l  treatments to i n 
need  ch i l d ren .  

Mission of Mercv (MOM) - 1 1  o dentists, 48 hygien ists, 1 05 dental 
ass istants and 4 lab techs p rov ided an estimated $564,964 of dental care for 
9 1 6 i nd iv idua ls .  7 3% of patients served reported havin g  no  dental i nsurance. 
A p rogram to p rovi de  free dental care to anyone i n  need, N o rth Dakota's fi rst 
M O M  was he ld  Sept. 28-29,  2 0 1 8, in B ismarck. Treatm ents i n c luded  extractions,  
rep lacement front teeth , root canals ,  fi l l i n gs, c lean i ngs and sealants. 
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Nonprofit Publ ic Health Dental Cl inics - 5 c l in i cs, i n  Bismarck, M inot, 
Grand Forks and Fargo, serve thousands of patients each year. C l in ics inc lude 
Br idg ing the Dental Gap, Fami ly HealthCare, No rthland Commun ity Health Center 
Dental C l i n ic, Val ley Commun ity Health Centers Dental Cl i n i c  and the Red River 
Val ley Dental Access Project. These cl inics and p rivate practice dentists partner with 
the North Dakota Dept. of Health Oral Health Program to help p rov ide dental care to 
o lder adu lts at long-term care fac i l ities across No rth Dakota. 

ER Diversion - Patients presenting for d ental issues at Sanford Health 
emergency rooms in Fargo and B ismarck are referred to non-p rofit c l i n ics fo r 
next-day care. C l i n i cs are staffed i n  part by vo l unteer  commun ity dentists and 
o ral su rgeons, and backed up  by local dentists. 

Ronald McDonald Care Mobile - 1 ,001 ch i l d ren  in western No rth Dakota 
received $572,868 worth of dental care in 20 1 7. The state-of-the-art mob i l e  
dental c l i n i c  i s  owned and  operated by  the  Rona ld  McDonald House Char it ies 
of B ismarck. Nonprofit c l i n i c  Br idging the Dental Gap i s  the c l i n i ca l manager. A 
schoo l-based sealant p rogram served an add it io nal 930 ch i l d ren i n  201 7 .  Pr io r ity 
service areas inc lude low- i ncome students, H ead Start p rograms, American 
I n d ian reservations and commun ity health centers without dental c l i n i cs .  

Take Five More - 75  North Dakota dent ists agreed to i ncrease the number of 
Med ica id-e l ig ib le patients through the Take F ive Mo re i n it iative i n  201 5 ,  although 
Med i caid reimbursement fees for dentists are l ess than the cost of p rovid i ng  care. 

Loan Repayment - North Dakota l i censes 20-30 new dentists each year 
and l eads the nation  in  dentist i n -m igration ,  d u e  in part to its loan repayment 
p rograms. Most dental schoo l  graduates have an average of $250,000 in debt. 
By p rovid i ng  state and federal ly f inanced repayment p rograms, No rth Dakota is 
successfu l ly i ncentiv iz ing young dentists to se rve low- income patients, work i n  
nonprofit c l i n i cs and practice in  ru ral o r  underserved areas. 

Collaboration with Tribal Communities - The No rth Dakota Dental 
Assoc iati on networks with l ocal dentists to boost I H S  dental workforce and 
add ress the arduous credential i ng p rocess. Outreach events coord i nated by 
N O DA and local dentists provide care for i n-need ch i l d ren .  

Continuous Overall Outreach - The No rth Dakota Dental Foundation  
was boosted with a $6.3 m i l l i on  endowment i n  201 5 with remainde r  funds 
from the d issolut ion of  Dental Services Corpo ration .  N D D F  works with partners 
across North Dakota to remove barri e rs to dental care, p rov ide p revention  and 
education  and ensure an adequate supp ly of d ental staff are avai lab le .  

Maximizing Current Workforce - Rules passed i n  201 4 a l low registered 
dental hygien ists and assistants with add it ional  tra i n i ng  to perform expanded 
duties under  a dentist's superv is ion .  These duties inc lude f i l l i ng  cavit ies after a 
dentist p repares them. A l lowing and incentiviz ing hygie n ists to perform duties 
without a dentist p resent, and fac i l itati ng re imbu rsement for case managem ent, 
expands outreach to rural settings, schools and l ong-term care fac i l it ies . 

C) www.smi lenorthdakota .org 
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Oral Health Programs i n  North Dakota 
December 201 8 

Smiles For Life Fluoride Varnish Program 

Dur ing the 2007 legis lative session , H B  1 293 was passed , wh ich gave 
physic ians ,  advanced practice reg istered nurses , physic ian assistants , reg istered 
nu rses and l i censed practical nurses the ab i l ity to apply fluoride varn ish upon the 
complet ion of a fluoride varn ish curricu lum approved by the North Dakota Board 
of Dental Exam iners .  The North Dakota Board of Dental Examiners approved the 
Smi les for Life ,  Course 6, Caries Risk Assessment F luoride Varn ish & 
Counsel i ng .  The North Dakota Department of Health , Oral Health Program 
ut i l izes and continues to promote th is course for health professionals i n  various 
locations l i ke :  Local Publ ic Health U n its , Long Term Care Faci l it ies and med ical 
cl i n i cs across the state . S ince 2008 ,  many loca l  publ ic health un its and Head 
Start entit ies have appl ied fluoride varn ish to ch i ldren's teeth . S ince 20 1 4 ,  
outreach a n d  tra in ing have been provided to med ica l  cl i n ics; a s  a resu lt, 54 
cl i n i cs and 256 health professionals have been tra ined i n  the appl ication of 
fluoride varn ish . 

School-based Fluoride Varnish and Seal l N D  (Sealant) Program 

I n  2009, H B  1 1 76 was passed , wh ich a l lowed l icensed denta l hyg ien ists to 
perform procedu res authorized in advance by a dentist. As a result of th is 
leg is lation , the North Dakota Department of Health , Oral Health Program , 
implemented a school-based fluoride varn ish and sealant program (Seal ! N D) .  
Services i nc lude an i n itia l  screen ing ,  sealant p lacement and fl uoride varn ish 
app l ication .  Schools with 40 percent or greater of the i r  students on the free and 
reduced-fee school lunch program are g iven pr iority for the program.  This 
criter ion helps to reach underserved ch i ld ren who may otherwise be unable to 
receive denta l  screen ing and denta l sea lants to he lp prevent tooth decay. S ince 
20 1 1 ,  pub l ic  health hygien ists funded by the department have served about 
5 ,500 students through th is program .  During the 201 7- 1 8 school year, the 
program provided services i n  29 schools throughout the state . 899 students were 
screened , and 331 students received sealants . Fund ing for the Sea l ! N D  Program 
is provided by Health Resources and Services Admin istration (H RSA) Grants to 
States to Support Oral Health Workforce Activities, the Centers for Disease 
Control and  Prevention (CDC) Cooperative Agreement, North Dakota Dental 
Foundat ion grant funds,  Otto Bremer, Delta Denta l g rant, and reimbursement 
from North Dakota Med ica id for services provided by the pub l ic  health hyg ien ists . 
Efforts to make school-based sealant programs sustainable have been very 
successfu l i n  that 1 1 2  schools now have sealant programs with 49 of them 
provided by private practice dental offices, 1 7  provided by FQHC non
profits cl inics, and 17 provided by the Ronald McDonald Care Mobi le . 
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Donated Dental Services Program 

Supported through state general funding and the State Department of Health 
($50,000 per biennium) ,  the Donated Dental Services (DDS) program, a 
national project of the Dental L ifeline Network , provides free ,  comprehensive 
dental treatment to the most vulnerable people-those with disabil i t ies or those 
who are elderly or medically fragile . Donated Dental Services, operates through a 
volunteer network of more than 15,000 dentists and 3,600 dental labs across the 
country . Since its inception in 1985, the DDS program has surpassed $250 
mill ion in donated dental treatment, transforming the lives of more than 120,000 
people. 

Since the North Dakota DDS program began in 2001, 875 vulnerable individuals 
have received $3,177,088 in donated dental treatment from some of the 126 
dentists and 11 dental laboratories that volunteer statewide ! Almost $15 of care 
is donated for every $1 spent. 38% of the dentists in North Dakota participate in 

DDS, which is the well above the 17% national average. 

Give Kids A Smile Program 

Dentists nationwide participate annually in the Give Kids A Smile Day(GKAS) 
event held in February. Dentists and dental teams provide donated screenings, 
cleanings, sealants, and other needed treatments to needy children through a 
variety of programs and venues.  For many children, this is an opportunity to find 
a dental home.  And for dentists, dental team members, and other volunteers, it's 
a great way to help the local community. Visit the American Dental Association's 
Give Kids A Smile website for more information about the program,  or to donate 
to help needy children receive care . 

North Dakota State School of Science in Wahpeton has participated in the GKAS 
program for many years . Services provided include basic restorative procedures, 
s imple extractions and patient exams.  NDSCS Allied Dental students perform 
cleanings, radiographs, sealants , fluoride applications and oral health education. 
Volunteer pediatric dentists perform needed treatment. More than $17 , 000 worth 
of donated services was provided to local children in 2018 .  

Mission of Mercy Events 

The North Dakota Dental Association partnered with the M innesota Dental 
Association in a "Dental M ission of Mercy" held July 22-23, 2016 at Concordia 
College in Moorhead, M N .  A 100-chai r  portable clinic was set up and 600 dental 
professionals volunteered their services to patients that faced barriers to care.  
1173 patients were seen and $997,785 of free dentistry was provided by 841 
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total volunteers .  40% of the patients were from North Dakota and 75 of the 150 
volunteer dentists were from North Dakota . Only 9 .5% of the patients were 
eligible for government assistance. 

N orth Dakota 's  first "solo" Mission of Mercy (NDMOM) was held on September 
28-29 ,  2018 at the Bismarck Event Center , Bismarck, N D ,  with a goal of 
providing donated dental care to 600 patients in need. 50 dental chairs were set 
up in the Bismarck Event Center . The North Dakota Dental Association and the 
North Dakota Dental Foundation organized the event, recruited the workforce , 
and raised funds to make the event a success . Over 120 individuals , 
organizations , and businesses provided cash and in-kind contributions to support 
the event. 

916 patients received care, with 35 of them able to return for a second visit for 
additional treatment. 14% of the patients were 17 years old and under , 23% were 
18-29 years old, and 62% were 30 or older. 38% of the patients had visited a 
dentist in the last 2 years, however nearly 4 % had never been to a dentist. 

110 dentists , 48 hygienists , 105 dental assistants , and 4 lab techs provided 
urgently needed dental care. Dental Assisting and Dental Hygiene students from 
Minnesota State - Moorhead and North Dakota State College of Science 
(N DSCS) in Wahpeton rotated through the various departments of the clinic. A 
total of 570 volunteers registered for the event. The majority of volunteers were 
lay people who escorted patients, served meals and snacks to volunteers , 
registered patients , helped set-up and tear-down the clinic, and provided 
language translation, among other duties. 

Treatment provided included 961 extractions , 358 composite fillings , 72 amalgam 
fillings , 48 root canals , 203 cleanings , 56 sealants , and almost 60 appliances to 
replace missing front teeth.  The estimated dollar value of the donated treatment 
provided was $564 ,964. 

The patients came from 33 different counties in North Dakota . Only 6 patients 
were from our neighboring states . 67% of patients traveled less than 30 minutes 
to receive care at the event. 

About 43% of the patients stated they had dental pain and 20% reported they 
had sought dental care in the past at an emergency room/emergency clinic. 
Interestingly , 73% of the patients reported they had no insurance to pay for their 
dental care , but 32% said they had a place to go for dental care after the event. 
Of note , only 7% of the patients indicated they were eligible for government 
assistance/Medicaid. 14% said they were covered by dental insurance and 0 .5% 
listed Indian Health Service as an option for dental coverage . Cost was 
mentioned most frequently as a reason the patient had not received needed 
dental care , with fear/anxiety of seeing a dentist a distant second. 71 % of the 



patients were Caucas ian/White ,  9% were Native American/Alaska N ative , 6% 
were H ispan ic/Latino ,  5% were Black/African America n ,  and 1 % were Asian .  

Wh i l e  the  M ission of  Mercy is  not a long-term solution to  reduce barriers to  care 
i n  North Dakota , it made a d ifference i n  the l ives of 9 1 6 patients. The event also 
provided needed ora l  health education and raised awareness of the i m portance 
of oral health i n  the commun ity and for pol i cymakers .  It was a true statewide 
commun ity event that energ ized the dental  commun ity to  conti nue  to look for 
col laborative solut ions to reduce barriers to care . Thank you to the a mazing 
volunteers and contri butor partners that made th is event a success! 

Expansion of Duties for Registered Dental Hygienists and Assistants 

Rules changes were passed by the North Dakota State Board of Dental 
Examiners i n  20 1 4 ,  wh ich a l low reg istered denta l assistants and dental 
hyg ien ists with add itiona l  tra i n i ng  to do expanded , revers ib le ,  restorative 
functions under  a dentist's supervis ion .  These functions i nc lude fi l l i ng  cavit ies 
after a dentist prepares them . When we expand the services these tra i ned 
professiona ls can provide,  it i ncreases effic iency and productivity. I t  a lso extends 
dentists' capacity and,  by extens ion , i ncreases access to care .  Maxim iz ing the 
capacity of the existi ng dental team is the best route to provid i ng  more care to 
more patients .  

The Ora l  Health Coal it ion led  a Task Force of interested professiona ls  and  
affirmed col laborative practice by  hyg ien ists under  the  genera l  supervis ion 
(dentist not on-site) i n  outreach settings .  These col laborative practice ru les were 
establ ished by the State Board of Denta l  Examiners in 2009.  The outreach 
sett ings wou ld  i ncl ude schools and long-term care faci l it ies .  Efforts must 
conti nue to expand th is practice and to make case management a part of the 
process. 

Safety Net Public Health Dental Cl inics 

We're proud to support safety net nonprofit dental cl i n ics i n  North Dakota . These 
cl i n ics help provide the necessary dental care to many North Dakota res idents 
who too often go without. There are currently s ix :  
• Bridg ing the Denta l Gap (B ismarck) 
• Fami ly HealthCare (FQHC)(Fargo) Add itiona l ly provides fol low-u p  care for 

dental patients that are referred from Sanford Health ER .  
• North land Commun ity Health Center - Dental C l i n i c  (FQHC)  (Turtle Lake , 

Rolette , and M inot) 
• Val ley Commun ity Health Centers Dental C l in ic  (FQHC) (Grand  Forks) 
• Red River Val ley Denta l Access Project (RRVDAP)(Fargo ,  N D-Moorhead , 

M i n n . )  S ince 2002 , 45 dent ists have provided walk- i n  human itari an  rel i ef 
of pai n at Fam i ly Health Care Center on Tuesday even i ngs on a rotati ng  
bas is .  About 1 0 ,000 patients without a dental home have received 
treatment s ince the cl i n i c's i nception . Local dentists led the development 
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of the RRVDAP and the walk-in clinic . 
We want to expand these public health clinics , where there are unique needs 
requiring specialized solutions to reduce barriers to care . These facilities can 
develop innovative ways to target high-risk patients and connect them to dental 
homes , where regular preventive treatment can prevent painful and costly 
disease.  N orth Dakota's dental loan repayment program is especial ly critical for 
these programs to maintain their workforce . 

Hospital Emergency Room Dental Diversion Programs 

Currently, dental patients that show up in the Sanford ER's in Fargo for dental 
pain are seen the next day at the Family Health Care Dental Clinic (non-profit 
FQHC) for definitive dental treatment, and if the patients cannot be seen there for 
any reason they are referred to the Red River Val ley Dental Urgent Care Clinic 
on Tuesday nights. This clinic is staffed on a rotating basis by 50 volunteer 
Fargo-Moorhead community dentists and oral surgeons. 

A similar E R  diversion program is operational in Bismarck utilizing the non-profit 
clinic , Bridging the Dental Gap(BDG).  BOG staff see dental referrals from the 
Bismarck ER's and is backed up on a rotating schedule by a network of 10-15 
local dental practices . 

Ronald McDonald Care Mobile of North Dakota & RMHC School-Based 
Sealant Program 

The Ronald McDonald Care Mobile (RMCM) is a 40-foot-long , state-of-the-art 
mobile dental clinic staffed by a dentist, dental hygienist, and dental assistant. It 
delivers urgently needed care to underserved children through age 21 in their 
own neighborhoods in western North Dakota . The priority areas for service 
include schools with 40 percent or greater of their student population on the free 
and reduced-fee school lunch program, Head Start and Early Head Start, 
American Indian Reservation areas , and community health centers without dental 
services. The RMCM began operation in 2012 and serves the western half of 
ND. In 2017 ,  the Care Mobile served 1 ,001 children with 1 ,994 
patient appointments, providing 7,521 dental  services for a total value 
of $572 ,868. In the 3rd year of our RMHC School-Based Sealant Program, we 
treated an additional 930 children with 2 ,003 services and a value of 
$73,592.  This brings the total number of children served in 2017 to 1 ,931.  The 
Care M obile is currently booking into 2019.  The Ronald McDonald Care Mobile is 
owned and operated by Ronald McDonald House Charities of Bismarck. Bridging 
the Dental Gap , Inc .  of Bismarck, a nonprofit dental clinic , is the clinical manager 
of the Ronald 
McDonald Care Mobile Program. 

Older Adu lt Programs 
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The State Department of Health , Oral Health Program,  partners with Bridg ing the 
Dental Gap (BOG), a safety-net denta l cl i n ic  i n  Bismarck, to provide services to 
older adu lts l iv ing in  long-term care faci l it ies. The M ission of BOG is "To Provide 
Access to Dental Care for Underserved Popu lations i n  North Dakota . "  BOG 
provides services i n  severa l  long-term care centers i n  the B ismarck/Mandan 
area . Fund ing for th is program is provided th rough the H RSA Ora l  H ea lth 
Workforce Grant. 

North land Commun ity Health Center imp lemented an older adult program in June 
20 1 4  at  three faci l ities: Benedict ine Living Center i n  Garrison ;  the Garrison 
Memoria l  Hospita l  (swing bed faci l ity with long term beds avai lab le) ;  and the 
Commun ity Memoria l  Hospita l i n  Turtle Lake (swing bed faci l ity with long term 
beds avai lab le) .  Grant fund ing provides support for these prog rams.  

North Dakota Dental Medicaid 

Recogn iz ing that private practice dental offices del iver most of the care in North 
Dakota for low- income patients ,  it's imperative to mainta i n  adequate fund ing for 
denta l  care for Medicaid-e l ig ible patients .  Currently, the fees that Med ica id pays 
dentists are less than the cost of providing care, but North Dakota dentists 
conti nue to look for ways to reduce barriers to care .  
We must continue to advocate for adequate Medicaid fund i ng and stream l i ned 
admin istration so that there continues to be an adequate network of dentists to 
care for Med icaid patients .  Through the ''Take Five More" i n it iative , 75 North 
Dakota dentists agreed to increase the number of patients e l ig ib le for Medica id 
that they see i n  the ir  practices .  

North Dakota Dental Loan Repayment Programs 

Most new graduates of dental schools now have an average of $250 ,000 i n  
education debt. The North Dakota denta l loan repayment programs provide  state 
and federa l ly financed programs with a variety of e l ig ib i l i t ies and benefits to 
encourage new dentists to practice in th ree areas of need : serving  low- income 
patients ,  working i n  safety-net nonprofit cl in ics ,  and practici ng  i n  rura l  or  
underserved areas. Our safety-net non-profit cl i n ics absolutely depend on  these 
programs to he lp recru it their dentists . The North Dakota Dental Association and 
the State Department of Health , Oral Health Department, were instrumenta l  in 
starti ng these programs and mod ifying them over the years to make them 
effective i n  meeting the goals.  S ince inception ,  most of the rec ip ients have 
completed their commitment to stay in their  commun ity for the length of the i r  
contract and about ha lf have remained i n  those commun it ies beyond that 
commitment ("N D Health Professionals Assistance Programs" 201 6 ,  N D  State 
Dept of Health") .  Currently, North Dakota is l icensing between  20 and 30 new 
dentists a year, and the g rowth i n  new dentist numbers is g reater than the 
population increase. Loan repayment programs also are a g reat way to market 
North Dakota to new dentists . The NODA supported leg is lat ion that was passed 

/113 I Lf;,. "1 
#- J;J. 

/j;J.1/ /9 
Pa,,_,:). 'I • 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

f!-13 /'I� � 
# JoJ  

'f;;. 1/19 _,,,,, 
(JQ., ..t, ,;. !;; 

in the 2015 session, which greatly simplified the dental loan repayment programs 
in North Dakota and potentially made them available to more new dentists in the 
state . Loan repayment programs have contributed greatly to why North Dakota 
led the nation in in-migration of dentists since 2010 . 

Native American Col laboration 

Our Native American citizens have higher rates of dental disease and more 
barriers to care . One of the frequent barriers expressed by Indian Health Service 
dental staff is the inability to get the kids with the most extensive treatment needs 
to pediatric dentists in nearby cities to complete treatment. 

In 2011 at Spirit Lake and in 2013 at Standing Rock, the dental community in 
North Dakota built a collaborative partnership that created a volunteer network of 
20 pediatric dental specialists and some 75 dental team members to provide 
restorative treatment to the these high-need children. At these events , 600 
children received treatment with an estimated donated value of $260 ,000 . It is 
important to continue to find ways to engage Native American communities with 
local dentists so immediate community resources can augment I HS dental staff. 

In the summer of 2016 , the NODA helped recruit 5 dentists on a temporary basis 
to help provide care at Spirit Lake Reservation in Ft Totten while they searched 
and secured a permanent workforce . Since 2017 , Spirit Lake has hired a new 
full-time dentist and several of the temporary dentists have continued on a part
time basis . 

Maintaining an adequate workforce within Indian Health Service clinics has 
always been a barrier to care . The arduous credentialing requirements of Indian 
Health Service dental professionals has been identified as a barrier for not only 
I HS dentists that are assigned to the Great Plains Area , but also to local dentists 
that wish to volunteer or contract their services with a tribe. Engagement with the 
local dental community continues to be critical to provide adequate dental care in 
our tribal communities .  

The NODA, in  coordination with North Dakota 's congressional delegation in 
Washington, had input into federal legislation known as the Helping Ensure 
Accountability, Leadership, and Trust in Tribal Healthcare (HEALTTH) Act, which 
addressed funding , accountability, credentialing , and employee recruitment and 
retention within the Great Plains region of the I HS .  

North Dakota Foundation 

The North Dakota Dental Foundation, a North Dakota charity for almost 30 years , 
was boosted in 2015 with an endowment of $6 . 3  million of remainder funds from 
dissolution of Dental Services Corporation , a nonprofit dental plan for North 

Dakota residents that was also founded by North Dakota dentists . 



The Foundation receives management services from Dakota Medica l  Foundation 
so that its leaders can focus on a North Dakota where dental care to a l l  citizens 
is second to none ,  rather than managing paperwo rk.  DMF a lso provides 
guidance to the Dental Foundation for reaching its vision .  D M F  has a long history 
of guiding this type of strategic funding , with $80 mil lion-plus invested in 
programs improving health since its modern history of g rant-making and  leading 
initiatives began in 1996.  

North Dakota Dental Foundation exists , in the broadest sense , to remove barriers 
to dental care for North Dakotans ,  provide prevention and  education ,  and  to 
assure an adequate supply of skil led , well-trained dentists , hygienists & 
assistants so people across the state can receive denta l  care that a l l ows them to 
be healthy and lead better lives. 
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N D  Denta l Foundat ion 

ND Long Term Ca re Assoc iat ion 

ND I nd i a n  Affa i rs Com miss ion 

ND Board of Pharmacy 

N D  Head Sta rt Assoc iat ion 

ND Medica l  Assoc iat ion 

ND Hospita l  Assoc iat ion 

t.Js Senator John Hoeven ( I H S  Credentia l i ng Issues )  

Sm1 les For Life 

Sea l ! N D  Program (Schoo l -Based Sea lant Program)  

Donated Denta l  Services-Denta l  Life l i ne  Network 

Ora l  Hea lth  P rogram, N D  State D'epartment of Hea lth 

Depa rt of Hea lth  P rima ry Care Office 

H uman  Services Denta l  M edica id 

N D  Women, I nfants, Ch i l d ren (WIC)  Offices 

N D  State Col lege of Sc ience 

M innesota State Com m u n ity and  Techn ica l  Col lege
Moorhead,  M N  

N orthwest Techn ica l  Co l l ege-Bemidj i ,  M N  

Br idging the Dental  Gap-Bismarck 

Fami ly Hea lthCa re Centers 

Va l ley Commun ity Hea lth Centers 

North l and  Commun ity Hea lth Center 

Rona ld McDona ld  House / Ca remobi le  

Red River Va l l ey Denta l  Access Project 

Sanford Hea lth ( Emergency Department Referra l 
Program)  

Tobacco Free North Dakota 

M innesota Dental Associat ion 

South Dakota Association 

Montana Denta l  Associat ion 

American Denta l  Associat ion 

Mandan ,  H idatsa, & Ar ikara Nat ion (Th ree Affi l i ated 
Tri bes1 

Spi rit Lake Nat ion 

Stand ing Rock S ioux Tri be 

Tu rt le  Mounta in Band of Ch ippewa I nd ians 

Sisseton-Wahpeton Oyate Nat ion 

Trenton I nd i an  Service Area 
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� North Dakota 
� D E N T A L  A S S O C I A T I O N  -
Oral Health  in North Dakota: 
Barriers and Solutions 
Over t h e  course o f  many years worki ng toward p rovid i ng  qual ity care, the No rth Dakota Dental 
Assoc iat ion ( N O DA) has i dentif i ed barr i e rs to care un i q ue  to No rth Dakota. Add ress i ng  these 
barr i e rs wh i l e  p romoti n g  d i sease p revention  i s  an ongo i ng  effort that requ i res a co l l aborative 
app roach among  the d e ntal commun ity, state government, pub l i c  health ent it ies and pat ients. 

North Dakota-specif ic solutions should priorit ize 

patient outreach and case management. 

Areas of focus inc lude: 

0 Expand and support nonprofit c l in ics, 
outreach programs. 

NODA co l l aborates w ith  5 exist in g  nonprofit c l i n ics to 

recru i t  staff and p rovid e  low-cost dental care to patients 

throughout North Dakota. 

N O DA co l l abo rates with N orth Dakota's Oral H ealth 

Program for o n g o i n g  i m p l e m e ntati on  of the schoo l -based 

sea lant  p rogram,  Sea l ! N D, and l on g-term care fac i l i ty 

outreach p rograms.  

NODA organ ized North Dakota's fi rst "M iss ion of Mercy" i n  

Sept .  2 0 1 8 .  1 1 0 dentists and  200 hygien ists and  assi stants 

p rovid e d  care for 9 1 6 patients over two days. Numerous 

othe r  l ow/no-cost care programs are coord i nated each year 

by N ODA and supported by ND dentists. 

G rant fun d s  cou l d  i n crease the number  of ND Commun ity 

Dental  H ealth Coord i nators, who connect pat ients to dental 

homes through case management. 

0 Improve dental Medicaid. 
To expand outreach, adopt existing  te l edentistry and case 

management codes for re imbu rsement in North Dakota. 

Co l l aborative efforts needed  to i mprove cu rrent M M I S  

c l a i m s  system.  

Recru i t  d ental Med i ca id  p rovi de rs through i nnovative 

marketi n g  p rograms. 

NODA  parti c i pates in ongo ing  quarter ly meet ings with 

Department  of H uman Serv ices Med i ca id offi c ia ls to 

i mp rove p rogram adm in i strati on . 

C lose  gaps i n  cost of serv ice versus adequate Med i ca id  fee 

re i m b u rsement to encourage conti nued  dentist parti c ipat ion .  

0 Maximize existing dental 
team workforce . 

An Expanded Restorative Funct ions Course wou l d  

a l low dental hyg ien ists a n d  assistants t o  perform 

expanded  fun ct ions.  

Dental l oan repayment programs, created in part by NODA, 

he lp  recru it n ew dentists and encourage them to practi ce i n  

unde rserved areas o f  the  state . 

A co l laborative effort among N O DA, the North Dakota Dental  

Foundat ion and N DSCS is  focused on recru it i ng  and train i ng  

i n -demand dental assistants. 

Te ledentistry w i l l  a l l ow d ental hygien ists in outreach settings 

to perform preventative care and connect h igh- risk patients 

to a d ental home .  A p i l ot program is unde rway. 

C, Access to care for tribal communities. 
NODA led  a national  effort to s imp l i fy I nd ian Health 

Serv i ce  c redentia l i ng, resu lti ng  in l eg is lation to standard ize 

credentia l i ng  p rotoco l .  

NODA provides support for tr ibes e lecti ng  "638" status to 

contract d i rectly for d ental workforce. 

Ongo ing co l laborati on with tr ibal commun it ies connects 

them with local  dentists and volunteer services. 

For more information, visit 
C) www.smi lenorthdakota.o rg 
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� North  Dakota 
� D E N T A L  A S S O C I A T I O N  

December 5, 2018 

How can we col laborate to reduce barriers to ca re in  North Dakota? 

Defining the problem 

There are many reasons why patients do not vis it the dentist : 

• Fear 
• Cost 
• Transportation 
• Low knowledge of value for oral health 
• Not exper iencing pain 
• Cu ltural factors 
• Language barriers 
• Lack of avai labJe workfor.c� 

I 
' 

Dental Medicaid is the pr imary program that provides state support for low- income 
patients to access denta l care. For patients el igible for Medicaid that do seek treatment, 
there are other potential barriers that l imit access to the system: ' I n  North Dakota, the 
percentage of dentists enrol led in Medicaid, along with the Medicaid fee 
reimbursement, are above nationa,I averages (ADA H P I, �015), however there are st i l l  
other measures of  uti l i zation of ser.vices that are below ,national averages (ADA H P I
CMS) .  

Nat ional research has identified three reasons that dentists l imit pa'rt icipation in 
Medica id :  1) fee reim'bursement ·below the cost of providlng the service (in ND around 
50% of usual fees) ; 2)· 'C laims ad.m inistration complexity ahd delayed· payment; and 3) 
fai led appointments at a 30-50% rate. ' North Dakota ex'per iences aH of these barr iers . 
The Department of Human Servic·es M M IS Medicaid transit ion i r'\' October, 2015 required 
many hours of office admin istrative t ime to adapt to the new syste·m . Despite these 
inherent barr iers, the four urbah centers in North Dakota, where one�half of Medicaid 
recipients reside (DHS. fv1edicaid Access Monitor ing P lan.2016), a!Lhave pub l ic health 

. , • I I ' ' , 

dental c l inics that are �urrent lv, ful ly-staffed and suppq�ted by stat,ewide oral health 
programs as wel l  as P(i�ate pra�tjfe M·edicaid providers ., , .. 1• ; . ' ' - � 

Sorting out the reasoris' that Med ita id recipients visit a :dent ist l es°s'frequently than the 
rest of the populati 'O ,fis less im'port�nt than finding ways to reduafbarr iers. Keep in 
mind effective solutions address the reasons pat ients do not visit the dentist . 
Workforce, a lthough it receives a l ot of attehtion, is on ly one of many important factors . 
Educati on, prevention, and outreach to high-risk pat ients are equa l ly as importarlt . 



What are the solutions (blue) and current actions (red)? 

1. Improve dental Medicaid with adequate funding, reduce administrative burden, and 
vigorous dentist recruitment. 

• Studies from several states show that fee reimbursement closer to market
based rates will significantly improve dentist participation (NASHP 2009). 

• The North Dakota Dental Association (NDDA) will work with the Governor 
and DHS to improve the current MMIS claims system and partner in 
considering a risk-based managed care organization (MCO) to facilitate 
administration and build in prevention and value incentives. Currently 18 
states utilize dental MCO's (ADA 2016). ACTION: The NDDA provided 
technical assistance to the interim Legislative Health Care Reform Committee 
regarding Medicaid managed care options . Any managed care changes to the 
dental Medicaid system in the state will benefit patients and costs more 
effectively if practicing dental providers are part of any changes. 

• The NDDA will continue to work with dental offices to minimize Medicaid 
administrative barriers and continue vigorous recruitment efforts such as the 
"Take Five More" program started in 2015 which resulted in 75 dentists 
taking a pledge to see more Medicaid patients . 

• Continue the quarterly Medicaid Advisory Committee meetings with OHS 
Medicaid officials to improve administration. 

2. Maximize the current dental hygiene and assistant workforce through expanded 
training programs, community outreach, and case management to connect more high
risk patients to a dental home. 

• The ND  State Board of Dental Examiners passed rules in January, 2016 that 
allow dental hygienists and assistants, with training, to do expanded 
restorative functions to include placing fillings and finishing them under 
supervision. This will leverage the productivity of dental practices while 
assuring standards of care . ACTION : Discussions are continuing to develop an 
Expanded Restorative Functions Course through a collaboration with an out
of-state online course with the clinical component completed on-site in 
North Dakota. 

• Community outreach is key in North Dakota given its rural population and 
the impracticality of starting high-cost dental practices with limited patient 
demand. North Dakota is expanding the number of low-income children who 
receive screenings and sealants in school-based outreach programs, such as 
those sponsored by the State Department of Health (Seal ! ND). In the 2017-
2018 school year, 899 children were screened in the Seal ! ND Program and 
331 students received sealants in 29 North Dakota schools. Many more 
children received sealants in Federally-Qualified Health Centers (FQHC's) , the 
Ronald McDonald Care Mobile School-Based Sealant Program, and in private 
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offices . The total number of schools that were served by school -based 
sealant programs increased from 18 in the 2014-2015 school year to 1 12 in  
the 2017-2018 school year. 49 of  these schools were served by private 
pract ice dentists (P rogram Eval uation: ND Department of Health Seal ! ND 
2017-2018, NDSU Center for Social Research, Nov 2018). ACTION : Continue 
to support the Seal ! ND Program and encourage bus iness model s  that expand 
sustainable, private-pract ice, school -based sealant programs . 

• The North Dakota Dental Foundation ( NDDF), in col laboration with a 
dedicated $6.3 mi l l ion endowment at Dakota Medical Foundation, w i l l  be a 
s ignificant contributor to futu re access programs, including outreach and 
expanded education. Col laborat ive efforts should continue to find the most 
effective sol ut ions . ACTION: The NDDF has committed funds to expand the 
dental assi stant workforce through on-s ite train ing and DANB certificat ion, 
career marketing strategies, and alternat ive pathways to the RDA 
des ignation statewide. The NDDF al so supported the recent dental Miss ion of 
Mercy in Bismarck that provided donated care to 916 patients .  
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• Case management shou ld be integrated in a l l  dental publ ic health programs to reach 
the 25% of the population that has 80% of the dental disease to get them into a 
dental home (Healthy People 2000, Oral Health Review, CDC) . This  navigation i s  now 
recognized nat ional ly by the estab l i shment of reimbursement codes that w i l l  
eventua l ly  al low a mechanism for reimbursement by Medicaid. Medicaid 
reimbursement for case management needs to be established in North Dakota . 
Three North Dakota dental assi stants have completed cert ificat ion through the 
onl ine Community Dental Health Coordinator (CDHC) program through Rio Salado 
Col lege (http://www. riosalado.edu/programs/Documents/DC F L  DentalHealth 
Coard 0715-R9.pdf). This  program provides evidenced-based case management 
training. These case management experts show great promise in working in Nat ive 
American communit ies and pub l ic  health outreach. These opportunit ies should be 
expanded through grant funding. ACTION :  Cur rent ly, discuss ions are on-going to 
ut i l ize grant funds to train more CDHC's in FQHC non-profit c l inics and private 
practices to connect patients to dental homes through CDH C  case management . 

• There are currently "ER Diversion" programs operat ing in Fargo and Bismarck 
whereby patients without a dental home that present at the hospital 
emergency rooms for dental problems are referred to the local publ ic  health 
c l inic w ith addit ional support being provided by volunteer local dentists . 

• Teledentistry, whereby dental hygienists work in outreach sett ings providing 
preventive care and communicate exam data electronical l y  to a supervis ing 
dentist, shows efficacy for North Dakota. The North Dakota Dental 
Foundation i s  current ly p i loting a program with grant funding to develop best 
practices and a viable pr ivate practice bus iness model .  Teledentistry 
equipment has been purchased for the project. A l l  rules and regs are in place 
in North Dakota to al low teledentistry. ACTION : The NODA advocates for 
estab l i sh ing Medicaid reimbursement in ND for teledenti stry and case 
management is to estab l i sh more outreach. 



• The Ronald McDonald Care Mobile provides mobile dental care for ru ral and 
Native American schools in western North Dakota. This project should be 
supported and expanded where needed. 

• Continue to support the many volunteer safety net programs including 
Mission of Mercy events, Donated Dental Services, etc. ACT ION :  The NODA 
organized a "Dental Mission of Mercy" that was held at the Bismarck Civic 
Center on September 28-29, 2018 that provided over $560,000 of donated 
care for 916 patients. The effort was supported by 110 North Dakota 
volunteer dent ists, 200 dental hygienists and assistants, and 260 lay 
volunteers. 

• G iven the severe shortage of dental assistants across the state, efforts 
cont inue to expand the dental assisti ng workforce. ACT ION :  An NODA-led 
Work G roup that included NDSCS, western colleges, and other stakeholders, 
studied options that included a distance-learning expansion of the current 
accredited NDSCS program. A grant proposal to expand the dental assistant 
workforce through on-site training and DANB cert ificat ion, career marketing 
strategies, and alternative pathways to the RDA designat ion statewide was 
approved by the ND Dental Foundat ion and is cu rrently in act ion .  The goal is 
to increase the number of registered dental assistants statewide over the 
next 5 yea rs. 

3. Expand and support non-profit safety-net clinics through public-pr ivate grant 
partnerships, student internships, and dentist loan repayment programs. 

• Collaborat ion should continue with the six non-profit dental public health 
cl inics to support thei r workforce through recru itment activit ies, grant 
support for outreach, and volunteer dentist support. ACT ION :  The NODA 
collaborated with the State Oral Health Program, State Department of 
Health, on grant applicat ions to fund the on-going state school-based sealant 
program, the long-term care outreach program to connect nu rsing home 
residents to dental care, student internships, and a case management pilot 
program. G rants were awa rded in September .  

• The NODA maintains a semi-annual su rvey of North Dakota dentists to match 
dentists interested in volunteer ing or contract ing with non-profit or Indian 
Health Service clinics. 

• Continue to advocate for and publicize the state loan repayment programs 
and WICHE P rofessional Student Exchange Program, which provide 
incentives for dent ists to start pract icing in the state with a focus on non
profit cl inics, Medicaid, and ru ral areas. These programs have been 
successful in recru it ing dentists to the state and have been a big reason that 
North Dakota leads the nation in the net in-migrat ion of dentists (ADA HP I ,  
2016) . These programs are most important to provide an adequate 
workforce for non-profit cl inics. ACTION:  The NODA markets these loan 
repayment programs to dent ists and graduating dentists on an on-going 
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bas is .  The NODA also helped fac i l i tate a recent grant from the NDDF to Val ley 
Commun ity Health Dental C l i n ic (FQHC commun ity cl i n ic) to support a 
September internship of 2 Un ivers ity of Mi nnesota 4th year dental students. 
The students treated 162 patients, which included 105 Medical Ass i stance 
patients. These internships help recruit new dent ists to North Dakota and 
connect them to oral public health. 

4. Engage with tribal commun ities to improve Indian Health Service dent istry, maximize 
prevention, reduce credential i ng barriers, and facil itate contract ing with the local dental 
commun ity. 

• Conti nue to provide support from the local dental commun it ies for Indian 
Health Service clin ics that have chronic workforce shortages . After the Spirit 
Lake Cli n ic l ost its Indian Health Service (IHS) dental provider in summer 
2016, the NODA recruited four dent ists to ass i st unt il a new full-t ime dent ist 
was hired. There are currently 6 part-time dent ists worki ng there along with 
the new full-t ime dental director that was h ired January 2017. ACTION: Vis its 
were made in 2018 to the 5 Native American I HS/contracted dental cl i n ics to 
learn where help is most needed. A s ite visit at Spirit Lake was made i n  
March 2018 with dental staff, Cankdeska C ikana Commun ity Col lege staff, 
and Spirit Lake Medical Admin istrat ion to develop a plan to estab l i sh a local 
CDHC trai n i ng program to assure an adequate workforce and improve 
commun ity outreach. 

• Conti nue to fac i l i tate outreach on reservations  through the state schoo l 
based seala'nt preventive programs and the Ronald McDonald CareMobi le .  

• Provide support for tri bes that elect "638" status to contract directly  for their 
dentist workforce and establi shment of third-party bill i ng systems . 

• Cont inue work ing with our Congressional delegation  to require IHS to 
s impl i fy credent ial i ng throughout the system to allow better recruiti ng of 
contracted and volunteer dental profess ionals. Credential ing has been a 
major barrier to engaging the local dental commun ity to help with IHS 
workforce needs . ACTION: The NODA led a nat ional effort i n  2017-2018 to 
s impl ify IHS credentia l i ng i n  coordi nat ion with the American Dental 
Associat ion and the ND congress iona l  delegat ion . Thi s  resulted in legi s lat ion 
to standardize credentiali ng protocol at the nat ional IHS leve l .  

For  more information, contact the North Dakota Dental Associat ion at  701-223-8870 or 
wsherwin@smi lenorthdakota.org 
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North Dakota 
D E N T A L  A S S O C I A T I O N  -

Dental Therapy: A Costly 
and Unproven Approach 
Our  pos it i on  i s  that the dental therapy mode l  does not f it No rth Dakota and that we shou l d  
conti nue  to  focus on  educati on ,  p reventi on ,  co l laboration  and outreach spec i fi c  to  ou r  state -
strateg ies that are show ing resu lts. 

There is min imal evidence that dental therapy reduces cost 
or improves qual ity or access to care, particularly in a rural 
state l i ke North Dakota. 
• After  8 years, on l y  9 dental therap ists p ractice i n  ru ral areas of 

M i n nesota - m ost p ractice in the Twin Cities m etro. 

• The dental therapy strategy treats on ly  sym ptoms of dental d isease, 

n ot the d i sease i tse l f  . 

North Dakotans - regardless of socioeconomic status 
- deserve qual ity dental care from the h ighest-trained 
professionals. 
• Dental therapy's focus  o n  l ow- income and underserved pati ents 

i n cent iv izes d i s c ri m in ati o n  and puts the need iest, most co mp l ex cases 

a step furthe r  fro m a denti st. 

• W ith l i m ited trai n i n g, dental therap ists can perform i rrevers i b l e  su rgery 

- i m pacti ng  patients for l ife. 

• N u rse  p ractit i o ners and phys ic ian assistants have more i ntense trai n i ng  

req u i rements and  are st i l l  not a l lowed to  perform i rrevers i b l e  surgery 

with l i m ited or n o  s u p e rv is ion .  

Dental therapy programs are a cost burden to states and do 
not decrease patient costs. 
• Dental therapy i n  Canada fai l ed  without government subs id i es. Existi ng  

p rograms i n  the U .S .  re ly  on support through state subs id i es o r  spec ia l  

i n terests to su rv ive.  

• D ental therap ists are not i ndependent - they work as emp loyees of 

d ental p racti ces and  charge the same fees fo r servi ces as dentists. 

• Estab l i s h i ng  a d ental therapy l i censure wou l d  req u i re a f inanc ial 

i nvestment by N o rth Dakota and wou l d  reduce govern mental effi c i ency 

by regu lat i ng  a scope  of p ractice that d u pl icates procedures a l ready 

a l l owed for d e ntists. 

For more information, visit 
0 www.smi lenorthdakota .org 
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Minnesota's Denta l Therapist Access to Care Solution f'liJLJS 
False Promises and Delayed Care; Solutions Needed Now V 

I n  2009, proponents i n  M i n nesota positioned mid level denta l  practit ioners as the so lut ion to the  state's ora l  hea lth cris is . N i ne  yea rs 
later, M i nnesotans  cont in u e  to experience the same barr iers to obta i n ing good denta l  hea l th .  

THE PROMISE :  "M i nnesota has  a chance to tru ly  lead the nat ion i n  i ts  des i re to improve access and  to add ress some of the root 
ca uses that p lague the  o ra l  hea lt h  cris is in M innesota and  in th i s  country." - Then-Senator Ann Lynch, Dental Therapist legislation 
sponsor, and now lobbyist for its trade association ADH, Minnesota Senate testimony, 3-11 -09 

THE REALITY: N ine years later Minnesota is near the bottom of states in the payment rate for adu lt dental Medicaid services. 
Dental therapists work p redominantly in c l in ics or offices overseen by dentists and receive the same public reimbursement rates 
as dentists. This system fai ls  to reduce costs passed on to patients or incurred by the state. 

THE PROMISE :  " . . .  Our  i n novative academic program [that] wi l l  prepare o ra l  hea l th practit ioners to he lp  add ress the chron ic  
d ispa rities i n  a ccess to ora l  hea lthcare i n  M i nnesota ." -Dr. Linda Baer, Fmr. Senior Vice Chancellor, Minnesota State Colleges and 
Universities, Minnesota Senate testimony, 3-11 -09 

THE REALITY: N ine years later, according to the Minnesota Dental Board Licensure Verification, there are 79 l icensed dental 
therapists in  Minnesota. The same data reveal only 10 are working in Census-designated rural areas. 

THE PROMISE:  "We a re very p leased to propose a model that w i l l  substanti a l ly improve hea lthcare without requ i ring add it iona l 
state i nvestment ."  -Dr. Sue Hammersmith, Fmr. President, Metropolitan State University, Minnesota Senate testimony, 3-1 1 -09 

THE REALITY: Taxpayer funds were spent on a program that was promised to meet, yet has failed to adequately serve the needs 

•nderserved rural commun ities. While the program is funded by specia l interests, its startup cost was underestimated, leaving 
state with unanticipated costs.1 Furthermore, patients are sti l l  seeking dental treatment in emergency rooms at significant 

cost to taxpayers and community hospita ls. 

THE PROMISE :  "Pub l i c  hea lth  advocates in M innesota campaigned successfu l ly  for a law to i ncrease ch i l d ren's access to denta l  care. 
The new law i s  l i ke ly to ensure t hat denta l ca re wi l l  reach many kids who a re underserved ."  -Pew Foundation 'The Minnesota Story' 

THE REALITY: Just over one third of Minnesota kids on the state's pub l ic health insurance received preventive oral health care in 
2015. So low that the program is at risk of losing federal funding. Minnesota's fai led experiment has left kids without the oral 
health care they need . - Star Tribune, 5-1 -201 7 

THE PROMISE :  Accord ing  to federa l  stati stics, 63 m i l l i on  Americans  l ive i n  p laces that the  federa l  government has  designated as 
dentist shortage a reas .  More t han  ha lf of th is  popu lat ion res ides i n  rura l  commun it ies .  M i n nesota po l icymakers focused on th is  gap 
i n  access i n  2009 when they moved to become the fi rst state to authorize denta l  therap ists to practice statewide .  - Dental 
Therapists Can Provide Cost-Efficient  Care in Rural Areas, Pew Foundation, 3-12-18 

THE REALITY: Nine years later, there are only seven actively l icensed dental therapists practicing in rural dentist shortage areas in 
Minnesota2 Similar to a fa i led Canadian program, l icensed dental therapists are abandoning underserved rural communities to 
seek h igher wages in u rban a reas. In fact, they are in metropolitan areas at a higher rate than the genera l popu lation and other 
practitioners . 

• 
1 Minutes of the M innesota Board of Dentistry 2010-2014 
2 Minnesota Board of Dentistry 
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The North Dakota BRFSS data shows that adults in the state are more likely to have visited a dentist � 
3 '1 

in the last 1 2  months, than have visited a physician for routine checkup. Below you'll find a link to 
the data. 

Year DDS Visit in the last 12 Months MD Visit in the last 12 Months 

201 2  67 .2% (95% CI: 65.4 - 69.0) 62.5% (95% CI:  60.5 - 64.5) 
201 4  65 .5% (95% CI: 63 .7 - 67.3) 64.3% (95% CI: 62.5 - 66. 1)  
201 6 66. 1 %  (95% CI: 64.5 - 67.7) 62.0% (95% CI:  60.2 - 63 .8) 

http: //ndhealth.gov/brfss/data/ 
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In their Health Affairs paper, Koppelman, Vitzthum, and Simon (KVS) make the claim that dental 
therapists provide "cost-efficient" care. Unfortunately, there is little or no research contained in 
the KVS paper that might support this and similar claims made by KVS throughout their paper. 
Indeed, KVS do not include reports of original research, but instead summarize the research of 
others. Per KVS, "a growing body of research has found that dental therapists provide high-quality, 
cost-effective care and improve access to care for underserved populations," as the authors write 
in the abstract. However, the narrative of the KVS paper is based on a noticeably small number of 
research studies conducted by other authors and published in other outlets. In their section 
describing research to date, KVS cite only six studies to support the bold claims made throughout 
their paper. Only two of these six studies were published in peer-reviewed journals ( Nash et al . 
2014; Wright et al. 2013), and the remaining four studies are government materials and related 
grey literature. One of the references is simply a set of PowerPoint slides that contains little if any 
detail on the methodology behind the research {Wovcha & Pietig 2016) . The lack of peer review, 
lack of methodological detail, and sparsity of references cast doubt on the main conclusions of KVS. 

Key F indings 

• Koppelman, Vitzthum and Simon's Health Affairs paper lacks the necessary research 
backing and peer review to fully support claims made in their conclusions. The primary 
claim of the paper is that "a growing body of research has found that dental therapists 
provide high-quality, cost-effective care and improve access to care for underserved • patients." However, the authors provide no original research to support this claim and 
much of the data presented by others either lacks peer review or has a high risk of bias. 

o In other words, the "growing body of research" claimed by the authors does not 
appear to exist. 

• The claim that dental therapists provide cost-effective care is not supported by the 
research, as the studies assess cost and quality separately as opposed to a combined cost
effectiveness analysis. 

• The dental therapist model needs to show value if it is to be viable, and this value has not 
been documented in research to date. More research is needed to determine if the dental 
therapist model is effective or cost-effective. 

• 
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The 2018 Mi n nesota Dental Therapy Issue Brief, released by the Minnesota Department of 
Public Health and the Minnesota Board of Dentistry, seeks to provide an overview of the oral 
health workforce as it relates to dental therap ists. The 2018 Mi n nesota Dental Therapy Issue 
Brief can be divided i nto two main  sections according to its substantive contents. The first 
sect ion of the 2018 Minnesota Dental Therapy Issue Brief descri bes the oral health workforce 
as it relates to dental therap ists. This section of the report is largely descript ive, report ing and 
summariz ing basic i nformation and facts about dental therapists. Information on this sect ion of 
the report i ncludes, for example, an overview of legislation relat i ng to the educational 
requirements for dental therapists and the l icensure of dental therap ists. The section of the 
2018 Minnesota Dental Therapy Issue Brief is not as straightforward, and at points may even be 
descri bed as misleadi ng. This section of the report i ntends to summarize information from 
earlier, more techn ical reports . These earlier, more techn ical reports are more specif ically 
concerned with research questions on access to care and f inancial viabil ity that relate to dental 
therap ists, as compared to dentists. Unfortunately, the information reported i n  the 2018 
Minnesota Dental Therapy Issue Brief suffers from a series of methodological and techn ical 
l imitations and problems that undermine its efforts to accurately describe what, if anything 
may or may not be known about access to care and f inancial viab il ity as it relates to dental 
therap ists. There are many l imitations of the underlying research methods, and the 
m isrepresentation of the underlyi ng research in the issue brief exacerbates this problem. 

Key Findings 

• The data on access and quality contained i n  the 2018 Minnesota Dental Therapy 
Issue Brief is based on a surprisi ngly small number of outdated studies. Much of the 
information comes from an outdated 2014 report to the Minnesota state legislature. 
Other information comes from a handful of case studies by Pew and Wilder. 

• Research data drawn from the outdated report to the Min nesota state legislature 
suffers from methodological problems including small, id iosyncratic survey samples, 
survey nonresponse and sample selection bias, and recall b ias .  Addit ional statistical 
analysis, heretofore unreported, is consistent with a f ind ing of recall b ias . 

• Research f indi ngs drawn from the Pew and Wilder case studies are misrepresented 
i n  the 2018 Minnesota Dental Therapy Issue Brief which could mislead policymakers. 
The 2018 Min nesota Dental Therapy Issue Brief confused oral health services 
volume and outcomes, confused revenues with f i nancial viabil ity, and neglected to 
follow best standards i n  economic evaluation and cost-effectiveness analysis. 

• 

• 
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Minnesota's Dental Therapist Workforce (MDTW), 2015 report, Highl ights from the 2015 Dental 
Therapist Workforce Survey was published in August 2016 by the Minnesota Department of 
Health's Office of Rural Health and Primary Care. The MDTW reports the results of a survey f ielded 
in November and December of 2015 by the M innesota Department of Health and the Minnesota 
Board of Dentistry. The purpose of the survey and report are to descr ibe the employment, 
demograph ics, education, career plans, and job satisfaction of dental therapists in Minnesota. The 
MDTW report can be misleading for several reasons. The MDTW description of dental therapist 
employment is inconsistent between the narrative of the report and the data collected in the 
survey. Consequently, the MDTW employment narrative overestimates the number of hours 
worked by dental therapists in Minnesota. 

The MDTW report on employment of dental therapists also suffers from missing data 
problems wh ich can further exacerbate the overestimates of the number of hours worked by 
dental therapists. Discrepancies between the narrative of the report and the data from the survey, 
and problems of missing data, are detrimental both for the MDTW analysis of dental therapist 
employment and for the MDTW analyses of dental therapist demograph ics, education, career 
plans, and job satisfaction .  Fundamental parameters of research design, including survey sample 
size, survey response rates, and even the year of the survey, are mathematically incorrect and 
otherwise inconsistent throughout the MDTW. These discrepancies raise further concerns about 
the validity of the MDTW data and the conclusions of its narrative. 

Key F indings 

• The report contains numerous inconsistencies regarding dental therapist employment in 
Minnesota, including fundamental research parameters that are mathematically incorrect. 
Several of the narratives in the report are directly contradicted by the actual data from the 
survey results. 

• The MDTW narrative descri bes increasing dental therapist employment rates, but in contrast, 
the actual data of the report shows dental therapist employment rates decreased from 2014 to 
2015. 

• It also says 95 percent of dental therapists "considered their schedule full-time," yet data from 
the survey results reports only 57 percent of dental therapists work 36 or more hours per 
week. 

• The report claims that dental therapists worked more hours in 2015 compared to 2014, but the 
data in the report shows dental therapists worked fewer hours in 2015. 

• The MDTW narrative descri bes a shift toward increased dental therapist employment in rural 
areas, but a large number of missing survey responses could result in  a greater proportion of 
dental therapists employed in the urban Minneapolis-Saint Paul reg ion. 

• The analysis overestimates the number of 2016 dental therapy graduates, and counts of dental 
therapy graduates in 2015 were lower than any other year for wh ich data was reported. 

• With missing data taken into account, only 26 percent of dental therapists (14 of 53) reported 
being very satisf ied with their career in the last 12 months. 

• 

• 
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800 NE  Oregon St, Ste 825 
Portland ,  Oregon 97232-2 1 86 

Office: 971 -673-1 563 
Cel l :  509-4 1 3-93 1 8  
Fax: 971 -673-023 1  

www. healthoregon. org/dpp 

F ind ings & Further Clarificat ion Needed on Denta l  P i lot Project #1 00 

SITE VISIT 

On February 26 ,  201 8 ,  the Oregon Health Authority (OHA) conducted the second requ i red site 
visit for Dental P i l ot Project #1 00, "Oregon Tribes Denta l Health Aide Therapist P i lot Project. " 

The O HA Dental P i lot Projects Program is  responsib le for mon itoring approved p i lot projects . 
The primary role  of the Oregon Health Authority is mon itoring for patient safety .  Secondari ly ,  
program staff sha l l  eva luate approved projects and the eva luation shal l  inc lude ,  but is not 
l im ited to , reviewing progress reports and conducting site visits .  OHA is  respons ib le for 
ascerta in i ng  the progress of the project i n  meeting its stated objectives and i n  complying with 
program statutes and regu lat ions. 

Per Oregon Adm in istrative Rule (OAR) 333-0 1 0-0455 ,  a report of fi nd i ngs and an ind ication of 
pass or fa i l  for site visits shal l  be provided to the project d i rector i n  written format with i n  60 
ca lendar days fol l owing a site vis it. The Oregon Health Authority has determ ined that Dental 
P i lot Project #1 00 is in non-compl iance with the requ i rements set forth in OARs 333-0 1 0-0400 
through 333-0 1 0-0470, and therefore has fai led the site visit .  

As outl i ned in OARs 333-0 1 0-0400 - 333-0 1 0-0470,  denta l  p i lot projects are requ i red to 
operate accord i ng to the i r  approved appl ications and mod ifications .  Projects that operate 
outs ide of the approved provis ions i n  the i r  appl ication or mod ifications are i n  violation of the 
OARs. A p i lot p roject may be suspended or terminated du ring the term of approval for 
vio lat ion of 201 1 Oregon Laws, chapter 7 1 6 or any of the OARs 333-0 1 0-0400 th rough 333-
0 1 0-0470.  

STIPULATED AGREEMENT 

On Apri l 3 ,  20 1 8 , the Northwest Port land Area I nd ian Health Board (NPAI H B) entered i nto a 
s igned Stipu lated Agreement wh ich states that the N PAI H B  and OHA agree that OHA has 



adequate g rounds to issue a Notice of Proposed Suspension to N PAI H B .  I n  l ieu of OHA 
issu ing a Notice of Suspension to the project, NPAI H B  agreed to the terms out l ined i n  the 
agreement. N PAI H B  agrees that if they violate the terms of the agreement, OHA may suspend 
its approva l of the project unti l such t ime as it can come i nto comp l iance with its approved 
p lan and OARs 333-0 1 0-0400 to 333-0 1 0-0470. 

SITE VISIT F INDINGS & ITEMS NEEDING FURTHER CLARIF ICATION 

As part of the site visit , there a re several items that need to be add ressed or  requ i re further 
clarification from N PAIH B :  

1 .  Fai lure to Follow OHA Directives : O n  November 2 7 ,  20 1 8 , OHA issued a notice to 
N PAI H B  requ i ring the project to cease provid ing p lanned extractions by denta l  hea lth 
aide therapist (DHAT) tra inees s ince it is outside of the scope of p ractice requ i rements 
as out l i ned i n  the approved appl ication .  NPAI HB  fa i led to inform the project s i tes of the 
d i rectives issued by OHA. DHAT tra inees at the p i lot project s ites conti nued to perform 
p lanned extractions outside of the requ i rements that they be a med ica l  emergency. 
Medical emergencies are defined under ORS 682 .025 and OAR 1 4 1 - 1 20-0000 .  

Corrective Action :  On  February 28 ,  201 8 ,  OHA informed both the N PAI H B  and  cl i n ic  
sites verbal ly of  the concerns d iscovered in the oral interviews with the Native American 
Rehab i l itation Association (NARA) cl i n icians. A commitment to cease procedu res that 
are not a l lowed under the approved appl ication was obtained from both the N PAI H B  
and p i lot s ites .  O n  Apri l 3 ,  20 1 8 , N PAI H B  entered into a s igned Stipu lated Agreement 
agree ing that in  l ieu of OHA issu ing a Notice of Suspension to the project ,  the N PAI H B  

• wi l l  agree to fol l ow cl i n ica l  parameter criteria for extractions out l i ned i n  the agreement. 

2. N itrous Oxide : DHAT tra inees at the p i lot sites provided services to patients who were 
under the use of n i trous oxide .  N i trous oxide was admin istered by the supervis ing 
dentist under d i rect supervis ion .  

In an addendum to their  approved appl ication , NPAI H B  states "The DHATs are not 
tra ined to use it; they wi l l  not be using N itrous Oxide. "  At subsequent Advisory 
Committee meetings ,  the N PAI H B  was questioned as to the methodo logy and log ic of 
exclud i ng DHAT tra inees from receiving tra in ing on n itrous oxide when it is used at 
each p i lot site .  

On October 3 1 , 20 1 7 ,  the N PAI H B  stated that "N itrous is  used at both NARA and 
CTCLUS I ,  but for the purposes of th is p i lot, we have decided at th is po int not to mod ify 
our appl ication to i nclude addit ional tra in ing i n  Oregon on N itrous Oxide for DHATs. 
DHATs a re able to provide treatment to a patient that is placed u nder N itrous Oxide or 
other ana lgesics . "  

On November 2 1 , 20 1 7 , OHA informed the NPAI HB  i n  writing of  the fol l owing 
requ i rements :  

I .  I f  DHAT tra inees are provid ing treatment to patients under "n i trous oxide o r  other 
ana lgesics , "  then OHA requ i res that the tra inees partic ipati ng i n  the approved 

• pi lot project fol l ow the Oregon Board of Dentistry admin istrative rules for 
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I I .  The project must provide clarification o n  the i ntention of us ing n i trous oxide by 

DHATs i n  the p i lot project, as wel l  as the tra i n i ng rece ived and competency if 
operating as an Anesthesia Mon itor, etc. 

I l l .  I f  i t  i s  the in tention of the project tra inees to uti l ize n itrous oxide or work on 
patients under n itrous oxide ,  then the project must apply for a mod ification to 
the i r  app l ication . 

A copy of the adm in istrative rules for n itrous oxide OARs 8 1 8-026-0000 through 8 1 8-
026-0 1 30 was supp l ied to the NPAI HB .  

On November 30 ,  201 7 ,  OHA received a memo from N PAI H B  stating :  "After further 
review of the Oregon Denta l  Practices Act, we agree that our DHATs are not, and wi l l  
not  be authorized to  admin ister N itrous Oxide ,  or work on patients that have received 
N itrous Oxide from someone who has a val id  N itrous Oxide perm it . "  

N PAI H B  fa i led to i nform the project sites of the d irectives issued by OHA. The DHAT 
tra inees at both p i lot s ites provided services to patients who were under the use of 
n itrous oxide . 

Corrective Action : On February 28,  201 8 ,  OHA i nformed both the N PAI H B  and cl in ic 
sites verba l ly  of the concerns d iscovered i n  the ora l  i nterviews with the NARA 
cl i n icians .  A com mitment to cease procedures that a re not a l lowed under the approved 
app l ication was obta ined from both the N PAI H B  and the p i lot s ite . On Apri l 3 ,  20 1 8 , 
N PAI H B  entered in to a signed Stipulated Agreement agreei ng that in  l ieu of O HA 
issu ing  a Notice of Suspension to the project ,  the N PAI H B  wi l l  proh ibit DHAT tra inees 
from treati ng  patients who are receiv ing n itrous oxide . 

Requ i red Next Steps : NPAI HB wi l l  develop written stand ing operati ng procedures 
(SOPs) and reference resources for use by each p i lot p roject site . OHA wi l l  requ i re the 
project to conduct tra in ing sessions at each p i lot p roject site for compl iance with 
requ i red SOP and associated materia ls .  Tra in i ng sessions must be completed at each 
p i lot s ite by August 1 ,  20 1 8 . Dates and attendees of the tra i n i ng sessions must be 
supp l ied to O HA. 

3. Practic ing Outside the Scope of Approved Practice : Review of the chart records 
i nd icate that on th ree separate occasions the tra inee completed extractions or 
attem pted to complete extractions ,  which are outside of the tra inees approved scope of 
p ract ice as outl i ned i n  the Community Health Aide  Programs Board (CHAP) Standards 
and approved app l ication : 

As stated i n  the approved appl ication under CHAP Standard 2 .30 . 6 1 0 ,  i n  add ition to 
the requ i rement that extractions m ust be completed by DHAT tra inees i n  the event 
of a med ica l  emergency, DHAT tra inees are authorized to complete uncompl icated 
extractions with prior eva luation of the x-ray and consultation when  appropriate for 
p roxim ity to the mand ibu lar cana l ;  proximity to the maxi l la ry s inus ,  root fractures or 
d i lacerations ;  mu lti ple roots ; a wel l-defined periodonta l  l igament space ;  and enough 



cl in ica l  crown to luxate the tooth . 

Project tra i nees are only authorized to complete s imple uncompl icated extractions. I n  
two of these instances, the procedure became surg ical i n  nature i n  order to complete 
the procedure .  

A .  I n  the fi rst instance ,  the tra inee attempted to extract tooth #20 with no cl in ica l  
crown above the g ing ival level . Rad iog raphs demonstrate that the tooth had no 
cl in ica l  crown . Chart notes state that the tra inee was unable to extract the tooth 
and requ i red intervention by the supervis ing dentist. The dentist was requ i red to 
cut a flap in order to extract the tooth . 

B .  I n  the second instance,  the tra inee extracted teeth #1 5 and #1 6 .  Chart notes 
state that after the teeth were extracted by the DHAT tra inee ,  buccal bone was 
attached to the extracted teeth . The supervis ing dentist was requ i red to take 
over the procedure and used a bone fi le to reshape the bone in the extraction 
site and suture the area . 

C .  I n  the th i rd instance,  the tra inee extracted teeth #1 8 and #1 9 .  Tooth #1 8 had no 
cl i n ical crown . The two remain ing roots of #1 8 were embedded in  the soft tissue . 
Both rad iographs and intra-oral images demonstrate that the tooth had no 
cl i n ica l  crown . Chart notes state that the tra inee was successfu l ly able to extract 
the teeth . 

OHA is concerned that the DHAT trai nee was authorized to complete procedures that 
• fel l  outside of the i r  scope of practice accord ing to the approved project appl ication . 

DHAT trai nees do not have the scope of practice to cut soft tissue or resolve 
extractions that become surg ica l i n  nature .  The N PAI HB  has stated on severa l 
occasions that the DHAT tra inees are taught the l im itations of the i r  scope of practice 
and are aware of those l im itations.  Of particu lar concern is that the DHAT trai nee at the 
NARA site has been practic ing for over 8 years .  

There is considerable concern that the project's i ntention is to have the DHAT tra inee 
complete extraction procedures under general supervis ion . Had the DHAT tra inee been 
authorized to complete these procedures under genera l  supervis ion ,  with no dentist on
site ,  the DHAT tra inee wou ld have lacked the necessary ski l ls to complete the 
procedure .  Th is wou ld have resulted in undo pa in for the patient and would have 
necessitated a referral to a dentist to complete the procedure .  

Corrective Action :  On Apri l 2 ,  20 1 8 , NPAI H B  entered into a signed Stipu lated Agreement 
agree ing that in  l ieu of OHA issu ing a Notice of Suspension to the project ,  the N PAI H B  
must on ly a l low a DHAT tra inee to perform extractions under the fol lowing cond itions :  

1 .  Al l extractions must be performed under the ind i rect supervis ion of the DHAT 
trainee's supervis ing dentist. I nd i rect supervis ion is defined under ORS 679 . 0 1 0 as 
supervis ion requ i ring that a dentist authorize the procedures and that a dentist be 
on the premises wh i le the procedures are performed . 

• 
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2 .  Fo r  primary and permanent tooth extractions ,  the DHAT tra inee wi l l  fi rst receive and 

document authorization from the supervis ing dentist. 

3 .  Fo r  p rimary teeth , the tra inee may perform non-surg ica l extractions on teeth that 
exh ib it some degree of mobi l ity .  The tra inee wi l l  not extract a tooth if it is u nerupted , 
impacted , fractured or decayed to the gum l ine ,  or needs to be sectioned for 
remova l .  

4 .  Fo r  permanent teeth , the tra inee may perform non-surg ica l extractions of 
periodonta l ly  d iseased teeth with evidence of bone loss and +2 degree of mobi l ity. 
The tra i nee wi l l  not extract a tooth if it is unerupted , impacted , fractured or  decayed 
to the gum l i ne ,  or needs to be sectioned for remova l .  

5 .  Document a l l  i nformation re lated to  extractions as specified above a long with the 
criteria requ i red for the project eva luation which i nclude a recent rad iograph of the 
tooth to be extracted , a pre-operative i ntra-oral image of the tooth to be extracted , 
and a post-operative image of the extracted tooth . 

Requ i red Next Steps: The project is requ i red to clarify the scope of practice concerns 
around i ntra-ora l  suturing .  The DHAT tra inee ind icated in  thei r  interview du ring the site 
vis it that they a re specifica l ly taught that i ntra-ora l  sutu ring is outside of the i r  scope of 
authorized practice . This was confi rmed i n  statements by the supervis ing dentist. Each 
stated that DHA T's are not taught suturing in the tra in ing program and are proh i bited 
from sutu ri ng .  Th is  is of concern as NPAI H B  contradicts the statements of both the 
tra inee and supervis ing dentist. NPAI H B  provided i nformation to OHA stati ng that 
DHA T's are in fact authorized to perform sutur ing and are taught this as part of the i r  
tra i n i ng .  C larification as to the contrad icting statements is requ i red .  

N PAI H B  wi l l  develop written stand ing operating procedures (SOPs) and reference 
resources for use by each p i lot project site .  OHA wi l l  requ i re the project to conduct 
tra in i ng  sess ions at each p i lot project site for compl iance with requ i red SOP and 
associated mater ia ls .  Tra in ing sessions must be completed at each p i lot s ite by August 
1 ,  20 1 8 . Dates and attendees of the tra in ing sessions must be suppl ied to OHA. 

4. I nformed Consent: The project fa i led to obta i n  written i nformed consent for services 
by the tra inee on the date of service, as requ i red in OAR 333-0 1 0-0440 and OAR 1 23-
456-7890, on mu lti ple occasions in  charts provided for review - i nclud ing treatment of 3 
m inors .  On four  occasions, the signed consent to be treated by a tra inee was obtained 
after the i n itia l  date of service . On two occasions ,  the pr inted patient name is not l isted 
on the s igned info rmed consent form . On one occasion ,  i nformed consent to be treated 
by the tra i nee was absent entirely. Overa l l ,  on ly 74% of the 23 charts reviewed in the 
randomized sample had a s igned form consenting to treatment by the DHAT tra inee on 
the i n i tia l  date of service . 

Add itiona l ly ,  an  approved ora l  surgery consent form is requ i red for a l l  extractions .  Of 
the 9 charts reviewed for wh ich an o ra l  surgery consent form is requ i red , on ly 1 chart 
had a s igned o ra l  surgery consent form that matches the form approved for the p i lot 
project. For the remain ing charts , 7 charts incl uded a d ifferent ora l  surgery consent 
form . Written consent for oral surgery is m issing enti rely for one cha rt .  



Corrective Action :  On Apri l 3 ,  20 1 8 , N PAI H B  entered into a s igned Stipu lated 
Agreement agree ing that in l ieu of OHA issuing a Notice of Suspension to the project, 
the N PAI HB  must ensure that a l l  requ i red consent forms a re comp leted and placed i n  
charts pr ior to services being performed . 

Requ i red Next Steps : N PAI H B  wi l l  develop written stand ing operati ng procedu res 
(SOPs) and reference resources for use by each p i lot project s ite .  OHA wi l l  requ i re the 
project to conduct tra in ing sessions at each p i lot project site for compl iance with 
requ i red SOP and associated materia ls .  Tra in ing sessions m ust be comp leted at each 
p i lot site by August 1 ,  20 1 8 . Dates and attendees of the tra in i ng  sessions must be 
supp l ied to OHA. 

5. Non-Adherence to Approved Evaluation & Monitoring Plan : Based on review of the 
23 submitted charts , the project is not in compl iance with Appendix C i ntra-ora l  image 
and rad iograph ic co l lection requ i rements of the approved Eva luat ion and Mon itori ng 
Plan . 

I n  the 23 charts submitted , there were 42 un ique procedures identified that req u i red a 
pre- and post-operative i ntraora l  image. Of these , 1 2  procedu res (29%) were m issing a 
pre-operative and/or post-operative i ntraora l  image. Additiona l ly ,  restoration  procedures 
requ i re an i ntraora l  image of the tooth prep, which was miss ing in 5 of the 3 1  identified 
procedures requ i ring a prep image.  Adequate patient safety and procedure qua l i ty 
cannot be determ ined without p roper image documentation . 

Corrective Action :  On Apri l 3 ,  20 1 8 , N PAI H B  entered into a s igned Stipu lated Agreement 
agreeing that in  l ieu of OHA issu ing a Notice of Suspension to the project, the N PAI H B  wi l l  
adhere to the i r  approved Eva luation and  Monitor ing Plan . 

Requ i red Next Steps : N PAI H B  wi l l  develop written stand ing operati ng procedu res 
(SOPs) and reference resources for use by each p i lot project s ite .  OHA wi l l  requ i re the 
project to conduct tra in ing sessions at each p i lot project site for compl iance with 
requ i red SOP and associated materia ls .  Tra in ing sessions must be com pleted at each 
p i lot s ite by August 1 ,  20 1 8 . Dates and attendees of the tra i n i ng sessions must be 
supp l ied to OHA. 

6. Fai lure to Submit Required Information to OHA as Required : As part of the site 
visit , the project was requ i red to submit a randomized sample of charts to OHA by 
February 27 ,  20 1 8  based upon quarterly data submitted in  the Deta i led Data Report .  
Upon review, it was determi ned that a s ign ificant portion of these charts were 
i ncomplete and were m issing s ign ificant components requ i red for review and 
assessment of  qua l ity .  These include pre-operative intra-ora l  i mages, prep intra-ora l 
images, post-operative i ntra-oral images, pre-operative rad iographs and i nformed 
consent forms .  

• 

Reviewers were unable to adequately assess several of these charts as requ i red for 
eva luat ion of patient safety. Of the 24 charts requested , 63% were m iss ing one or  more 
element. OHA further requested the missing components of the charts and received 
most of the requ i red materia ls on March 1 6 , 201 8 .  Project managers ind icated on that • 
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date that one chart number had been i ncluded i n  the Deta i led Data Report i n  error, and 
was not a patient seen by the tra inee . 
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Corrective Action :  On  Apri l 3 ,  20 1 8 , NPAI H B  entered i nto a s igned Stipu lated Agreement 
agreeing that in l ieu  of OHA issu ing a Notice of Suspension to the project, the N PAIHB  wi l l  
adhere to the i r  approved Evaluation and Monitoring P lan .  

Requ i red Next Steps: NPAI H B  wi l l  develop written stand i ng operati ng procedu res 
(SOPs) and reference resources for use by each p i lot project site .  OHA wi l l  requ i re the 
project to conduct tra in ing sessions at each p i lot project site for compl iance with 
requ i red SOP and associated materia ls .  Tra in ing sessions must be completed at each 
p i lot s ite by August 1 ,  201 8 .  Dates and attendees of the tra in i ng sess ions must be 
supp l ied to O HA. 

7 .  Detai led Data : The project is requ i red to submit a fu l l  and complete deta i led data report 
(DOR) to OHA quarterly . Upon review of the DOR and comparison of the chart records ,  
n umerous procedures were omitted on the deta i led data report .  I nstructions for 
subm ission of the DOR ind icate that every service provided by the tra inee must be 
i nc luded as a separate entry. Stratified random samp les are selected from the 
i nformation conta ined in the DOR,  so accuracy of the DOR is critica l to the requ i red 
eva luat ion by OHA. 

Based upon the submitted DOR, there were an expected 41 un ique procedures 
(defi ned by ADA CDT codes) completed by the tra i nee on 23 un ique patients . After 
review, there were 1 02 un ique procedures identified as being completed by the tra inee .  
Of the 23 charts reviewed , on ly 35% were accurately represented i n  the DOR. The 
procedu res om itted i n  the DOR i ncl ude one completed extraction ,  as wel l  as many 
preventive and restorative services. Th is is an ind ication of severe data val id ity issues 
in the deta i led data reports as submitted . Without a comp lete data set in the DOR,  
conclus ions cannot be drawn as to the representative nature of  the charts subm itted . I t  
is  u nknown how many other procedures have been completed by the tra inee that were 
not i nc luded on the DOR for charts not selected i n  the randomized sample .  

Corrective Action : On Apri l 3 ,  20 1 8 , N PAI H B  entered into a s igned Stipu lated 
Agreement agreeing that in l ieu of OHA issu ing a Notice of Suspension to the project, 
the N PAI H B  wi l l  adhere to the i r  approved Eva luat ion and Monitoring P lan .  

Requ i red Next Steps : NPAI HB  wi l l  develop written stand ing operating procedures 
(SOPs) and reference resources for use by each p i lot project site .  OHA wi l l  requ i re the 
project to conduct tra in ing sessions at each p i lot p roject site for compl iance with 
requ i red SOP and associated materia ls .  Tra in ing  sess ions must be completed at each 
p i l ot s ite by August 1 ,  20 1 8 . Dates and attendees of the tra in i ng sessions must be 
supp l ied to O HA. 

The next deta i led data report is due to OHA by Apri l 30, 201 8 and must inc lude every 
procedu re comp leted by the tra inee. 

8. Fai lure to Document: The p i lot site has fa i led to ma intai n  accurate patient records in 
accordance with OAR 8 1 8-0 1 2-0070. Examples i nclude i ncorrectly record i ng treatment 



rendered , incorrectly cod i ng for one procedure when a d ifferent procedure was 
performed , and not record ing patient weight when adm in istering analgesics to m inors .  

Addit ional ly ,  i n  one i nstance ,  the tra inee completed an extraction that was coded as 
D72 1 0 , wh ich fa l ls  outside the scope of DHAT practice. D72 1 0 is defined as surg ica l  
remova l of  erupted tooth requ i ring elevation of  mucoperiosteal flap and remova l of  bone 
and/or section of tooth . Project managers ind icated that this was coded in error, wh ich 
ind icates a fa i l u re to accurately document patient treatment. 

Requ i red Next Steps : N PAI H B  wi l l  develop written stand ing operati ng procedures 
(SOPs) and reference resources for use by each p i lot project site .  OHA wi l l  requ i re the 
project to conduct tra in ing sessions at each pi lot project site for compl iance with 
requ i red SOP and associated materia ls .  Tra in ing sessions must be completed at each 
p i lot s ite by August 1 ,  201 8 .  Dates and attendees of the tra in ing sessions must be 
suppl ied to OHA. 

9. Advisory Committee : The project fa i led to meet with thei r  own advisory committee in  
the two years since approval of  the dental p i lot project. The approved appl ication 
i ncludes deta i ls  of the project assembl ing an Advisory Committee of thei r  own and 
meeting regu larly . The project has not met once in two years s ince the approval of the 
project in February 20 1 6 . 

Corrective Action :  OHA wi l l  requ i re the project adhere to the i r  approved appl ication .  
OHA wi l l  requ i re that the N PAIH B  conduct quarterly meetings with the i r  own Advisory 
Committee. The N PAIH B  wi l l  submit dates and attendees of these meetings i n  the ir  

• quarterly progress report to OHA. 

1 0. Project Management: There is considerable concern that the N PAIH B  is fa i l i ng  to 
adequately commun icate cl in ica l  concerns with the project sites. Supervis ing dentists at 
each p i lot site have ind icated frustration with a lack of commun ication on issues which 
are h igh ly relevant and time sensitive .  Concerns remain that the NPAI H B  does not 
have a cl i n ica l  denta l subject matter expertise in the project manager role .  There 
remains ambigu ity and inconsistencies regard ing cl in ica l  questions and concerns ra ised 
by both OHA and the Advisory Committee around extractions, n itrous and sutur ing . 
Several statements received by OHA from the project have contradicted each other and 
have caused concern regard i ng patient safety and the provis ion of qua l ity care .  

Corrective Action : On Apri l 3 ,  20 1 8 , N PAI H B  entered into a s igned Stipu lated Agreement 
agreeing that in l ieu of OHA issu ing a Notice of Suspension to the project, the NPAI H B  wi l l  
h i re or contract for an Oregon- l icensed dentist actively practic ing i n  the State of Oregon ,  to 
provide cl in ica l  technica l  expertise and project oversight by June 21 , 201 8 .  

RESPONSE REQUIRED 

The project wi l l  respond to a l l  concerns outl i ned above that are not addressed i n  the 
Stipu lated Agreement. OHA wi l l  conduct a fo l low-up site visit to the NARA p i lot site with in  • 
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the next 6 months to assure that the corrective actions outl i ned above have been 
performed . 

The Northwest Portland Area I nd ian Hea lth Board must respond to any find ings or  
requests for clarifi cation by Wednesday, May 1 6, 201 8 . 

A fu l l  report of find ings wi l l  be issued by OHA by August 1 ,  20 1 8 . 

S incere ly ,  

Bruce Austin ,  DMD 
Statewide Denta l  D i rector 

CC: Denta l  P i lot P roject Advisory Committee #1 00 
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1 9 . 0603 .03000 

Sixty-sixth 
Leg is lative Assem bly 
of N orth Dakota 

I ntroduced by 

HOUSE BILL N0. 1 426 

Representatives Devl i n ,  D .  Anderson , Dobervich , Johnston , Rohr, Schneider 

Senators Dever, Heckaman ,  0 .  Larsen , J .  Lee , Schaible 

1 A B ILL  for an  Act to create and enact four  new sections to chapter 43-20 of the North Dakota 

2 Century Code ,  relating to regulation of denta l  therapists ; and to amend and reenact sections 

3 43-20-01 . 1  and 43-20-08 of the North Dakota Century Code,  relat ing to dental therapist 

4 defin it ion and u nlawfu l practice of dental hygiene,  dental therapy, and dentistry. 

5 BE IT E NACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA:  

6 SECTION 1 .  AMENDMENT. Section 43-20-01 . 1  of the North Dakota Century Code is 

7 amended and reenacted as follows : 

8 43-20-01 . 1 . Defin itions. 

9 As used i n  th is chapter and chapter 43-28 ,  un less the context otherwise requ i res: 

1 0  1 .  "Dental assistant" means an ind iv idual who provides dental assistance under the 

1 1  

1 2  

supervision of a dentist and with in  the scope of practice establ ished by rule and 

sect ion 43-20-1 3 .  

1 3  2 .  "Dental hyg ienist" means an  ind iv idual l icensed to  practice dental hyg iene.  

1 4  3 .  "Dental therapist" means an  ind ividual  l icensed to  practice dental therapy. 

1 5  4 .  "Federally gual ified health center look-al ike" means a commun ity-based health care 

1 6  provider that meets the regu i rements of the federal health resources and services 

1 7  

1 8  

admin istration health center program but does not receive health center program 

fund ing. 

1 9  5 .  "Qual ified dental assistant" means an ind ividual reg istered as a qual ified dental 

20  assistant to  provide dental assistance as  establ ished by ru le .  

2 1  4.-6. "Registered dental assistant" means an ind iv idual reg istered as a reg istered dental 

22 assistant to  provide dental assistance as establ ished by ru le .  

23 SECTION 2. AMENDMENT. Section 43-20-08 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

24 amended and reenacted as fol lows: 
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1 43-20-08. Unlawful to practice without l icense or registration. 

2 A person may not practice dental therapy or dental hygiene or practice as a reg istered or 

3 qual ified dental assistant in the state, without fi rst obtain ing from the board a l icense or 

4 reg istration . A person may not practice as a dental assistant outside the scope of practice 

5 establ ished by the board by rule and section 43-20-1 3 .  

6 SECTION 3. A new section to chapter 43-20 of the North Dakota Century Code is created 

7 and enacted as fol lows: 

8 Dental therapist l icensing. 

9 1.,_ Except as otherwise specified i n  this chapter, an indiv idual seeking to practice dental 

1 0  therapy in  th is state shal l  apply to the executive d irector of the board on forms and in  

1 1  

1 2  

1 3  

1 4  

1 5  
1 6  

1 7  
1 8  

1 9  

20 

2 1  

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

the manner prescribed by the board and using the processes for l icens ing of dentists 

and dental hygien ists. The board shal l  grant a l icense to practice dental therapy to an 

appl icant who has met the fol lowing requirements: 

a .  The appl icant is a graduate of a board-approved dental therapy education 

program.  

ill I n  determin ing whether to approve an education program, the board shal l  

consider whether the program is accredited by the American dental 

association's commission on dental accred itation . 

.(21 If, after a review under paragraph 1 the board does not approve a dental 

therapy education program, and the applicant graduated from or is enrol led 

in a dental therapy education program before January 1 ,  2020, the board 

shal l  consider whether the education program is approved by a regulatory 

board of another jurisd iction and whether the program's education is 

comparable to an accredited program, includ ing any postgraduation 

education the appl icant may have obtained to achieve a comparable 

education . 

b .  The appl icant passed a board-approved examination to demonstrate competency 

in dental therapy. 

c .  With in  one year of submitting the appl ication, the applicant passed a written 

examination on the laws and rules governing the practice of dentistry in th is state . 

1 9.0603.03000 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

d .  The  appl icant completed five hundred hours of dental therapist cl in ical practice 

under the d i rect or ind irect supervision of a dentist which may be completed 

during or after the appl icant's education program or a combination of both. 

Supervised cl in ical practice under th is subdivis ion for the purpose of qual ifying for 

l icensure is not a violation of section 43-20-08 .  

e .  Grounds for denial of  the appl ication under section 43-20-05 do not exist. 

l The appl icant has met any requ irement for l icensure establ ished by the board by 

ru le.  

9 2 .  Except as  otherwise provided in  this chapter, sections 43-20-0 1 . 3, 43-20-0 1 .4, 

1 0  43-20-02 . 1 ,  43-20-05, 43-20-06, 43-20-1 0, 43-20-1 1 ,  43-20-1 2 .2, and 43-28-06 also 

1 1  apply to dental therapist l icensing. 

1 2  SECTION 4. A new section to chapter 43-20 of the North Dakota Century Code is created 

1 3  and enacted as fol lows : 

1 4  Dental therapists - Limitations on practice. 

1 5  1,_ A dental therapist may not practice dental therapy un less the dental therapist is an 

1 6  

1 7  

1 8  

1 9 

20 

2 1  

2 2  

23 

24 

employee or contracted provider of: 

a .  A federal ly qual ified health center or a federal ly qual ified health center look-alike. 

b.,_ A not-for-profit or governmental dental practice or organ ization that serves 

primari ly low-income and underserved ind ividuals. 

c .  An organ ization provid i ng services on behalf of or under the authorization of 

I nd ian health services, a tribal entity provid i ng health care under the federal 

I nd ian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act of 1 975 [Pub .  L. 

No. 93-638: 88 Stat. 2203: 25 U .S .C .  5301 et seq.], or other organ ization 

provid ing services to members of a federal ly recogn ized I nd ian tribe in th is state . 

25  2 .  To the extent authorized by the organ ization and  t he  supervising dentist, a dental 

26 therapist employed by or under contract with an organ ization described in  

27 subsection 1 may provide services i n  a commun ity setting, includ ing a school, nursing 

28 home, veterans' faci l ity, or dental c l in ic .  

29 SECTION 5. A new section to chapter 43-20 of the North Dakota Century Code is created 

30 and enacted as fol lows : 

1 9 . 0603.03000 
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1 Dental therapists - Scope of practice. 

2 1.,_ Un less restricted or proh ibited by the supervising dentist i n  the written col laborative 

3 management agreement, a dental therapist may perform the fol lowing services u nder 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

1 0  

1 1  

12 

1 3  

1 4  

1 5  

1 6  

1 7  

1 8  

19 

20 

21 

22 

the supervision of a supervising dentist: 

a. The dental therapy services l isted in the American dental association's 

commission on dental accred itation's accreditation standards for dental therapy 

education programs; 

b .  Processing rad iographic images; 

c. Fabricating soft occlusal guards; 

d .  Admin istration of  n itrous oxide analgesics; 

e. Nonsurgical extractions of periodontal ly d iseased permanent teeth that exh ib it 

plus th ree or grade 3 mobi l ity and that are not impacted, fractured, unerupted, or 

in  need of section ing for removal; 

f,_ Pu lpotomy on primary teeth; 

g,_ Recement permanent crown; 

b.,_ l ntraoral suturing; 

L. Placement of space maintainers; 

1 All functions of a dental assistant; 

k.  Other related services and functions that are authorized by the supervising 

dentist with in  the dental therapist's scope of practice and for which the dental 

therapist is trained; and 

I.,_ Other services of a dental therapist authorized by the board by ru le .  

23 2.,_ A dental therapist may not prescribe any drug. With in the parameters of the written 

24 col laborative management agreement, with in  the practice of denta l therapy, and with 

25 the authorization of the supervis i ng dentist, a dental therapist may provide, d ispense. 

26 and admin ister the following drugs: analgesics, anti-inflammatories, and antibiotics. A 

27 dental therapist may not provide, d ispense, or admin ister a narcotic d rug. 

28 SECTION 6. A new section to chapter 43-20 of the North Dakota Century Code is created 

29 and  enacted as follows: 

1 9 . 0603.03000 
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1 Dental therapist supervision. 

2 1,_ Except u nder the supervision of a dentist and pursuant to a written col laborative 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

management agreement with the supervis ing dentist. a dental therapist may not 

practice dental therapy. A dental therapist may perform dental therapy services under 

general supervision to the extent authorized by the supervising dentist and consistent 

with protocols, cond itions, and l imitations contained in the collaborative management 

agreement. The written col laborative management agreement entered between a 

dentist and a dental therapist must: 

a. Add ress any l imitation on services establ ished by the supervising dentist, the 

level of supervision requ i red for various services or treatment sett ings, practice 

protocols, recordkeeping, managing med ical emergencies, qual ity assurance, 

admin istering and dispensing medications, and supervis ion of dental assistants: 

b .  I nclude specific written protocols to govern situations i n  wh ich the dental therapist 

encounters a patient requ ir ing treatment that exceeds the authorized scope of 

practice of the dental therapist: 

c.  Be signed and maintained by the supervising dentist and the dental therapist: 

and 

d_,_ Be submitted to the board upon request of the board .  

1 9  2 .  To the extent authorized by t he  supervis ing dentist i n  the written collaborative 

20 

21 

22  

23  

24 

management agreement, a dental therapist may evaluate and assess oral health 

cond itions, plan treatment, and perform dental therapy services in a practice sett i ng at 

which the supervising dentist is not onsite and has not previously examined or 

diagnosed the patient. The supervising dentist must be avai lable for consultation by 

telephone or other means of electron ic communication . 

1 9.0603 .03000 



• What 1s  a • 
D E N TA L  T H E R A P I S T ?  

It depends on where you are. The defin ition of a denta l therap ist va r ies w i l d ly 
depend i ng on where you a re .  The i n cons i stenc ies i n  scope and  supervis i on  
and  requ i red tra i n i ng for denta l therap ists make it d ifficu lt to  make accu rate 
p red ictions of the potentia l  success or fa i l u re of a new state p rogram .  

TRAINING Bachelor's  Degree from a 
recognized program 1 

SCOPE Can only provide surgica l 
procedures for ch i ld ren, not 
adults8 

DENTAL None8 

SHORTAGE 

AREA PRACTICE 

REQUIREMENT 

DENTAL DISEASE t
1

5 RATE SINCE DTs 

COST Over-budget20 

EFFECT New Zea land continues to 
have u ntreated tooth decay 
in 20% of school-aged 
ch i ldren - identica l  to the 
leve ls of U.S. ch i ldren . 27 It 
a lso has a significantly aging 
dental therapist 
workforce.32 

20 months of tra i n i ng, 
inc lud ing pre-c l i n ical 
components2 

Can perform surgical 
procedures without a 
supervis ing dentist 
on-site9 

None.  I nstead of working i n  
rura l  commun ities, more 
than 75% worked i n  more 
populated a reas where they 
cou ld earn a higher wage. 14 

+-+
16 

Over-budget21 

The p rogram was not 
v iab le without continua l  
government fund ing. When 
that  funding ended, so d id  
the program. 21 

18- to 24-month 
commun ity col lege 
program with 400 cl in ica l  
tra i n ing hours3 

Can perform extractions of 
adult teeth emergency 
situations where a dentist 
has been consu lted· and  
on ly can practice on  tr iba l  
lands10 

None10 

t
17, 18 

Over-budget22• 23 

Ava i l ab le  research i n  Alaska 
has vastly overstated the 
degree of impact DHATs 
have de l ivered, and fa i led 
to produce a comparison of 
costs before and  after be ing 
employed.  22• 23 

A Bachelor 's degree 
in dental therapy 4,

5 

Can perform surgical 
procedures with i nd i rect 
supervis ion from an on-site 
dentist. Advanced dental 
therapists can d ispense 
certa i n  medications 11• 12 

Just 9 DTs practice in rural 
a reas a lthough law requ i res 
DTs to practice i n  
underserved a reas o r  serve 
low-income patients. 25 

+-+
19 

Over-budget24• 25 

E ight years later, just 52 
dental therap ists a re 
p racticing" and patients 
a re sti l l  seeking dental 
treatment i n  ERs at cost to 
taxpayers and commun ity 
hospita l s . 28 

An associate' s degree i n  
dental hygiene, Bachelor of 
Science from CODA
accred ited* p rogram (none 
exist) and 2,000 hours 
c l i n ica l  practice6 

Can on ly provide 
care and surgical 
p rocedures under d i rect 
supervis ion of 
a dentist6• 13 

May on ly practice i n  
hospita ls, pub l i c  schools, 
FQHCs o r  a pr ivate practice 
that serves 50% Medica id 
patients. 6• 13 

? • 
Never funded6 

Two years after passage of 
enab l i ng legislation, there 
a re no educational  
programs o r  therapists. 
Proponents have a l ready 
tr ied and fai led to expand 
the  scope of the l aw .  29 

Graduate from CODA
accredited* program (of 
which none exist) and have 
1,000 hours c l i n ical practice 
with d i rect supervis ion7 

Can perform surgical 
procedures without 
a supervis ing dentist 
on-site7 

None7 

? • 
Never funded26 

Vermont is a l ready a 
leader i n  o ra l  hea lth, with 
many access i nd icators wel l 
above the US average, 30 

most notably the � 
percentage of Med icaid- OS 
el ig ib le k ids who saw a � � '
dentist in 2013. 31 This 9,; 1'- ,-t 
program d iverts fund i� � � 
from proven, effective � ,_,, " 
solutions .  � 
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NDDA Key Points-Dental Therapy 

Al l North Dakotans - regardless of socioeconomic status - deserve qual ity 
denta l  care from the h ighest-trained professionals.  Though wel l 
i ntentioned,  dental  therapy's proposed focus on low-income and 
u nderserved patients incentivizes d iscrim ination and puts the need iest, 
most com plex cases a step further from a dentist. 

• Poor children and adults shouldn't be stopped from seeing a dentist by a system 
that redirects them to providers with less training than dentists. 

• Dental therapists would essentially be allowed to perform irreversible surgery 
with less training than a dentist. Nurse practitioners in the U.S. have more 
training and are .still not allowed to perform major' irreversible surgery. 

Ava i lable fund ing  for improving publ ic  ora l  health is scarce. The most 
effective way to make real improvements is through prevention and 
education ,  not adding another provider to the mix whose focus wi l l  be 
d ri l l i ng and pu l l i ng  teeth . 

• Dental therapy programs are heavily subsidized by and cannot stand up on their 
own without government assistance or support from special interests. 

• Dental therapy reflects a strategy of treating the symptoms of dental disease, 
rather than treating the disease itself. 

Denta l  therapy programs are a cost burden to states i n  which they 
operate-too expensive to survive without subsid ies. The Canad ian 
program fai led once government subsid ies ended . 

• Dental therapy fails to reduce costs for the patient or the state - the cost of a 
procedure is the same no matter who provides it. Taxpayers, insurance 
companies and patients paying out of pocket save no mohey when they are seen 
by a dental therapist. 

• Existing dental therapist models in the U.S. are either subsidized by sponsoring 
agencies (in Alaska) or charge the very same amount to taxpayers as dentists (in 
Minnesota) . 

• The dental therapist movement reflects a strategy of treating the symptoms of 
dental disease, rather than its causes. Under this program, resources are 
diverted from prevention, education, and connecting populations with dentists -
ali of which are critical to improving patient health. 
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Dental  therapy fai ls as a "free market" solution to reduce healthcare costs 
because it adds a new layer of state l icensure, and they do not provide 
competition  for dentists.  

• Creating dental therapy makes it harder for states attempting to reduce licensure 
requirements and regulations, because it creates more government. By definition 
their scopes of practice are redundant to procedures already allowed for dentists, 
creating a new layer of bureaucracy without delivering any new service or 
savings to patients . 

• A successful free-market approach to improve patient oral health would involve 
direct competition between new dental practice models , resulting in better care 
and lowers costs. That is not what dental therapy offers or delivers . Dental 
therapists work within existing dental practices as employees and charge the 
same amount for their services as dentists . 

• Dental therapists in Minnesota are also now being offered loan forgiveness to 
encourage them to practice in rural areas. This additional unanticipated cost to 
taxpayers shows how these redundant programs require significant government 
subsidies and are not working as promised. 

Creating a new dental  provider i n  North Dakota is not a v iable solution to 
reduce barriers to care i n  ru ral areas. Dental therapists can on ly do  l im ited • 
procedures and do not have the broader diagnostic education necessary to 
work without a dentist on-s ite . After 8 years, only 9 denta l  therapists 
practice i n  rura l  areas of M innesota ; most practice i n  the Twi n  Cities area . 

North Dakota solutions are needed to reduce barriers to care :  

• Improve dental Medicaid with adequate funding, reduced administrative 
burden , and vigorous dentist recruitment 

• Maximize the current dental hygiene and assistant workforce through 
expanded training programs, community outreach, and case management to 
connect more high-risk patients to a dental home 

• Expand and support non-profit safety-net cl inics through public-private grant 
partnerships and dentist loan repayment programs 

• Engage with tribal communities to improve Indian Health Service dentistry , 
maximize prevention , reduce credentialing barriers , and facilitate contracting with 
the local dental community. 

• 



• HB 1426 

Dr Steven Deisz 

North Dakota Dental Association 

January 21, 2019 

Chairman Weisz and members of the House Human Services Committee, my name is Dr .  Steven 

Deisz .  I am here today representing the North Dakota Dental Association (N ODA}, our  board of 

trustees, and our  over 4o'O member dentists across the state of North Dakota. 

I was born and raised in Bismarck and retu rned home after receiving my dental degree from 

Midwestern University in 2014, where I have practiced for almost five years and currently serve 

as the P resident of the Missou ri Slope Dental Society. 

I am here today to testify in opposition to House Bill 1426 on behalf of the North Dakota Dental 

Association. The benefits of dental therapy have been contin ually oversold; all while there is still 

• 
no evidence to show it wil l work as promised in North Dakota. As Mr. Sherwin has mentioned, 

the North Dakota Senate in 2015 and the North Dakota House in 2017 again affirmed our  

position that the dental therapy model is not the right solution for North Dakota. 

• 

� 
I'd like to discuss the dental therapy bill concerns from a clinician's standpoint : 

1. Dental School Training 

I am p roud to say that I made'it through fou r  incredibly difficult, fast paced years of 
' . ' 

dental school. F rb'm the day I started until the day I graduated/ I was learning and 

perfecting my skills as a dentist. We were put thro�gh two years of preclinical traini ng 

before even moving to clinic. Th'at's two years of p racticing on plastic teeth, literally 

thousands of preparations an·d fillings. On top of a'll'the preclin ical dental education we 
C �.. ; ' l .; • " _, 

were received, we learned 'about the human body 1 at the same level as our  medical 

student coJ'nt�q,;rts . I a� in� ·no way t rying to clairii 'that I also�have a medical degree; 

but I did spend ti�e studying the same things medical docto;s start their p rograms with . 

There is a reason dental schools teach this, we are working on people, sometimes with 

multiple systemic issues, and not j ust their teeth. Part one of our dental boards involves 



general concepts of tooth anatomy and occl usion as well as Anatomic Sciences, 

M icrobiology/Pathology, Biochemistry/Physiology, and Ethics and Patient Management. 

Once in cl i n ic, we learned why the fi rst two years were so difficult .  Our patients had 

complex dental needs, complex medical histories, medicat ion l ists that filled mult iple 

sheets of paper. Dental school is fou r  years for a reason; there was not a day I was not 

pushed to my l imits because that is what it takes to prepare someone to handle the 

needs of each and every dental pat ient. 

To compare cu rricul ums briefly, i n  my f irst two years of dental school at M idwestern 

Un iversity in Glendale 120 credit hou rs were requ i red. That was before I had a chance 

to ever work on a s ingle patient. Dental therap ists in the 3-year program have 118 

credit hou rs .  Even more alarming is that only 44 of those credit hou rs are dedicated to 

the dental therapy cu rricul um. At that poi nt, they would be out practici ng "s imple 

dent istry" u nder the supervision of a dent ist (whether it be general or di rect 

supervision) . They'd be able to do pul potomies (baby tooth root canals) and place 

stai nless steel crowns on baby teeth. I'm sure my pediatric dent ist friends p robably 

were j ust having fun while they endu red 10 years of school to be able to t reat thei r 

pat ients with the highest qual ity of care. 

It is also unfai r  to compare dental therapists to Physician's Assistants and Nu rse 

P ractitioners .  To become a Physician Assistant, one must earn a bachelor's degree, 

which takes roughly fou r  years, and complete a physician assistant t rai n i ng p rogram, 

which takes another two years . To become a Nu rse Practit ioner, a student must 

complete a 4-year Bachelor's of Science in Nursi ng (BSN) . After earn ing  you r  BSN, you 'll 

need to complete a master's degree program that tra ins n u rse pract it ioners. NP degrees 

can take 2 to 4 years. Despite the fact that PAs and NPs have more than 2 t imes the 

trai n i ng, they are st ill not performing i rrevers ible procedures . The comparison is a poor 

one as the scope that dental therapy is asking to perform i ncl udes i r reversible 

procedures . 

2. Bridging the Dental Gap 

ffl3N� '1  
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After graduation, I was l ucky to have had the opportun ity to work at Br idg ing  the Dental • 
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Gap for a few months. In my time at Bridging the Dental Gap, I learned a tremendous 

amount about the dental community, its diversity, and its needs. I saw Medicaid 

patients, patients 'that needed help with pain, help with function, and help with their 

confidence. I was amazed at the impact I could have on someone's life when providing 

treatment that they desperately needed. I also learned that sometimes, people did not 

put enough value on their dental needs. Patients with a broken tooth who would miss 

three appointments but would then call 2 months later and demand to be seen 

immediately because they were in so much pain. I had to learn that sometimes, 

educating a patient to address needs before they were emergencies was essential 

because not everyone knew the consequences of neglecting their dental care. 

I was also lucky enough to volunteer on the Ronald McDonald Care Mobile as well. My 

time on the Care Mobile was wonderful. I realized that not only could I help fix the 

cavities that a 5 year old had, but I could talk with his/her mother or father about why 

the cavities formed. Not only did that hopefully prevent the 5 year old from getting 
I 

additional cavities, but the 3 year old, 2 year old, and 6 month old siblings also 

benefitted from the education of their parents. While it was often incredibly difficult 

dentistry, I feel the greatest impact I was able to make was in education, which then 

becomes preventfon. 

In September, I was lucky enough' to participate in North Dakota's first Mission of Mercy 

event. You hav'e·h�ard or see·n all the numbers, you know the impact that 110 dentists, 

48 hygienists, 105" dental a�sistants and 4 lab techs had as the� provided an estimated 

$564,964 of dental care for 9i6 individuals. I did t rl�ge of de�ta'i needs and extracted � , 
,.. ' '  ' .  ' / ,  ' ,. 

teeth at this everit. I took out close to 40 teeth in one day, not one was a simple 

extraction. While screeni�g patients, their chief ctirnplaints were never simple dental 

needs. The pati�n'ts who wet� seen at the MOM event needed :to be seen by dentists. I 

did not see a singl·e patient at ·the event that I woLi'ld. have se�t to a dental therapist if 
� .  ( ·, - � l 1 ' ... • ; ·-. ..., • 

they were readily' available afthe eve11t. I have alsd had patients in my office that 

needed a single sffnple extraction 'and removed the tdoth in �hder 30 seconds solely 

because it was that loose. Then the unexpected happens, the patient bites on gauze 

and you see no clotting, they just bleed. I have to go in pack the extraction site with a 



resorbable sponge, sutu re, have the patient b ite on gauze or a teabag all to get a 

"s imple extract ion" to stop bleeding. I 've had simple extractions t u rn into su rgical 

extractions, dentistry is not simple, and each patient is different. 

3. Medicaid and IHS patients 

P roviding access to ALL North Dakotans, is something that is important to me and all of 

my fellow North Dakota Dental Association counterparts. With HB 1426, the idea is to 

provide better access to care. However, the b ill may actually make it more difficult for 

these pat ients to see appropriately trained cl inicians. The majority of my Medicaid 

pat ients that I saw in my time at Bridging the Dental Gap, or that I still see daily in 

pr ivate practice, come in with incredi bly complex medical histories. Patients come in 

with uncontrolled diabetes, high blood pressu re, anxiety, dep ression, psychiatr ic 

disorders, fi b romyalgia, etc. In an effort to provide proper care to a pat ient, it is 

imperat ive that dental providers are able to properly comprehend medical histories or 

the contraindicat ions to administrat ion of anesthetics, contraindicat ions to t reatments, 

and when to refer to an appropr iate medical professional. I have great concern for 

pat ients' well-being when someone who doesn't receive enough training on the 

compl ications that might occur  due to health history or medicat ions that these pat ients 

are taking. I 'd argue that the most compl icated health histories or medicat ion l ists are 

on the pat ients that this b ill is attempting to put in the hands of dental therapists. Each 

and every North Dakotan deserves access to someone that is p roperly trained to 

comprehend whole health. I 'd l ike to share a prime example of the difference my 

training can make and would ask you to consider the outcomes had I been a layperson 

who elected to seek care from a dental therapist. I found a l ump in my neck. Everything 

I was taught said it was not good. It was hard and painless which I wanted to tell myself 

meant it was no big deal, but I knew from my training in dental school that it was 

concerning. I was in the best shape of my l i fe, I felt great, my wife and I were expect ing 

our  fi rst child, I was in the dental pract ice I knew was my futu re, I was on top of the 

world. It would have been really easy to sweep this finding under the rug and say it's 

probably nothing. Every step along the way I was able to tell my GP doctor "I think this 

is Hodgkin's Lymphoma." To tell the radiologist who took the b iopsy, "how long does it 

take the pathologist to let me know if he sees any Reed-Sternberg cells?" To ask my 
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oncologist, "So since it is Stage 4 Hodgkin's Lymphoma, I will need to undergo 6 months 

of ABVD, correct?" Those are the things I learned in dental school. I'm not arguing 

dental p rofessionals should be making these diagnoses. I am arguing they should 

understand them. 

4. NODA Actions 

The North Dakota Dental Association is taking many steps to improve access to care. 

1. We are working to improve dental Medicaid with adequate funding, reducing 

administrative burdens, and continued dentist recruitment. 

2. Maximize the current dental hygiene and assistant workforce through expanded 

trainin'g programs, community outreach, and case management to connect 

more high-risk patients to a dental home. The Seal ! N D  p rogram is a p rime 

example of the utilization of our current workfo rce to make a huge difference. 

We hav� also worked ·fo set up ER  diversion programs in Fargo and Bismarck so 

patients without a dental home can be seen the next day by local non-profit 

clinics with support from private practice dentists in the event that the non

profit clin ics cannot see them quickly enough. 

3. Expand an_d support non-profit safety-net cli�ics through public-private grant 

partnerships, student internships, and dentist loan repayment programs. 
, )  

-

� ' ", I 

4. Engage with tribal communities to improve Indian Health Service dentistry, 

maximize prevention, reduce credentialing barriers, and facilitate contracting . ' 

with the local dental community. 

l : • . ,. � l . . , } - ,  ! � � ·: ·: ; ' .  I welcome and encouragi nhose on' this committee, along with the rest of the North Dakota 

State Legislature, to jofh 'us in discusslon of an approach tliat'is based on proven solutions rather 

than continuing to revisit' a  prograrh that has been rejected' rti;ultiple times by this body and that 

is showing no signs of success in other states. We owe it to all North Dakotans to find a way to 

-
solve the access to ca re issue with proven solutidns, not experiments. This body said dental 
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therapy wasn't a good fit the first time, said it wasn't a good fit the second time, and here we 

are a third time. I think an analogy that will make sense to everyone needs to be made here. 

My two-year-old son was trying to get a square block to go through a round hole. He tried and 

it didn't work. He tried a second time and it sti ll didn't work. I showed him that he just needed 

to find the round block and that would solve his problem. Dental therapy is a square block and 

North Dakota access to care is a round hole. You can try 100 times, but it still won't fit .  If we 

use strategies that are working and proven, we've found our round block and we can make a 

difference in the access to care issue. 
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CO M PAR I N G  P ROVI D E R  C R E D E NTIALS 

MEDICAL SURGEON 

8 0 8  
High school 

d ip loma 
Four-year 

u nderg raduate 
degree 

Four-year  
medical  school 

degree 

3-1 0 years of 
residency 

Fel lowsh ip  
tra in ing  

Can perform majo r irreversible 
surgical procedures 

------ --- - - ----------- -----·--------------------------------------

e o o e 
High school 

d ip loma 
Four-year  

undergraduate 
degree 

Fou r-year  
denta l  program 

1 -5 yea rs additiona l  
train ing for specialty 
or state requirements 

NURSE PRACTITIONER 
E D UCAT I O N  

e o e e  
High  school 

diploma 
Fou r-year  

undergraduate 
degree 

2-3 year 
m aster's degree 

- --- - -----

1 -2 years' 
registered 

nursing practice 

ADVANCED DENTAL THERAPIST 

e o o e 
High school 

d iploma 
Bachelor's degree 
i n  dental thera py 

Master's-level 
adva nced dental 
therapy program 

DENTAL THERAPIST 

2,000 hours 
supervised 

cl in ical  practice 
(typically 1 year} 

e o o e 
High school 

d ip loma 
Three yea r  d ental 

hyg ien ist program; 
requires l icensure 

CODA-accredited 
d ental therapy 

program 

1 ,000 hours 
supervised 

cl in ical  practice 
(typically 6.5 months) 

0 
G 

Can perform major i rreversible 
surgical procedures 

Evaluates, diag noses, prevents 
and treats oral conditions 

G 

G 

-----· ---- - ------ -

Can not perform major i rreversi ble 
surgical  procedures 

Can perform diagnostic tests and 
min imal ly invasive procedures 

Can perform irreversible 
surgica l procedures 

Can perform irreve rsi ble 
surgical procedures 
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Dual Degree Cu rricu lum Overview 

2018-2021 

DH3/DT3 
Term 1:  Fall 

D H  2121  
D H  2 132 
D H  2225 
D H  4315 
OT 5429 
OT 5430 
OT 5431 

® 

The Dental Hygiene Care Process : C l i n ica l  Appl i cation I 
Head and  Neck Anatomy 
M icrob iology 
Fou ndat ions of I nterpersona l  Comm u n ication and  Col l aborat ion 
I ntro to Psychomotor Ski l l s  
O ra l  Anatomy Lectu re 
Ora l  Anatomy Lab 

Term 2: Spring (DH clinics begin) 

D H  2212 Com m unicat ions for Oral Hea lth Providers 
DH 2221W 
D H  2222 
DH 3 125 
D H  3151  
OT 5130 
DT 5432 
DT 5433 
DT 5410 

Per iod ontology 
The Denta l Hygiene Care Process : C l i n ica l  Appl i cat ion I I  
Genera l  and  Ora l  Pathology 
Ora l  and  Maxi l l ofaci a l  Rad io logy 
Prec l i n ica l  Ped iatric Dentistry 
Operative I Lecture 
Operative I Lab 
B iomateri a l s  

Term 3: Summer 

DH 3121  
D H  3 123 
D H  3 133 
DT 5 130 
OT 5410 
OT 5471 
DT 5434 
DT 5435 

DH4/DT4 
Term 4: Fall 

D H  2231 
D H  3224W 
DH 3234 

DH 3238 
DH 3228 

, OT 5140 

Loca l  Anesthesia and Pa i n  Management 
Dental Hygiene Care Process: Cl in ica l  App l ication I l l  
Pharm acology 
Prec l i n ica l  Pediatric Dentistry 
B iomateria l s  
P ros .  Topics 
Operative I I  Lecture 
Operative I I  Lab 

Car io logy and Appl i ed Nutrition in Dental Hygiene Care 
Dental Hygiene · Ca re Process: Cl i n i c  Appl i cation IV 
Ora l  and Maxi l l ofac ia l  Rad io logy: Theory, P ri nc ip l es and 
Rad iographic Ana lysis 
Denta l  Pub l i c  Health and Academic Service Learn ing 
Eth ics  and  Ju risprudence 
Preventive Pediatr ic Dentistry Cl i n i c  

Revised 6/29/18 

5 er .  
2 er . 
3 er .  
1 er .  
1 er .  (DDS 6433)  
2 er .  (DDS 6431)  
3 er .  (DDS 6432)  

2 er .  
3 er .  
4 er. 
2 er . 
2 er .  ( DDS 6233) 
1 er .  (DDS 6131) 
1 er .  (DDS 6434) 
1 er. (DDS 6435) 
1 er .  (DDS 6411)  

2 er .  
4 er. 
2 er . 
1 er .  (DDS 6131)  
1 er .  (DDS 6411)  
2 er .  
1 e r. (DDS 6436) 
1 er .  (DDS 6437) 

3 er. 
6 er. 
1 er .  ( DDS 6234) 

3 er . 
1 er .  
1 er  . 



Term 5: Spring (DT Clinics begin, DH Outreach rotations begin) 

DH 4125W Dental Hygiene Care Process : C l i n ica l  Appl icat ion V 
DH  4105 Dental Profess iona l  Deve lopment 
DH 4136 Per iodonto logy I l l  
DH  4139 Dental Pub l ic Health and Academic Service Learn ing I I  
DH 4135W Research M ethods i n  Hea lth Sci ences 
DT 4460 Essent i a l s  of Cl i n ica l  Care 
DT 5321 Treatment P l a nning for the ADT 

Term 6: Summer 

DH 4226 DH  Process of Care: Case Presentation 
DH 4234 
DT 4960 

Leadersh ip  and Profess iona l  Development 
Essenti a l s  of C l i n ica l  Care 

DH COCA Clinical Board Examination in Summer 

BSDH Awarded 

Master Program Only - MDT 

Term 7: Fall (DT Outreach rotations begin) 

OT 5 162 Ora l a nd  Max i l lofac i a l  Su rge ry 

OT 5460 Essenti a l s  of C l i n ica l Care 

OT 5360 Outreach Exper iences I 

DT COCA Manikin Board Examination in Spring 

Term 8: Spring 

DT 5 141 C l i n i ca l  Pediatr ic Dent istry 

OT 5320 

OT 5361 

OT 5443 

OT 5000 

Comprehensive Care C l i n i c  

Outreach Exper iences I I  

Ope rative C l i n i c  

Capstone  

DT COCA Clinical Board Examination in Spring 

MDT Awarded 

TOTAL CREDITS I N  CURRICULUM:  BSDH : 74 MDT: 44 

Revised 6/29/18 

6 er. 
1 er . 
1 er. 
2 er. 
3 er .  

3 er .  ( DDS 6921)  
1 er .  ( DDS 63 14) 

6 er. 
2 er. 
4 er .  (DDS 6921 )  

1 er ( DDS 6152 )  

10 er .  ( DDS 692 1) 

1 er .  ( DDS 6361 )  

2 er . ( DDS 6141)  

4 er .  ( DDS 63 13) 

2 er .  ( DDS 6361) 

4 er .  ( DDS 6441)  

1 er .  
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• Midwestern University Curriculum 
College of nental Medicine-Arizona 

First Year Total : 54.5 
Fal l  Quarter Total 

BASJG 1 50 1  Basic Science Integrated Sequence I 4 
BASIG 1 502 Basic Science Integrated Sequence II 4 
BASIG 1 503 Basic Science Integrated Sequence I I I  4 .5  
COREG 1 5601 Interprofessional Healthcare/One Health 0 .5  
DENTG 1 5 1 0 Preventive Dental Medicine I I 
DENTG 1 5 1 2 Oral Health Sciences I 3 
DENTG 1 5 1 2L Oral Health Sciences I Lab 2 
DENTG 1 5 1 4 Healthcare Ethics I 0 .5  
DENTG 1 5 1 5  Personal Finance 0 .5  
'ifotal 20 

Winter Quarter 
BASIG 1 504 Basic Science Integrated Sequence IV 2 .5  
BASIG 1 505 Basic Science Integrated Sequence V 4 .5  
BASIG 1 506 Basic Science Integrated Sequence VI 4.5 
COREG 1 5701 lnterprofessional Hea1thcare/One Health 0 .5 
DENTG 1 520 Preventive Dental Medicine I I  
DENTG 1 522 Oral Health Sciences II  2 .5 
DENTG 1 522L Oral Health Sciences II Lab 2 
DENTG 1 523 Healthcare Ethics I I  0 .5  
!rota! 1 8  

Spring Quarter 
BASIG 1 507 Basic Science Integrated Systems VII 3 . 5  
BASIG 1 508 Basic Science Integrated Systems VI I I  2 .5 
BASIG 1 509 Basic Science Integrated Systems JX 4 
COREG 1 5 801  lnterprofossional Healthcare/One Health 0 .5 
DENTG 1 534  Healthcare Eth ics llI  0 . 5  
DENTG 1 53 3  Oral Health Sciences 1II 2 .5 
DENTG 1 53 3 L  Oral Health Sciences l I I  Lab 

i 
2 

DENTG 1 53 5  Introduction to Human Behavior I 
Total 1 6 . 5  

; ( I 
1, 

Second Year Total : 65.5 
Fall Quarter 

PHARG 1 60 1  General Pharmacology I 2 



DENTG 1 6 1 2  
DENTG 1 6 1 4  
DENTG 1 6 1 4L 
DENTG 1 6 1 5  
DENTG 1 6 1 7  
Total 

PHARG 1 62 1  
DENTG 1 622 
DENTG 1 623 
DENTG 1 625 
DENTG 1 625L 
DENTG 1 627 
Total 

DENTG 1 633  
DENTG 1 634 
DENTG 1 636  
DENTG 1 636L 
DENTG 1 63 7  
DENTG 1 638  
DENTG 1 639  
Total 

DENTG 1 72 1  
DENTG 1 724 
DENTG 1 726 
DENTG 1 728 

Dental Community Service I 
Oral Health Sciences IV 
Oral Health Sciences IV Lab 
Dental Ethics and Professionalism I 
Clinical Case Studies I 

Winter Quarter 
General Pharmacology II 
Dental Ethics and Professionalism I I  
Dental Community Service I I  
Oral Health Sciences V 
Oral Health Sciences V Lab 
Clinical Case Studies I I  

Spring Quarter 
Dental Ethics and Professionalism rn 
Dental Community Service III 
Oral Health Sciences VI 
Oral Health Sciences V I  Lab 
Anesthesia I 
Medical Emergencies 
Clinical Case Studies l I I  

Third Year Total : 
Summer Quarter 

Anesthesia I I  
Surgical Periodontics General Practice 
Special Needs 
Advanced Imaging 

fl 13 J'(�(p tt r� 
1/� t/1'1 

f<,lg.1t I I  
0 .5  
1 0 . 5  
7 
0 . 5  

2 1 . 5 

3 
0 .5  
0 .5  
1 0 . 5  
7 

22 .5 

0 .5  
0 . 5  
9 .5  
8 

2 1 . 5 • 

69 

0 .5  

• 
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/A1 1 );).. • DENTG 2000 Introduction to Dental Clinic 1 2  
DENTG 20 1 0  Intro Clinical Professionalism 1 . 5 
DENTG 2020 Cl inical Conference I 0 .5  
Total 1 7 .5  

Fall Quarter 
DENTG 1 730  Introduction to  Human Behavior I I  
DENTG 1 733  Clinical Reviews 2 
DENTG 1 734 Dental Ethics Grand Rounds 1 0 .5  
DENTG 200 1 Patient Care I 1 2  
DENTG 20 1 1 Cl in ical Professionalism I 1 . 5 
DENTG 202 1 Clinical Conference II 0 .5  
Total 1 7 .5  

Winter Quarter 
DENTG 1 740 Imp lanto logy 
DENTG 1 742 Clinical Pharmacology I 
DENTG 1 745 Practice Management I 0 .5  
DENTG 1 749 Cl inical Topics I 
DENTG 2002 Patient Care rI 1 2  
DENTG 20 1 2  C linical Professionalisin II 1 . 5 
Total 1 7  

Spring Quarter 

• DENTG 1 750  Practice Management Il 2 
DENTG 1 759  Clinical Topics I I  • I  

DENTG 2003 Patient Care III 1 2  
DENTG 20 1 3  Cl inical Professionalism III 1 . 5 
DENTG 2022 Clinical Conference Jil 0 .5  
Total 1 7  

Fourth Year Total : 62 
' Summer Quarter 

DENTG 1 822 ClinicaI Grand Rounds 
DENTG 1 823 Practice Management- '111 
DENTG 1 824 C linical Service Learning I 
DENTG 2004 Patient Care IV 1 1  
DENTG 20 14  C linical Ptofessionalfam IV 1 .5 
Total 1 5 . 5  • Fall Quarter 
DENTG 1 832 Dental Ethics Grand Rounds I I  0 .5  
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DENTG 1 834 Clinical Service Learning I I  • DENTG 1 836 Advanced Topics I 
DENTG 1 837  Practice Management Selectives 0 . 5  
DENTG 1 83 8  Clinical Pharmacology I I  
DENTG 2005 Patient Care V 1 1  
DENTG 20 1 5  Clinical Professionalism V 1 . 5 
DENTG 2023 C l inical Conference IV 0 . 5  
Total 1 7  

Winter Quarter 
DENTG 1 842 Dental Ethics Capstone 0 .5  
DENTG 1 843 Clinical Service Learning I I I  
DENTG 1 845 Advanced Topics f l  
DENTG 1 847 Occlusion Capstone 
DENTG 2006 Patient Care VI 1 1  
DENTG 20 1 6  Clinical Professionalism vr 1 . 5 
Total 1 6  

Spring Quarter 
DENTG 1 852 Cl inical Service Leaming IV 
DENTG 2007 Patient Care VI I  1 1  
DENTG 20 1 7  Clinical Professionalism VI I  1 . 5 
Total 1 3 . 5 

• 
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UNIVERSITY OF MINNESOTA 
DT Class of 2021 Projected Cost of Attendance* 

Drive n  t o  D i s c ove r" 

C: 

·5 
f,-

C: .. 

� 

Crookston Duluth Morris Rochester Twin Cities 201 8-201 9 (DTJ) • Year 1 201 9-2020 (DT4) • Year 2 2020-2021 (MDT) • Year 3 

Resident w/ 13 Cred its or More (Terms 1 -6 at the Under $ 1 9 ,5 8 7 .00 $ 1 9 ,5 8 7 .00  $ 1 7 ,064.00 
G rad rate , terms 7-8 at the G rad rate) 

New Non-Resident w/ 13 Cred its or More (Terms 1 -6 at $4 3 , 1 04.00 $4 3 , 1 04.00 $2 6 ,402.00 
the Under  Grad rate, terms 7-8 at the G rad rate) 

Student Service Fee $ 1 ,329.00 $ 1 ,329.00 $ 1 ,329.00 

Colleg iate Equipment & Technology Fee $ 6 2 1 .00 $ 6 2 1 .00 $62 1 .00 

Instrument Fee $2,239 .00 $2 ,239.00 $2 ,239 .00 

Health Insurance Fee ( If No I ns urance Coverage) $2 ,844.00 $2 ,844 .00 $2 ,844.00 

Textbooks/Manuals ( Estimated Costs ) $ 1 ,303.00 $242.00 $0 .00  

Cl in ic  Attire (Safety G lasses ,  Scrubs & Shoes) $ 1 1 0 .00  
.. ... 

Dental Hygiene National Board Exam $635 .00  

C DCA Dental Hyg iene Reg ional Board Exam $975 .00 

CDCA Dental Therapy Regional Board Exam $ 1 ,750 .00 

Total :  Total Annual Program Cost - Resident $28,033.00 $28,472.00 $25,847.00 

Total: Annual Program Cost - Non-Resident $51 ,550.00 $51 ,989.00 $35,1 85.00 

.. , . 

* Projections estimate a 3.5°/4 i ncrease annually. Tuition and fees are subject to change without notice. Livi ng and other incidental expenses not i ncl uded As a public institution, tuit ion levels are s ignificantly affected by both federal and 

state funding. The amounts provided are good faith estimates for planning purposes .  The School of Dentistry's academic calendar (summer/fall/spr i ng) varies from the University's financial a id calendar (fal l/spring/summer}. 

Hea lth Insurance:  Students a re req u ired to p u rchase health insura nce . The cost of hea lth insurance is included in this estimate. Students may submit a Cost of Attenda nce Appea l  to include the cost of hea lth 
insurance in their financial a id assessment .  Students may e lect to pu rchase the Un ivers ity's Student  Health Benefit Plan (S HBP )  o r  p rivate insu ra n ce .  The 2 0 1 8-20 1 9  rate fo r S H B P  s ingle student  coverage is $ 1 1 1 6  
each for Fall and  Spring semesters. The S H B P  rate fo r S u mmer semester is $ 6 1 2 .  

Living Expenses: For est imates, please g o  t o  https://onestop. umn.edu/finances/cost-attendance. You are not required t o  accept t h e  ful l  amount o f  the loan offered t o  you .  I t  i s  recomrrended that y o u  borrow only what is  needed for your 

unique s i tuation, in cons ideration of any other funding s ources and variations in individual l iv ing expense s .  I f  students accept too much a id ,  it is poss ible to return aid by contact ing Liz Holm or One Stop.  

-

Last Updated 8/3/2 018 
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HB1426 

Dr. Sarah Mertz 

Dentist 

January 21st, 2019 

Chairman Weisz and members of the House Human Services committee, my name is Dr. Sarah 

Mertz. I was raised in rural North Dakota on a farm and ranch, am a first-generation college 

student, was the first in my family to obtain a Doctorate degree and I am a 2013 graduate of the 

University of Colorado School of Dental Medicine . During my time in Colorado, I had various 

experiences in public health clinics which ultimately led me to employment upon graduation at 

Bridging the Dental Gap, a nonprofit clinic here in Bismarck, where I have been practicing 

dentistry full time for over 5½ years. I have received funds from the ND loan repayment program 

and am proof that programs such as this attract competent and well-trained professionals to 

serve our underserved populations. I am proud of the work I am doing for underserved 

populations in this great state of North Dakota. 

I am here today for the safety of my patients to testify in opposition to HB 1426. I believe that 

patients in public health, nonprofit and IHS clinic are some of the most at risk and vulnerable 

patients with complex and extensive dental disease as well as complex medical issues and 

need a highly trained and skilled dental provider. 

I �m here because introducing a new level of provider that can perform irreversible and invasive 
\ . . ' 

prpcedures on my patients would be compromising the standard and quality of care. My 

pati�nts deserve to see a d�ntist and have the same lev�I of care a� ,anyone else, regardless of 

socioeconomic status. Introducing an undertrained provider will not solve issues with our 

underserved populations and frankly I am afraid of the damage it could cause for the patients I 



see every day. If people were just teeth it would be seemingly easy to treat teeth. My patients 

are not just a set of teeth, they are people; people with complex medical issues, mental health 

issues, anxiety, behavioral issues and, many times, undiagnosed and untreated conditions. 

I obtained 8 years of extensive education to become a dentist, four of those years focusing on 

medical and dental issues. I find it alarming that we could potentially be comfortable with 

someone practicing very similar procedures as a dentist with only 3 years of total education, two 

of which are dental hygiene education. Surely, their educational curriculum is not the same as a 

dentist, but they are allowed to perform many of the same duties, including surgery, with much 

less understanding and knowledge. This worries me for the standard of care that many of the 

patients I serve will be subject to and that they won't even know that they aren't seeing a highly 

trained and skilled professional, something that almost all of my patients deserve and need . 

Many of my patients are seeing me more than they see their primary care physician and many 

times I am counseling and referring based on medical history review, blood pressure screening, 

reported symptoms, etc. because I have the education and understanding to recognize other 

health issues besides their dental disease. A dental therapist does not have enough education 

to be able to do this vital part of patient care because their educational background simply does 

not provide them the tools . 

I have been to the University of Minnesota's lecture on Dental Therapy. I went with an open 

mind as I wanted to learn what they had to present and explain the model. I was the only North 

Dakota dentist in the room. They painted a picture of the dental therapist solving so many 

issues that we face in dentistry ;  access to care by placing them in rural areas, being able to 

treat patients from the emergency room, treating many low income children, counseling patients 

and providing preventative care. I found contradictions in many of these proposals which are 

• 

• 
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particularly key in this year's HB 1426. As written , therapists will be in public health, nonprofit 

and IHS clinics. Many of these clinics are in major cities across North Dakota so we aren 't 

providing geographic access to the rural patients. The therapist cannot take care of a swollen 

patient or toothache from the ER;  they cannot start a root canal nor can they remove an adult 

tooth that is not class 3 mobility or greater. They are allowed to treat low income children ,  

including difficult procedures such as a pulpotomy. Often when children have extensive dental 

issues, they need a pediatric dentist who has obtained 1 O years of education. The dental 

therapist does not have the educational background to educate patients like a dentist can and 

the preventative care they can provide is already something provided by my dental hygienist. 

I recently was speaking with one of my patients about the proposed dental therapist model . She 

happens to have a complex dental case, medical issues, and North Dakota Medicaid for her 

dental coverage. She would fall into the category of patients that would most likely encounter a 

dental therapist as a provider. She was shocked and did not want this type of provider for her 

care . Simply , she stated " I  need a dentist and I don 't want someone with minimal training 

working on me. "  She went on to comment that something similar happened when the 2-year RN 

was introduced; quality of care and competency of provider decreased. Do we want this for our 

patients? Do we want this for dentistry? 

I see many other solutions to the problems we face with our unders.erved population. Using 

exi��ing workforce and expanding th.eir knowledge through expanded function dental assistants, 

educating the public by deployment of community dental health coordinators to provide 
' ' 

commun ity-centered , cult;u��lly appropriate dental health education ,  �nd aiding in navigation to 

connect patients with dental care, are just a few ways to increase dental visits of underserved 

populations. Public awareness about the available resources such as the nonprofit clinic here in 

town is vital as I often hear of people saying they have never heard of the Bridging the Dental 
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Gap. Continuing the North Dakota loan repayment program is critical and perhaps even a le�/ e � 

modifications to that program could make it even more attractive to dentists. 

In summary, I am concerned about what introducing a dental therapist with minimal training will 

do to the quality of care that underserved populations would receive. Other solutions exist to 

use our existing skilled workforce to reach our target populations and to educate them on the 

importance of a dental home and preventive dental care. I often ask this question when 

practicing dentistry ;  would I want this for my mother or grandmother? With that, do we want this 

for our underserved population? Is inadequate care better? I encourage you to vote NO on HB 

1426 for my patients who deserve highly trained and skilled dental professionals for their oral 

health. 

• 

• 
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The following i s  a l i st of dent i sts affil iated with B r idg ing the Dental Gap who are in support of Dr .  Sa rah �/e � 
Mertz's testimony being presented in opposit ion of H B  1426 .  

Dr. Alexa Carl son, Dent i st in B i sma rck, ND 

Dr. Bethany Schuetzle, Dent i st in B i sma rck, ND 

Dr. Heidi Ni chol s-Johnson, Dent i st in B i smarck, ND 

Dr. Chr i sty Peterson, Dent ist in B i smarck, ND 

Dr. Lesl ie Hollevoet, Dent i st in B i smarck, ND 

Dr. B reanna Schuster, Dent ist in B i smarck, N D  

Dr. W ill iam Qu inn, Dent ist in B i smarck, ND 

Dr. M u rray Greer, Dent ist in Minot, ND 

Dr. El i zabeth Greer, Ret i red Dent i st, M inot, ND 

Dr. Steve Deisz ,  Dent i st in B i smarck, ND 

Dr. B rent Holman, Ret i red Ped iatr ic Denti st, Fargo, ND 



·- .. -

Greetings,  
I am Dr. Bradley King, founder of Prairie Rose Dentists in Bismarck. We 
are the largest dental practice in the state. For 3 7 years I have treated 
Medicaid patients . All of the 14  doctors in my practice treat Medicaid 
patients, including our 2 pediatric dentists. For 3 7 years I have supported 
the states Medicaid program and I know the business of dentistry. I hope 
that that gives me a little more credibility than ONE, out of state, liberal, 
political entity seeking to sway your votes. 

Can I ask who actually wrote this bill? Whose ideas were used? 

This is a very poorly written bill . I have with me the Minnesota statues 
concerning Dental therapy. The bill you have before is much, much more 
liberal than the Minnesota statutes .  

Though the other side says that this bill will only allow organizations such as 
Bridging the Dental Gap to hire Dental therapists doing a limited number of 
procedures, the truth is that the way it is written any dentist could hire 
Dental therapists and place them in any office and have them treat patients 
doing any procedure a dentist can do, while he sits beside his swimming 
pool in Arizona and he will never see any of the patients. 
If you will indulge me I will go through the bill and show you how this is 
possible . 

First there is nothing in this bill that requires Dental therapists to treat 
Medicaid patients . Why would they, You lose money on every Medicaid 
patient you see. Even Minnesota statues require that half of a therapists 
patients be Medicaid but under this bill they can just see full fee patients. 
Please look at the Star Tribune article I gave to you. If this is the solution 
for getting Medicaid patients seen, why is Minnesota is under threat of 
losing Medicaid funding as their Medicaid children are not being seen. 
North Dakota, without Therapists, working with the North Dakota Dental 
Association does a much better job of taking care of Medicaid patients . 

Please look at Section 3 1 d. It addresses the amount of clinical training a 
Dental therapist must have to treat patients. It says they need 500 hours. 
500 hours is just 3 months of hands on training 3 MONTHS and that under 
INDIRECT supervision. Indirect supervision means that no one checks the 
treatment during or after it is done. A dental assistant is  required to have 
650 clinical hours before they are allowed to take an x ray much less treat a 
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patient. The writers of this bill assume that dentistry is easy to learn. It is 
not. It is hard, precise and difficult. There is a reason so many dentists 
burn out and commit suicide each year. 

Section 4 1 b . . . . . . . . . . .  says that a not for profit organization may hire 
therapists and section 4 2 says that they can contract them out to a dental 
clinic .  Under this law any dentist could form their own not for profit, decide 
the definition of what they consider being low income and underserved is, 
and contract them back to their own dental clinic. 

4 c . . . . . . . . . . . .  addresses the Indian health service. It is my understanding that 
the State of North Dakota has no licensure authority over the tribes. They 
could have hired therapists long ago, they just would not be reimbursed for 
seeing Medicaid patients. Therapists could see non Medicaid patients 
freeing up the dentists to see the Medicaid patients. They may not even need 
this bill, they may just have to be smart on how they do this .  

Please go to Section 5 1 k. . . . . . . . .  I t  is wide open to interpretation. It  indicates 
that anything the supervising dentist feels the therapist has been trained in he 
can let the therapist do. Dental personnel receive a lot of their training after 
dental school .  Send the therapist to an orthodontic course and he can do 
braces. Have the dentist train him to do root canals and he can. 
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Lastly lets read section 6 part 2 . . .  please take a minute to read it. This is the 
most dangerous part. Even Minnesota does not allow this .  The supervising 
dentist would never need to see the patients, review the medical history, 
make a diagnosis, or even be on site. He could be a thousand miles away in 
Arizona sitting by his pool and as long as someone can reach him by phone, 
text, or email .  He is not available if there is an emergency. 

Is this what you believe is best for the most venerable. Should someone 
with 3 months of clinical training be treating fragile seniors in nursing 
homes with multiple medical problems with really no supervision? Very 
few of Medicaid patients are just poor. They are disabled, they are fragile 
diabetics, they are at risk of uncontrolled bleeding emergencies, they are 
your parents and someday you. I should know who they are, because I 
treat them 

I really do not think whoever wrote this bill understands dentistry and the 
issues involved. I respectfully ask you to vote no on this bill . 
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Feds warn Minnesota: Improve kids' 
dental care in Medicaid 
By Glenn Howatt Star Tribune 
Minnesota has been warned that its main government health insurance program risks losing federal funding if it doesn't provide more preventive dental care to children. 
The problem is familiar to many families on Medical Assistance: Many dentists don't accept new patients covered by the program because Minnesota pays some of the lowest dental reimbursement rates in the country. 
Just 37 percent of children on Medical Assistance in Minnesota got preventive dental care in 201 5, and 62 percent of the participants reported having been told that a dentist was not taking new patients covered by the program. Nationally, 46 percent of children on Medicaid got preventative dental care, according to the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid (CMS). 
Noting that such figures could place Minnesota out of compliance with federal rules, CMS regulators informed Minnesota officials that they must devise an improvement plan within 90 days. 
"CMS has us on notice saying we have to take some kind ofactio�" said Nathan Moracco, assistant commissioner for health at the Minnesota Department of Human Services, which runs Medical Assistance, Minnesota's version of Medicaid. ,,, 

Gov. Mark Dayton's budget submission for the coming biennium proposed a 54 percent increase in dental reimbursement rates, but the nature of any solution hinges on what happens at the Legislature, where a conference committee is working on a compromise between health and human services funding bills from both chambers. 
The Senate bill contains a 25 percent rate increase, while the House has no new money for dental reimbursement. 
"It doesn't look too good," said Carmelo Cinqueonce, executive director of the Minnesota Dental Association, which supports Dayton's plan. 
"At the bottom of this issue is ultimately appropriate funding for a program that has been woefully underfunded for far too long." Under current state payment rates, dentists get about 25 percent of their typical fees. 
At Northern Dental Access Center in Bemidji, a nonprofit provider that serves 20 counties in northwestern Minne/ta, about 62 percent of the 5,000 children they see annually have tooth decay. \ 
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"Access is a big problem in Minnesota and especially up here," said Executive Director 
Jeanne Edevold Larson. With 200 new patients each month, the clinic has to triage 
appointments to take care of those with the greatest need. 

Access is not the only problem, Larson said. Many of the center's patients have complex 
needs, such as transportation problems and chronic medical conditions. 

Federal officials have raised concerns about the issue before, but this is the first time they 
have warned that Minnesota could be out of compliance with federal regulations. 

"The federal government is sending a clear message that they want to see dollars directed 
to providers," said Moracco. 

It's not clear what CMS will do if Minnesota does not deliver on a plan, but the federal 
government has leverage because it provides a large share of funding for Medical 
Assistance. 

"Certainly it can be up to and including the withdrawal of federal funds," Moracco said. 

Glenn Howatt has been with the Star Tribune since 1 990. In addition to covering health care, he 
served as the newspaper's data editor for several years 



House Human Services Committee 
Honorable Representative Robin Weisz, Chairman 

HB 1426 Testimony by Senator Brad Bekkedahl 

Chairman Weisz and Committee, 
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January 21, 2019 

For the record, I am Brad Bekkedahl, Senator from District 1, city of Williston. 
stand before you today to present testimony in opposition to House Bill 1426. To 
give some background, I have been a licensed Dentist in North Dakota and 
Minnesota for 35 years. In June of 2015, I sold my practice to a ND native that 
had been practicing in a clinic in Minnesota. With this sale, I retired from full time 
patient care, and assist the office part time as requested. I primarily treat 
Medicaid patients, as I have throughout my career. 

Today you have heard testimony about successful North Dakota solutions to our 
dental health delivery system. Testimony you have been given shows we have 
responded to partner with the State and others to make improvements to access 
and treatment issues. We have witnessed a Great Migration of dental 
practitioners into our State. The statistics of the increase in dentists and the 
young age of this immigrating workforce show market conditions helping solve 
issues of access to care statewide. The dental loan repayment program has 
incentivized new dentists to locate in our smaller rural communities, work in 
community clinic settings, and treat more Medicaid patients. As a profession, we 
are engaged. This message of how North Dakota citizen Dentists have 
cooperated to bring locally generated solutions to the access to care issue stands 
in stark contrast to the out of state interests you have seen today and their 
attempts to force a delivery model upon our citizens as "what's best for you" to 
promote their own national agenda. I have two questions to ponder on this issue. 
As Legislators, why do we even consider accepting this recommendation from 
those outside our state when our practicing Dentists ask us not to? Why is the 
voice of those that don't even live here better received than those that invest 
their lives and profession with us as neighbors and constituents? 
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You have also heard about quality of care issues, which are paramount among 
my concerns. I am a Doctor of Dental Surgery, and the procedures I provide to my 
patients in most cases are difficult and technically challenging to do well, even 
with my advanced experience level. The medical interactions are significant and 
require multi-discipline training to properly provide treatment. The type of 
training you get with a college degree and four years of Dental school education. 
Dentists are doctors providing treatment, as well as small business owners in your 
communities. I have always focused on my patient care above my business 
performance. I do not believe the current education and training regimen for the 
dental therapist model is adequate to always provide quality care, especially with 
some of the irreversible treatment options they can be licensed for. When I 
owned and operated my solo dental office, my staff would frequently ask me 
questions about a specific care issue for a patient. I told them to ask themselves 
this question - " Is it best for the patient?" And, if they answered themselves 
"Yes", then they had my answer as well. I can tell you today that my research and 
knowledge of this Dental Therapist licensing model has me asking myself the 
same question relative to the quality of care issues - " Is it best for the patient?". 
Unequivocally, at this time, I must still answer this question "No". 

I hope the testimonies presented today about local North Dakota solutions 
lead you to oppose House Bill 1426. I hope you support the recommendation to 
focus on quality of patient care, and not the promotion of out of state agendas for 
a national campaign. I hope you want the best level of care for all our residents 
and do not support creating differences in treatment for some citizens. I ask you 
also to support the 97% of practicing Dentists in our North Dakota communities 
that oppose this bill today. We can be deliberative and diligent, as we usually are 
in North Dakota, and implement the right changes when it is best for our citizens 
and patients, such as when we are all on the same page, and not when out of 
state interests tell us to do something. 

Thank you for your kind attention to my testimony. I am honored to stand 
before you now for any questions the Committee may have. 
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Question i ng Denta l Therapy i n  M i n nesota 

My name is Dr .  Anthony H i l leren . I have pract iced dent istry i n  West Centra l  
M i nnesota i n  Benson ,  MN  s ince 1 999 .  I tr ied the denta l therap ist experiment for 
severa l years i n  my ru ra l  M i nnesota denta l pract ice .  I was looki ng for a way to 
care for the u nderserved i n  my reg ion . I was presented with much of the 
i nformation  that you as leg is lators are be ing  presented . After an earnest effort, I 
had many more q uest ions about th is model of care .  

1 .  Is it possible the public is being misled when dental therapists are 
described as the equivalent of a medical mid-level 
practitioner? Usua l ly a med ica l  m id- level has enjoyed the benefit of 
s ign ifi cant ly more years of tra i n i ng  i n  an accred ited program .  Usua l ly a 
med ica l  m id- level does not do i rrevers ib le surg ica l procedu res. 

2 .  Are denta l  therapists real ly receiving the same amount of training 
to do the same procedures as their dental student counterparts? The 
3-year d ua l  degree denta l hyg iene/denta l  therap ist prog ram at the 
U n ivers ity of M i nnesota on ly has about 1 year of the cu rricu l um  ded icated 
to denta l  therapy tra i n i ng .  We don 't fee l  th is  is enough .  As a practici ng 
dent ist ,  I do not fee l  the cl i n ica l repeti t ions are enough in th is  curricu l um to 
atta i n  m i n i ma l  cl i n ica l  ski l ls for do ing fi l l i ngs ,  extract ions ,  sta i n less steel 
crowns ,  and  pu lpotom ies. The emp loyment in my office of a dental 
therap ist was a stark revelat ion of th is  op i n ion  for me.  

3 .  How extensive is the oral surgery training for dental 
therapists? Usual ly a dentist receives tra i n i ng du ri ng  rotat ions i n  an  Ora l  
Maxi l lofac ia l  tra i n i ng center under the supervis ion of  many o ra l  surgeons .  
There is  no  such th ing as a typica l  s imp le tooth extraction .  What wi l l  
happen i f  there i s  a compl ication and  no dent ist present ons ite? A dental 
therap ist's a l l owed duties typica l ly restr ict extract ions that denta l therapists 
can do  to " loose" teeth . Who defines " loose" and how does th is provide 
access for a pat ient in a ru ra l  area if the denta l therap ist can on ly remove 
" loose" teeth? Th is model does not make sense to most dent ists . 

4 Are a l l  treatment options going to be offered by a dental 
therapist? Wi l l  an  extract ion become the standard of care for pat ients 
treated by a denta l therapist? Wi l l  other poss ib le treatment opt ions be 
offered , if not d i rect ly supervised by a dentist? What wou ld  happen if the 
pat ient had o ra l  patho logy and was never examined by a dent ist qua l ified to 
recogn ize early  ma l ignancies? 



5 .  Wil l we ever see surveys that include a l l  dentists who have 
employed dental therapists regarding their skil l level? As an  emp loyer 
of a denta l therapist ,  I never was surveyed about my assessment of the 
level of cl i n ical ski l l  and tra i n i ng of the denta l therap ist that I emp loyed . 
Attached is  the survey sent to me by the M N  Department of Hea lth and 
nowhere are there questions about assessments of  ski l l  and 
tra i n i ng .  Wou ld  the assessment of th is cl i n i ca l  tra i n i ng and ski l l  d iffer 
between private pract ice dent ists and commun ity hea lth centers/corporate 
pract ices? 

6. Does the 'encounter fee per patient" form of Medicaid 
reimbursement for comm unity health centers im pact the efficiency 
and cost im pact of dental therapists? I s  money tru ly saved for pub l ic  
programs or  trans lates i nto lower costs to  pat ients? There is  no evidence of 
that i n  M i nnesota . 

7 .  Why is the therapist model always presented as the answer for the 
underserved? Usual ly the u nderserved have m uch more com plex needs 
med ica l ly ,  denta l ly ,  and behaviora l ly .  I f  we do not a l l ow them as much 
access to a dent ist wou ld  we be actua l ly a l lowing  two leve ls  of care? Wou ld  • the underserved be more l i ke ly to end up  with an  extract ion? Do we rea l ly 
know the answer to these questions? 

8. Is there the potential for abuse of the Col laborative Management 
Agreement between the dentist and dental therapist? G iven the types 
of services that denta l therap ists are do ing i n  M N ,  a re there i nstances 
cu rrently of procedu res being  done i n  remote sett ings that are either  not 
a l l owed by ru le or  for wh ich the denta l therapist has not had adequate 
tra i n i ng? Has th is rea l ly been adequately stud ied? 

I n  summary ,  p lease consider a measured , evidenced-based approach before 
approvi ng any ru les that a l l ow denta l therap ists i n  North Dakota . As a previous 
employer of  a denta l  therapist, I u rge you to a l low M i nnesota 's  experiment to 
produce more answers to the above questions before movi ng  forward with th is  
re lative ly u ntested model . 

Thank  you very much .  

D r  Anthony H i l leren 
2 1 0 1 3th St S ,  Benson ,  MN 562 1 5 
320-842-4 1 9 1  
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MS Strateg ies i s  work ing with t h e  M i nnesota Department o f  Hea lth, M i n nesota's denta l  therapy 
educati ona l  p rograms, and  Pew Cha ritab le  Trusts to put  together  a more comp rehensive 
i mpact statement a nd  a fi nanc i a l  ana lys is  of denta l  therap i sts in M i n nesota .  As M i n nesota was 
the  fi rst state to pass th i s  leg is lat ion, there is  i nterest in learn ing  a bout the M i nnesota 
exper ience both in M i n nesota and  at the nat iona l  l eve l .  

As a n  e m p loyer of  denta l thera p ists, you r  he lp  is  vita l to th i s  a n a lys i s  a nd  we ask  for your  
ass i sta n ce i n  gatheri ng  data that w i l l  i nform th i s  ana lys is .  We hope you a re ab le  to he l p  i n  th is 
p roject .  We a re ask ing that you r  c l i n ic :  1 . Comp lete the questionna i re be low and  2 .  Be 
ava i l ab l e  for a fo l low-up phone ca l l  if needed .  We a re ask ing for a q u ick  tu rn-a round  for th i s  
a n a lys is to be com p leted as  soon as poss ib le .  

A l l  i nformat ion you p rovide  wi l l  be kept confidenti a l .  I nformat ion you p rovide  w i l l  be used to 
deve lop  aggregated statewide i nformation that wi l l  not t ie any  d ata p rov ided to you r  practice 
or  a ny  othe r  i n d iv id u a l  p ract ice .  

The focus  of o u r  a n a lysis is  on  the impact of you r  c l i n i c's  h i r i ng  of an DT o r  ADT o n :  
1 .  You r  p ract i ces overa l l  fi nanci a l  pos it ion 
2 .  P roduct ivity of you r  denta l  team 
3 . N u m ber  of pat ients you a re ab le  to serve 
4 .  You r  ab i l ity to provides services to MA, M i n nesota Ca re and  u n i nsu red pat ients 
5. Appo intment wait t imes 
6 .  Type  of  services provided by  your  denta l therap ist (s )  

Quest ions :  

1 .  How many denta l  therap ists a re emp loyed at you r  c l i n ic? 

2 .  How many  of you r  denta l  thera p ists have advanced p ract ice cert ificat ion ?  

3 . When was each denta l  therap i st h i red?  

4 .  What average hourly wage do you pay you r : 
a .  Denta l Therap i st 
b .  Denta l Therap ist with Advance Practice Certificat ion 
c .  Dent ist 
d .  Denta l Hyg ien i st 



We know that the impact of h i r i ng  a denta l therap i st on a denta l pract ice can be  affected by 
other  factors such as othe r  staffi ng changes, equ ipment or cha i r  capacity changes, changes that 
affect pat ient demand, but  we ask  that you an swer the fo l lowi ng quest ions  after  adj u st ing for 
other  factors a n d  after exc l ud i ng  the  i n it i a l  ramp u p  t ime/cost after you fi rst h i red  a denta l  
therap ist. 

5 .  Factor ing  ou t  othe r  changes, ha s  employing a denta l  therap i st changed you r  
orga n izat ion's overa l l  product ivity and  ab i l ity to generate pat ient revenue?  

a .  I n  what way (for  examp le :  overa l l  product ivity has  i ncreased or  d ecreased,  revenues  
h ave i ncreased because the dent ist i s  do ing  more comp lex p rocedu res  that pay h igher  
rates, o r  other )?  P lease exp l a i n .  

b .  I f  you a re ab le, p rovide  quantitat ive d ata that supports you r  den t a l  p ract i ce 's  overa l l  
product ivity or  revenue  changes? 

6 .  Factor ing out  othe r  changes, has  emp loying a denta l therap i st h ad  an  i mpact on  you r  
c l i n i c' s  fi nanc i a l  strength and if so i n  what way (for examp le :  better  off t han  befo re, no 
change i n  fi nanc i a l  strength ,  worse off, etc. ) ?  

a .  I f  t h e  denta l  thera p i st h a s  had  a n  impact on your  organ i zat ion ' s  fi n a nc i a l  strength,  p l ease 
est imate the  do l l a r  impact and percentage impact on your  bottom l i n e  p rofit ( loss ) ?  

b .  I f  you a re ab l e, p l ease provide  specif ic data or  numer ica l est imates q u ant ify i ng  the  
impact on  you r  bottom l i n e  profit and  c l i n ic's fi nanc i a l  strength . 

7 .  After adj u st ing for any othe r  changes i n  you r  pract ice tha t  were u n re l ated to h i r i ng  a 
denta l  thera p i st, 

a .  How many more pat ients h ave you been ab le  t o  serve because of h i r i ng  a denta l  
thera p ist? 

b .  I f  you a re ab l e, p rov ide specific data or  numer ica l  est imates q u ant ify i ng  the  i mpact 

8 .  Factor ing out other  changes, has  emp loying a denta l therap i st by you r  c l i n i c  a l lowed you r  
c l i n i c  t o  see more MA, M i n nesota Ca re o r  un i nsured pat ients? 

a .  Are you ab le to quant ify the  i ncreased (decreased) n umber of u nde rserved pat ients you r  
c l i n i c  ha s  seen because o f  h i r i ng a denta l  therap i st? Provid e  spec if ic d a t a  or  n umerica l 
est imates quant ify ing the impact .  

b .  N u m ber  of  MA, M N Ca re or  un i n su red patients i n  the  yea r  befo re h i r i ng  a denta l  
therap ist? 

c .  N u m be r  of MA o r  M N Ca re or  u n i nsu red pat ients i n  each s ubsequent  yea r? 
d .  Percentage o f  tota l pat ients who  a re MA, M N  Care or  un i n su red i n  t he  yea r  before h i r i ng  

a denta l  therap ist? 
e. Percentage of tota l pat ients who a re MA, MN Ca re or un i n su red in each subsequent yea r? 

• 

• 
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f. What  ro l e  h a s  the h i r ing of a denta l thera p i st had  i n  th i s  change? 

l+/3 I 'I J.. I, 
#- l "l 

1/.;;i 1 / ,  9 
/Jt11�s 

9 .  Factor i ng  out  other  changes, has employ ing a denta l therap i st had  a n  impact on pat ient 
wait t imes for appo intments? P lease exp l a i n .  

a .  Are you a b l e  t o  quant ify t h e  impact of you r  denta l  thera p i st on pat ient wa it t imes? 
P lease p rovid e  specif ic data or  numerica l  est imates quant ify ing the i mpact .  

10 .  Us i ng  broad categor ies, what services a re be ing p rovided by you r  c l i n i c's  denta l 
the rap i st? 

a .  P lease p rovide  specif ic data quant ify ing the  i mpact .  

1 1 .  Who i s  the best person to contact for a fo l low-up  phone  ca l l ?  What i s  the ir  contact 
i n formati on?  

I f  you h ave q uest ions, p lease contact me d i rect ly . 

Tha n k  you, 

Pat Wh ite 
MS Strategies 
6 12-790-0442 
pwh ite@msstrat .com 
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Re: H B  1 426 

Red River Valley Dental Access Project 
71 5 N 1 1 th St #26 

Moorhead , MN 5656 0 
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A Bi l l  for an Act to create and enact four new sections to chapter 43-2 0 of the North Dakota 
Century Code, relating to regu lation of dental therapists; and to amend and reenact sections 43-
2 0- 01 .1 and 43-2 0- 08 of the North Dakota Century Code, relating to dental therapist defin ition 
and u n lawfu l practice of dental hyg iene, dental therapy, and dentistry. 

North Dakota House Human Services Committee 
North Dakota Leg islative Branch 

Dear Member(s) of the North Dakota Health Services Committee: 

The Red River Val ley Dental Access Project (RRVDAP) is a dental non-profit that works to 
provide immediate rel ief of pain for low-income dental patients. Whi le most of our  patients come 
from the Red River Val ley, we serve patients over a broad area. Approximately 8 0% of our 
patients have impacted , fractured , or otherwise compl icated presentations that requ i re surg ical 
extraction or referral to a specialist for treatment. 

RRVDAP opposes HB 1 426. HB 1 426 does not propose a solution to barriers to care. North 
Dakota's rural character creates several un iq ue chal lenges to accessing dental care includ ing 
geograph ic isolation ,  a lack of adequate transportation ,  h igher poverty rates i n  non-urban areas, 
a h igher percentage of the rural population is elderly , rural provider shortages, and concerns 
related to Med icaid reimbursement rates for dental procedures. 

H B  1 426 and the proposed introduction of dental therapists does noth ing to address 
socioeconomic and structural barriers to care. Rather, it creates another barrier to care by 
increasing the complexity of the dental care system. Further, HB  1 426 cont inues the 
progression towards a bifu rcated oral health system in wh ich some people, by virtue of their 
socioeconomic status, receive care from a lesser-qual ified provider. Qu ite frankly, d ifferent 
standards of care based on one's socioeconomic status wi l l  not meet the needs of our patients 
who desperately need access to primary oral healthcare by fu l ly q ual ified dentists who can 
del iver comprehensive care and case management. 

The proposed leg islation presupposes that those who are socioeconomical ly d isadvantaged do 
not merit care from the most qual ified member of the dental care team: the fu l ly educated , 
trained , and l icensed dentist. Rather than improving market cond itions to incentivize the 
acceptance of Med icaid or simi lar programs, the proposed leg islation adds another layer 
between the patient and the dentist. Rather than reducing the complexity of the healthcare 
system, it exacerbates it. For our patients with complex oral health needs, the leg islation does 
not solve the problem with access to care. A leg islative fix that wou ld address the causes of 
barriers to care should include improving market cond itions through improvements to Med icaid 



coverage and reimbursement, leverag ing existing allied dental professionals, and facilitating 
comprehensive oral healthcare and case management. A real-world solution is based on 
education ,  prevention, collaboration, and outreach to vulnerable populations. The add ition of an 
unnecessary middleman to the dental office does none of those th ings. 

I n  sum, the RRVDAP and our patients i n  pain  that have extensive needs would not benefit from 
dental therapists. Add itionally, we feel low-income patients with barriers to care deserve the 
same access to h igh-quality care by dentists that all citizens do. We u rge the rejection of HB 
1 426. 

Respectfully, 

Marsha Krumm, CDA, RDA, LOA, CDHC 
Co-Executive Director 
Red River Valley Dental Access Project 

Matthew Alm, DDS 
President 
Red River Valley Dental Access Project 

Jenn ifer Ruud, LOA 
Co-Executive Director 
Red River Valley Dental Access Project 
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House Human Services Committee 
Monday, January 21, 2019, 2:15 PM 

Fort Union Room, State Capitol 

Testimony presented by Rita Sommers, Executive Director 
North Dakota Board of Dental Examiners 

HB 1426 - Opposition 
Relat ing to regu lat ion of denta l  therap ists 
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Good m o rn i ng Cha i rm a n  Weisz a n d  mem bers of the Co m m ittee . I am Rita 

S o m m e rs,  Execut ive D i rector of the N o rth Da kota Boa rd of Denta l  Exa m i n ers a n d  I 

a m  h e re to spea k i n  oppos it i on  a n d  offer a fri e n d l y  a me n d ment  to H B  1426 as  

fo l l ows : 

SECTION 1 .  AMENDMENT. Section 43-2 0- 01. 1 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

amended and reenacted as follows: 

43-20-01 .1 . Definitions. (NDBDE Amendments italicized) 

As used in this chapter and chapter 43-28 , unless the context otherwise requires: 

1 .  "Assessment" means collecting information about a patient's oral health status to identify 

specific needs and any risks to oral health for the interpretation by a dentist. An assessment 

may be provided by a dental hygienist under the general supervision of a dentist. An 

assessment of clinical findings is not a diagnosis but may result in a referral to a dental provider. 

42. "Dental assistant" means an individual who provides dental assistance under the 

supervision of a dentist and within the scope of practice established by rule and 

section 43-2 0-13. 

�3. "Dental hygienist" means an individual licensed to practice dental hygiene . 

M. "Dental therapist" means an individual licensed to practice dental therapy. 

45. "Federally qualified health center look-alike" means a community-based health care provider 

that meets the requirements of the federal health resources and services administration health 

l l P a g e  
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center program but does not receive health center program funding. 
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a6. "Qualified dental assistant" means an individual registered as a qualified dental assistant to 

provide dental assistance as established by rule. 

4.-7. " Registered dental assistant" means an individual registered as a registered dental 

assistant to provide dental assistance as established by rule. 

8. "Screening" is a means to identify oral health history. risks and behaviors. to detect treatable 

problems early in order to avoid further serious health conditions and may be provided by a 

dental hygienist. A screening may result in a referral to a dental provider. 

When  you r  d octor s u b m its her  b i l l  to i n sura n ce fo r re i m b u rse m ent,  each serv i ce 

descri bed by a Cu rrent Proced u ra l  Term i no logy (CPT) cod e  m u st be m a tched to a n  

I nternati o n a l  C l ass i fi cat i o n  of D i sea se ( ICD)  cod e .  I f  these two cod es d o n 't a l i g n  

correct ly with each other, payment may be rejected . 1 The U n ited States has  

u sed the  new ICD- 1 0  cod es s i nce October 1 ,  20 1 5 ,  t he  c l ass i fi cat i o n s  o f  w h i ch a re 

p rov ided by the Centers for Med i ca re a n d  Med ica i d  Serv ices  ( C M S )  a n d  the  N a ti o n a l  

Center for Hea lth Stat ist i cs ( N C H S ) . 

Another  way payment  i s  rejected i s  when  a member of the  denta l  tea m i s  n ot 

a uthori zed by statutes to prov ide  se rv ices b i l l ed to M ed i ca i d . Prov id i ng defi n i t i ons  

for both a ssessment  and  screen i ng i s  on ly  the fi rst ste p i n  a ct ivat i n g  M ed i ca i d  

assessment/screen i n g  codes .  These cod es ( DO 1 90 & DO 1 9 1 ) 1 for scree n i ng o r  

assessment  a re a ct ivated a nd uti l i zed i n  th i rtee n  other  states .  Cente rs for M e d i ca re 

i n  the i r  Res ident  Assessment  I n stru ment req u i re a n  i n i t i a l ,  q u a rter ly a nd a n n u a l  

ora l  hea lth a ssessment  for res idents i n  long term ca re fa c i l i t i es .  The l o n g  term ca re 

• 

• 

n u rs i n g  staff a n d  denta l  p rov iders wou l d  fee l  most confi d e n t  i f  a m e m be r  of a denta l  • 
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p e rfo rmed the i n iti a l  denta l  assessment .  Th i s  i n i t ia l denta l  a ssessment is f:;le.. 3 

g ro u n d work of the  d a i l y  ora l  hea lthca re p l a n  wh ich  the l ong  term ca re n u rsi ng  a n d  

n u rse a i d  staff fo l l ow for each resident .  Defi n i ng both "assessment" a n d  " scree n i n g "  

terms w i l l  ass i st ongo i ng  work with Med i ca i d  for a ct ivat i o n  o f  cod es DO 1 9 0  &DO 1 9 1  

i n  N o rth  Da kota . The a b i l i ty to ut i l ize these cod es w i l l  benefit l ong  term ca re 

fac i l i t ies  a s  we l l  a s  schoo l ,  com m u n ity, a n d  p u b l i c  hea lth setti ngs  where hyg i e n i sts 

a ssess,  p rov ide  teeth c lea n i ng p roce d u res a n d  a pp ly  sea l a nts a n d  fl uoride  

treatments . 

A w i n - w i n  for both 

d e nt istry a nd N o rth 

Da kota n s  too k  

p l a ce w i th  recent  

mod i fi cat i o n s  i n  the  

denta l  p ra ct ice a ct 

that  expa nded  

a l l ow a b l e  denta l  

hyg i e n e  p roced u res  
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with i n  re l a xed s u perv is ion  req u i rements . At the sa m e  t ime ,  n u m bers of l i censed 

denta l  h yg i e n i sts in  the state have i ncreased each yea r d u ri n g  the p rev ious  ten 

yea rs, p ro po rt i o na te ly  keep i ng  pace with the i ncrea ses i n  the N D  po p u l at ion . 2 

Uti l i z i n g  the  a ssessment  codes wou l d  p rov ide  a n other  serv ice by denta l  hyg ien i sts 

to fu rther  i m prove a ccess ca re . 

3 I P a g e  



fl/3 I'-/,).� 
fl- l'2 

1/"(). I/ f9 /J°# L 'I 
At i ts Ja n u a ry 16 ,  20 1 9 meeti n g ,  the N D  Boa rd of Denta l Exa m i n e rs moved to 

• oppose the add i t ion  of the denta l  therap i st as  recog n i zed a n d  l i ce n sed denta l  

prov iders i n  o u r  state . The N D B D E 's p ri ma ry respons i b i l i ty i s  to p rotect the p u b l i c 

i n  va ri ous  ways, i nc l u d i ng th ro u g h  the l i censu re process . The Boa rd does n ot 

be l i eve that the denta l  thera p i st h a s  adeq uate tra i n i ng a n d  ed u cat i o n  req u i red for 

a l l  d ut ies p roposed they wou l d  perform . I n  the op i n i o n  of the  Boa rd ,  denta l  

thera p i sts perfo rm i n g  s u rg i ca l  p roced u res rem a i n s  a s i gn i fi ca nt  p u b l i c  safety i ssu e .  

The Boa rd d i scussed a n d  recog n i zes the potenti a l  fo r denta l thera p i sts to b e  ut i l i zed 

w i th i n  tri ba l  co m m u n i ty cons ideri n g  the i r  sovere ig nty as  we l l  as w i th i n  the m i l i ta ry 

sett i ngs 3 i n  the state a n d  be l i eves that both cont i n u e  to be e nt i t led to p rov ide  

denta l  serv ices ( i nc l u d i ng those of  a denta l  thera p i st )  that  a re n ot under  the  

j u ri sd i ct ion  of  the Boa rd . 

Tha n k  you for you r t i me toda y .  I wou l d  be ha ppy to a n swer  a n y  q u est i o n s .  

1 How to Look Up and ICD Code for Your Diagnosis 
https ://www. verywel lhea Ith .com/finding-icd-codes-2615311 

2 http://worldpopulationreview.com/states/north-dakota-population/ and 
https ://www.google.com/search?q=population+ND+2016&oq=population+ND+2016&aqs=chrome . .  
69i57j015 .8687j1j7&sourceid=chrome&ie=UTF-8 

3 43-28-02. Exceptions . The provisions of this chapter do not apply : 
5 .  To the practice of dentistry in the discharge of their official duties by graduate dentists or dental 
surgeons in the United States army, navy, air force, public health service, coast guard, veterans' 
bureau, or director of the dental division of the state department of health . 

p age 3 Ch rt b a a se d on  e 1 cense th N D B D E  L. & N D  pop u  a 1 0 n  s a 1 s  1 cs I t ' t t' t '  
L ice n see 2008 20 10  20 1 2  2 0 14  20 1 6  20 18  

RDA 358  442 473 5 1 9  5 7 3  584 

RDH 332  47 1  5 1 8  562 627 658 

DDS 320  344 360 4 10  4 1 1  407 

4 1 P a g e  

• 

• 



• D D S/ 1 00 ,000  48 . 66 5 2 . 78 5 3 . 89 54 . 0 2  56 . 5 2 5 3 . 89 
N D  popu la t i on  657569 674499 7 1 1 380 738658  7 5 5 548 7 5 5083 

• 

S I  P a g e 



PRO POSED AMENDMENT TO HOUSE B I L L  NO . 1426 

Page 5, line 5 replace "general" with "indirect supervision, or under general supervision if authorized by 
rules adopted by the board," 

Page 5, remove lines 19-24 

Renumber Accordingly 
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